
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

10.00 am

FRIDAY
26 JANUARY 2018

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, 
Gloucester

MEETING PAPERS





AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Friday 26 January 2018
VENUE: Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Apologies Andrea Griffiths

2.  Declarations of Interest Andrea Griffiths
Members of the Committee are invited to declare any pecuniary or 
personal interests relating to specific matters on the agenda.  

Please see note (b) at the end of the agenda.

3.  Minutes (Pages 1 - 10) Andrea Griffiths
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the Meeting held on 
6th October 2017.  

4.  Grant Thornton Annual Audit Letter (Pages 11 - 26) David Bray
The Committee is asked to note the report.  

5.  Grant Thornton Progress Report (Pages 27 - 42) David Bray
The Committee is asked to note the report.  

6.  Treasury Management Update (Pages 43 - 66) Paul Blacker
The Committee is asked to consider the report.  

7.  Annual Governance Statement Improvement Plan 2016/17 
Update (Pages 67 - 76)

Stephanie Payne

The Committee is asked to review and consider the actions taken 
to address the governance improvement areas identified.

8.  Risk Management Policy Statement & Strategy 2018 - 2021 
(Pages 77 - 94)

Stephanie Payne

The Committee is asked to consider the report.  

9.  Internal Audit Activity Progress Report 2017/18 (Pages 95 - 
120)

Stephanie Payne 



The Committee is asked to note the report.  
10.  Limited Assurance Reports (Pages 121 - 138) Stephanie Payne

An update on actions taken in relation to key recommendations: 
- Approval of Payments for Agency Staff. 
- Electronic Call Monitoring (ECM) – All Ages All Disabilities.
- Section 20 – Children’s Act. 

11.  Whistleblowing Policy (Pages 139 - 148) Jane Burns
The Committee is asked to note the new policy.  

12.  General Data Protection Regulations Presentation (Pages 149 
- 154)

Nick Holland

13.  Exclusion of the press and public 
THAT in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 the public be excluded from the meeting for 
the business specified in agenda item 14 because it is likely that if 
members of the public were present there would be disclosure to 
them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 and 7 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in 
withholding the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information to the public.

Cllr Brian 
Oosthuysen

14.  Exempt Limited Assurance Report (Pages 155 - 158) Stephanie Payne

NOTES

(a) MEMBERSHIP – Councillors Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr David Norman MBE, 
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen, Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr John Payne, 
Cllr Keith Rippington, Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE, Cllr Brian Tipper and 
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/e-mail: 
jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

(1) Will Members please sign the attendance list.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee held on Friday 6 
October 2017 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen 
(Chairman)
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr John Payne

Cllr Keith Rippington
Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

Apologies: Cllr Dave Norman MBE, Cllr Brian Tipper and Jo Walker

13. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Councillor Norman, Councillor Tipper, Jo Walker and 
Liz Cave.  

14. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made.  

15. MINUTES 

All matters arising had been dealt with and communicated to members of the 
committee.  

Resolved

That the minutes of the Audit & Governance Committee held on the 28th July 
2017 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.  

16. GRANT THORNTON AUDIT COMMITTEE UPDATE 

David Bray presented the report.  The report detailed the progress Grant Thornton 
had made in delivering their responsibilities as the external auditors.  

It was noted that Grant Thornton had devised the plan in association with the 
Authority.  Accounting, audit issues and emerging issues would be flagged up as 
part of the regular report.  

The Committee were informed that Grant Thornton were unable to issue a value for 
money conclusion earlier in the year, due to an objection.  Grant Thornton were 
aiming to complete this work by 31st March 2018.  It was explained that once the 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

work had been completed, Grant Thornton would assess whether there were any 
implications for the value for money conclusion.  

Members were informed that Grant Thornton were also unable to issue the 2106/17 
Audit certificate at this stage. At the time, Grant Thornton gave their opinion on the 
Council’s financial statements the objection had not been resolved, in addition the 
Authority had not prepared the Pension Fund Annual Report.  Also, Grant Thornton 
had not completed their work on the Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) 
statement.  

With regards to the procurement of auditor services, the Committee were advised 
that Grant Thornton had been successful in securing the largest lot in the recent 
PSAA tender exercise.    It was anticipated that Grant Thornton would remain 
Gloucestershire County Council’s external auditors.  However, these appointments 
would be confirmed in December 2017.  

RESOLVED

That the report be noted

17. VALUE FOR MONEY PRESENTATION 

The Committee received a detailed Value for Money (VfM) presentation.  

During the discussion, members requested to know if the External Auditor 
consulted with the administration, in terms of the Leader of the Council and Cabinet 
Members.  It was explained that Grant Thornton did not consult with the 
administration but agreed it was a valid point and should be given due 
consideration.  

In response to a question, it was noted that Grant Thornton made a presumption 
that standard procedures were working correctly, unless there was evidence to the 
contrary.  It was noted that the external auditor performed a watchdog role.

Members questioned the comparative nature of value for money, it was explained 
that the new VfM Framework made an assessment of the arrangements in place.  
Comparisons were inevitably difficult, as it was hard to find a comparable 
authorities.  Officers explained that lots of high level data was available via CIPFA 
to make any comparisons necessary. 

The Committee were informed that the VFM Framework was underpinned by three 
main factors:- 

- Informed decision making, which relied on acting in the public interest 
through demonstrating and applying the principles and values of sound 
governance.  Whilst understanding and using appropriate cost and 
performance information (including, where relevant, information from 
regulatory/monitoring bodies) to support informed decision making and 
performance management.  In addition, reliable and timely financial reporting 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

that supported the delivery of strategic priorities.  Whilst managing risks 
effectively and maintaining a sound system of internal control.  

- Sustainable resource deployment  which involved the planning of  finances 
effectively to support the sustainable delivery of strategic priorities and 
maintain statutory functions.  The managing and utilising of assets effectively 
to support the delivery of strategic priorities.  Working with partners and other 
third parties to effectively commission services and procure service to 
effectively deliver strategic priorities. 

It was explained that the value for money assessment covered a whole year and 
one of tests of the assessment was the outturn in the end of year financial 
statements, as a big difference from the expectation could suggest that the 
arrangements were unsatisfactory. The risk assessment undertaken by Grant 
Thornton should be consistent with Management’s understanding of the authority.   

It was agreed that a copy of the presentation would be circulated via email.  

Resolved 

That the presentation be received.  

18. TREASURY MANAGEMENT UPDATE REPORT 

Kathy Oakey, Finance Manager explained that the update report had been 
produced in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management 
in Public Services which required an update report to be produced to inform 
members about the Treasury Management activities for 2017/18 Financial Year to 
date. 

During the period 1st April – 31st August 2017 GCC had taken on no new long term 
external debt.  Officers explained that premium charges remained high for repaying 
external debt early.   

It was explained that cash flow statements showed that during the period August 
2016 to August 2017 the Council’s investment balances ranged between £300 
million and £358 million, giving a core cash position of up to £300 million. 

It was explained that the current year budget for interest earned was £1.16 million 
and the current forecast was that this would be exceeded by £1.5 million in 
2017/18.  
   
Officers reported that longer term investments of over 1 year, totalled £100.6 
million, this included £64 million long term investments with other local authorities, a 
property fund of £25 million and a number of secured deposits with financial 
institutions.   

Members were referred to the implementation of the Markets in Financial 
Instruments Directive II (MiFID II), which comes into effect on the 3rd January 2018.  
It was explained that MiFID II was EU legislation that regulated firms, whilst 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

strengthening consumer protection and improving the functioning of markets.  It 
was recommended that the Council opt up to professional client status, officers 
explained that all the appropriate documentation was available to provide to the 
relevant financial institutions.    The Head of Financial Management explained that 
the Pensions Committee would also have to opt up to professional status.  

In response to a question relating to the significant differences in investment 
balances, it was explained that the difference was due to grants, and payment 
profiles from various government departments.    Members welcomed  the report 
and noted the advice given by Arlingclose, Treasury Management Advisors in 
relation to investment rates.   

During the discussion members requested that in future the credit ratings be 
included on the In-House Investments table.  The Committee were advised that 
credit ratings could change on a regular basis but agreed to take on board the 
request.    

The Committee discussed the volatility of investment balances and the low interest 
rates in relation to market demand in detail.  In response to a question, it was 
explained that the Financial Manager used a Treasury Management Matrix which 
fed directly into the strategic risk register.   During the discussion it was agreed that 
more information on risk, in terms of how the authority managed and mitigated risk 
would be included within future Treasury Management reports.  

RESOLVED 

The Treasury Management update report was duly noted.  

The Committee agreed to the immediate commencement of the application for 
elected professional client status with all relevant institutions in order to 
ensure the Council could continue to have an effective investment strategy.

The Committee agreed to give delegated authority to the Strategic Director of 
Finance and the Head of Finance to complete the application process.

19. INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY PROGRESS REPORT 

Theresa Mortimer, Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) presented the report which informed 
members on the progress of Internal Audit activity in relation to the 2017/18 Internal 
Audit Plan and provided a progress report on those audits undertaken during the 
June – September 2017 period, including the opinions provided on risk and control.
  
The Committee welcomed the report which provided the relevant risk and control 
assurance opinions in relation to the audit activity during the above period.  It was 
highlighted that the opinions provided during this period showed an overall 
satisfactory and above rating of 64% on control and 82% on risk.  It was explained 
that 36% of the opinions on control were limited, this was related to transformational 
change and specific requests from Directors, who were asking for areas to be 
reviewed where issues had arisen or where independent assurance was required.  

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

The Chief Internal Auditor informed the Committee that all 47 recommendations 
made by Internal Audit to improve the control environment during this period had 
been accepted by management.  

Members’ attention was drawn to four limited assurance opinions provided on 
control, relating to:

- Section 20, The Children’s Act, 
- Approval of Payments for Agency Staff, 
- Electronic Call Monitoring (ECM) – All Ages All Disabilities,
- Exempt Report.

It was noted in relation to Section 20, The Children’s Act, Internal Audit had made 7 
high priority recommendations, which were being considered by Management.  

However, the CIA recommended that the relevant senior management attended the 
next meeting of the Committee to provide an update on the progress made in 
relation to the recommendations made.  In response to a question, it was noted that 
Internal Audit would do a follow up audit to provide assurance. 

The Committee were informed that as a result of participation in the Cabinet 
Office’s National Fraud Initiative data matching exercise, £71k of repayments has 
been made in relation to pensioners’ overpayments.  Members congratulated 
officers on the recoupment of funds.  

A member wished to know if the failing of children services was a one off or 
systemic in its nature, he felt that good audit work had taken place and supported 
the view that management should come back to the next Committee meeting.  A 
discussion also took place, relating to the bespoke software packages, system 
compatibility and staff training.  

In response to a question, the CIA explained that she was not aware of the issues 
raised as part of the Children’s Service Ofsted.   The CIA highlighted that limited 
assurance opinions had been provided to the Committee in relation to the audit if 
children’s direct payments and the audit of Section 20 of the Children’s Act.  

Some members felt that the financial pressures placed on adult services had 
concentrated resources but at the expense of the quality risk of children’s services.  
In response to a question, the CIA explained that the safeguarding of children risk 
had been recorded on the Strategic Risk Register as a high residual risk for over 
seven years.  The Chairman explained that the Children & Families Scrutiny 
Committee would be looking at these issues in detail, as it was within their remit.  

In response to a question, regarding the monitoring and reporting of the Strategic 
Risk Register was updated and presented to the Commissioning Board, CoMT and 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee     on a quarterly basis.  Members 
agreed the risk systems and frameworks were in place to enable appropriate 
challenge.  

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

Resolved 

That the Committee noted the amendments to and progress against the 
2017/2018 Internal Audit Plan. 

The Committee requested senior management attendance at the next meeting 
of the Committee to provide an update on the actions taken in relation to the 
recommendations made in the Approval of Payments for Agency Staff report, 
the Electronic Call Monitoring (ECM) – All Ages All Disabilities report, the 
Section 20 – Children’s Act report and the exempt report. 

The Committee noted the assurance opinions provided in relation to the 
effectiveness of the Council’s control environment comprising risk 
management, control and governance arrangements as a result of the internal 
audit activity completed to date.

20. LIMITED ASSURANCE AUDIT REPORTS 

Andy Hammerton, Finance Manager and Ian Mawdsley, Head of Commercial 
Services presented the report in detail.  

It was explained that Retrospective purchase orders were orders that were 
produced within SAP (the Council’s Financial Management System) after the 
delivery of goods or services to which they relate. They were introduced to allow 
SAP procurement processes to be demonstrated for those activities where advance 
notification of supply and cost was not possible, such as emergency repairs. 

Officers explained that the Council’s Financial Regulations and Accounting 
Instruction 1 required all orders should be placed in advance of receipt of the 
relevant good/service, unless the expenditure type was stated within the agreed 
exception list or the expenditure was part of a recurring contract or purchased 
through petty cash or via a purchase card.

It was noted that audit of the area was requested by Strategic Finance for 
assurance over the approved policy approach and the use of retrospective orders at 
the Council.  Following the SAP download, Internal Audit had identified numerous 
issues in relation top non-compliance, it was noted that management were actively 
working to overcome such issues, ensuring the appropriate procedures were in 
place.    

During the discussion, members requested to know why Children & Families 
produced such a high number of retrospective orders.  Officers explained that this 
was often due to the foster orders, which were required at urgent and short notice 
given the nature of the service demand.  Members were interested to learn where 
the biggest value lay.  The Committee requested a list of the top ten retrospective 
orders, it was agreed that this information would be circulated in due course.  

The CIA explained that out of a random sample of 100 retrospective orders, only 8 
were compliant.  The Head of Commercial services explained that failure was due 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

to poor administration, therefore it was essential to re-educate staff.  In response to 
a question, it was noted that of the 1200 retrospective orders, approximately 800 
orders were for elderly home care via GIS and the cost of each order varied 
depending on the level of care required.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted.

That Officers would report back on the progress made in due course.  

21. MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT REVIEW 

Jane Burns, Director of Strategy and Challenge and Monitoring Officer presented 
the report which reminded the Committee of the statutory arrangements governing 
the conduct of elected members.  It was noted that the Council had two 
Independent Persons who assisted the Monitoring Officer when allegations were 
made.  It was reported there had been no reason to convene the Hearings Panel in 
2016/17.  

The Committee was advised that the Department for Communities and Local 
Government were consulting on proposals to disqualify Councillors on a range of 
offences.  Members discussed the grounds for disqualification and the possible 
timescales involved depending on the nature of the offence, for example, the Sex 
Offenders Register, Anti-Social Behaviour Orders, etc.  The Monitoring Officer 
agreed to produce a response to the consultation in support of proposals.  

Also, in relation to Data Protection, it was explained that the new General Data 
Protection Regulations from the EU, would be incorporated into English Law as of 
May 2018.  As such, the LGA and the Information Commissioners Office would be 
making the guidance available in due course.  

The Monitoring Officer agreed to arrange for Nick Holland, Information Governance 
Specialist (GDPR) to attend the next committee meeting, in order to brief members.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

22. ANNUAL REPORT FROM THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT OMBUDSMAN 

Jane Burns, Director of Strategy and Challenge and Monitoring Officer presented 
the report.  The report informed the Committee of the Council’s arrangements for 
handling complaints and investigations by the Local Government Ombudsman 
(LGO).  The Committee noted that in 2016/17 the LGO received 70 complaints 
about the County Council; 10 of which were upheld.  

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

It was explained that the County Council kept local data about these complaints, 
and the records showed 47 complaints were brought to a conclusion by the LGO, of 
which 7 had been upheld and local resolutions.  

The LGO only provided the number of complaints received and not the detailed 
data which sat behind it, so it was impossible to reconcile the two sets of data. It 
was likely that the higher number of LGO complaints would include some which 
were not pursued. 

The Committee discussed the nature of complaints, as such the Monitoring Officer 
agreed to circulate a copy of the LGO complaints spreadsheet for information. 

In response to a question, the Monitoring Officer explained that any civil litigation 
involving the Council was closely monitored and there were confidential caveats 
involved.  

During the discussion, it was noted that both complaints and compliments were 
welcome, as it gave modern organisations a broad overview and helped to improve 
its processes.  

RESOLVED 

That the Committee noted the Local Government Ombudsman Annual Review 
Letter 2016/17.  

23. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

THAT in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the business specified in minute 37 
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the information 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the public.

24. EXEMPT LIMITED ASSURANCE REPORTS 

The Committee received and discussed the reports in detail and requested that 
senior management attend the next meeting of the Committee. 

Resolved 
 
That senior management attend the next meeting of the Committee to provide 
an update on the actions taken in relation to the Exempt Limited Assurance 
report.

That the reports be noted.

CHAIRPERSON

Page 8



Audit & Governance Committee – 6th October 2017

Topic Action Responsibility Progress
1 Value For Money A copy of the presentation would be circulated 

via email.  
Andrea Griffiths Completed 

2 Treasury Management It was agreed that more information on risk, in 
terms of how the authority managed and 
mitigated risk would be included within future 
Treasury Management reports. 

Kathy Oakey Next Committee Meeting : 26th 
January 2018

3 LIMITED ASSURANCE 
REPORT

Members were interested to learn where the 
biggest value lay.  The Committee requested a 
list of the top ten retrospective orders, it was 
agreed that this information would be circulated 
in due course.  

Ian 
Mawdsley/Andy 
Hammerton

Completed

4 MEMBER CODE OF 
CONDUCT REVIEW 

The Monitoring Officer agreed to arrange for 
Nick Holland, Information Governance Specialist 
(GDPR) to attend the next committee meeting, 
in order to brief members.  

Jane Burns Next Committee Meeting : 26th 
January 2018

516. ANNUAL REPORT OF 
THE LGO

The Committee discussed the nature of 
complaints, as such the Monitoring Officer 
agreed to circulate a copy of the LGO 
complaints spreadsheet for information.  

Jane Burns Completed

6 EXEMPT LIMITED 
ASSURANCE 
REPORTS

That senior management attend the next 
meeting of the Committee to provide an update 
on the actions taken in relation to the Approval 
of Payments for Agency Staff, ECM – all Ages 
All Disabilities, Section 20 – Children’s Act and 
the Exempt Limited Assurance report.

Theresa Mortimer Next Committee meeting : 26th  
January 2018 

P
age 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Gloucestershire County Council   |  October 2017

The Annual Audit Letter
for Gloucestershire County Council 

Year ended 31 March 2017

Elizabeth Cave
Director
T 0117 305 7885
E liz.a.cave@uk.gt.com

David Bray 
Senior Manager 
T 0117 305 7889
E david.bray@uk.gt.com

24 October 2017

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 4



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Gloucestershire County Council   |  October 2017 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Executive summary 3

2. Audit of the accounts 5

3. Value for Money conclusion 9

Appendix

A Reports issued and fees

P
age 12



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Gloucestershire County Council   |  October 2017 3

Executive summary

Purpose of this letter
Our Annual Audit Letter (Letter) summarises the key findings arising from the 
work we have carried out at Gloucestershire County Council (the Council) for the 
year ended 31 March 2017.

This Letter provides a commentary on the results of our work to the Council and 
its external stakeholders, and highlights issues we wish to draw to the attention of 
the public.  In preparing this letter, we have followed the National Audit Office 
(NAO)'s Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and  Auditor Guidance Note (AGN) 
07 – 'Auditor Reporting'.

We reported the detailed findings from our audit work to the Council’s Audit and 
Governance Committee (as those charged with governance) in our Audit Findings 
Report on 28 July 2017.

Our responsibilities
We have carried out our audit in accordance with the NAO's Code of Audit 
Practice, which reflects the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014 (the Act). Our key responsibilities are to:
• give an opinion on the Council's financial statements (section two)
• assess the Council's  arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources (the value for money conclusion) (section 
three).

In our audit of the Council's financial statements, we comply with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (ISAs) and other guidance issued by the 
NAO.

Our work
Financial statements opinion
We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council's financial statements on 28 July 
2017.

Value for money conclusion
At the time we issued our opinion on the Council’s financial statements for the 
year ended 31 March 2017 we were unable to issue our Value for Money 
conclusion as we were considering an objection received from a group of electors 
relating to the Council’s energy from waste scheme. 

This work has not yet been concluded and we will take the findings from our 
consideration of the objection into account before issuing our Value for Money 
Conclusion. 

Notwithstanding the outcome of our consideration of the objection, based on the 
work completed to date, we expect to issue a qualified ‘except for’ Value for 
Money Conclusion because of the recent Ofsted inspection which found that the 
Council’s Children’s Services were inadequate.

P
age 13



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Gloucestershire County Council   |  October 2017 4

Use of additional powers and duties 
We are required under the Act to give electors the opportunity to raise questions 
about the Council's accounts and we consider and decide upon objections received 
in relation to the accounts. 

As noted earlier, we have received an objection from a group of electors relating to 
the Council’s energy from waste scheme. Our consideration of the matters raised 
in the objection has not yet been concluded.

Whole of government accounts 
We completed work on the Council's consolidation return following guidance 
issued by the NAO and issued an unqualified report on 28 September 2017. 

Certificate
We are currently unable to certify that we have completed the audit of the 
accounts of Gloucestershire County Council for 2016/17 as we have not yet: 
• given an audit opinion on the pension fund annual report; and 
• completed our work in respect of the objection received.

We would like to record our appreciation for the assistance and co-operation
provided to us during our audit by the Council's staff.

Grant Thornton UK LLP
October 2017

P
age 14



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Gloucestershire County Council   |  October 2017 5

Audit of  the accounts

Our audit approach
Materiality
In our audit of the Council's accounts, we applied the concept of materiality to 
determine the nature, timing and extent of our work, and to evaluate the results of 
our work. We define materiality as the size of the misstatement in the financial 
statements that would lead a reasonably knowledgeable person to change or 
influence their economic decisions. 

We determined materiality for our audit of the Council's accounts to be £15 
million, which is approximately 1.8% of the Council's gross revenue expenditure. 
We used this benchmark as, in our view, users of the Council's accounts are most 
interested in how it has spent the income it has raised from taxation and grants 
during the year. 

We also set a lower level of materiality for the External Audit fees disclosed within 
the financial statements and for senior officers’ remuneration. 

We set a threshold of £750,000 above which we reported errors to the Audit and 
Governance Committee in our Audit Findings Report.

Pension Fund 
For the audit of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund accounts, we determined 
materiality to be £20 million, which is 1% of the Fund's net assets. We used this 
benchmark as, in our view, users of the Pension Fund accounts are most interested 
in the value of assets available to fund pension benefits.

We set lower levels of materiality for management expenses (£300,000) and related 
party transactions (£20,000). We set a threshold of £1 million above which we 
reported errors to the Audit and Governance Committee.

The scope of our audit
Our audit involves obtaining enough evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements to give reasonable assurance they are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes 
assessing whether: 
• the Council's accounting policies are appropriate, have been consistently 

applied and adequately disclosed; 
• significant accounting estimates made by the Strategic Finance Director are 

reasonable; and
• the overall presentation of the financial statements gives a true and fair view.

We also read the narrative report and annual governance statement to check 
they are consistent with our understanding of the Council and with the accounts 
included in the Statement of Accounts on which we gave our opinion.

We carry out our audit in line with ISAs (UK and Ireland) and the NAO Code 
of Audit Practice. We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the Council's 
business and is risk based. 

We identified key risks and set out overleaf the work we performed in response 
to these risks and the results of this work.

P
age 15



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Gloucestershire County Council   |  October 2017 6

Audit of  the accounts - Council

Risks identified in our audit 
plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Valuation of property, plant 
and equipment
The Council revalues its assets 
on a rolling basis over a two year 
period. The Code requires that 
the Council ensures that the 
carrying value at the balance 
sheet date is not materially 
different from the current value. 
This represents a significant 
estimate by management in the 
financial statements.

As part of our audit work we:

 Reviewed management's processes and assumptions for the calculation of the estimate.

 Reviewed the competence, expertise and objectivity of the management experts used.

 Reviewed the instructions issued to the valuation experts and the scope of their work.

 Discussed with the valuer the basis on which the valuation was carried out and challenged the 
key assumptions.

 Reviewed and challenged the information used by the valuer to ensure it was robust and 
consistent with our understanding.

 Tested revaluations made during the year to ensure they were input correctly into the Council's
asset register.

 Evaluated the assumptions made by management for those assets not revalued during the year
and how management has satisfied themselves that these were not materially different to 
current value.

Our audit work has not identified any 
issues with the valuation of property, plant 
and equipment.

Valuation of pension fund net 
liability

The Council's pension fund net 
liability, as reflected in its balance 
sheet, represents a significant 
estimate in the financial 
statements.

As part of our audit work we:

 Identified the controls put in place by management to ensure that the pension fund liability was 
not materially misstated. We assessed whether these controls were implemented as expected 
and whether they were sufficient to mitigate the risk of material misstatement.

 Reviewed the competence, expertise and objectivity of the actuary who carried out the pension 
fund valuation. We gained an understanding of the basis on which the valuation is carried out.

 Undertook procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions made. 

 Reviewed the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and disclosures in the notes to 
the financial statements with the actuarial report from your actuary.

We identified no issues in relation to 
controls put in place by management, the 
competence, expertise and objectivity of 
the actuary or the reasonableness of the 
actuarial assumptions made. 

The financial statements were consistent 
with the actuarial report.

These are the risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 

P
age 16



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Gloucestershire County Council   |  October 2017 7

Audit of  the accounts – Pension Fund 

Risks identified in our audit 
plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Level 3 Investments valuation is 
incorrect
Under ISA 315 significant risks 
often relate to significant non-
routine transactions and 
judgemental matters.  Level 3 
investments by their very nature 
require a significant degree of 
judgement to reach an appropriate 
valuation at the year end.

As part of our audit work we:

 Tested, on a sample basis, valuations by reviewing the most recent supporting information 
for individual investments.

 Reviewed the qualification of the fund managers as experts to value the level 3 investments 
at the year end and gained an understanding of how the valuation of these investments had 
been reached.

 Reviewed the nature and basis of estimated values and considered what assurance 
management had over the year end valuations provided for these types of investments.

Our audit work did not identified any 
issues in respect of the valuation of these 
investments. 

These are the risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work on the audit of the pension fund.

P
age 17



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Gloucestershire County Council   |  October 2017 8

Audit of  the accounts

Audit opinion
We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council's accounts on 28 July 2017, in 
advance of the 30 September 2017 national deadline.

The Council made the accounts available for audit by the end of May, in line with 
the agreed timetable, and provided a good set of supporting working papers. The 
finance team responded promptly and efficiently to our queries during the audit.

Issues arising from the audit of the accounts
We reported the key issues from our audit of the Council’s accounts to the Audit 
and Governance Committee on 28 July 2017. 

Pension fund accounts 
We also reported the key issues from our audit of accounts of the Pension Fund 
hosted by the Council to the Council’s Audit and Governance Committee on 28 
July 2017.

Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report
We are required to review the Council’s Annual Governance Statement and 
Narrative Report. 
Both documents were prepared in line with the relevant guidance and were 
consistent with the supporting evidence provided by the Council and with our 
knowledge of the Council. 

Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) 
We carried out work on the Council’s consolidation schedule in line with 
instructions provided by the NAO. We issued a group assurance certificate, which 
did not identify any issues for the group auditor to consider, on 28 September 
2017.

Other statutory duties 
We also have additional powers and duties under the Act, including powers to 
issue a public interest report, make written recommendations, apply to the 
Court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law, and to give 
electors the opportunity to raise questions about the Council’s accounts and to 
raise objections received in relation to the accounts.

We received an objection from a group of electors relating to the Council’s 
energy from waste scheme during the year although, at the time of writing, we 
had not completed our consideration of this. 

P
age 18



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Gloucestershire County Council   |  October 2017 9

Value for Money conclusion

Background
We carried out our review in accordance with the NAO Code of Audit Practice 
(the Code), following the guidance issued by the NAO in November 2016 which 
specified the criterion for auditors to evaluate:
In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys resources 
to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. 

Key findings
Our first step in carrying out our work was to perform a risk assessment and 
identify the key risks where we concentrated our work. The key risks we identified 
were:
- Delivery of  the savings programme in 2016-17 and development of  further 

savings plans for next year
- achieving the planned savings in Children’s Services to enable future years’ 

budgets to be more sustainable.
- delivery of challenging savings targets in Adults Services
- Achievement of  a satisfactory result from the OFSTED inspection of 

children’s social care services

Details of the work we performed and our conclusions are set out in the table 
overleaf.

Overall VfM conclusion
At the time we issued our opinion on the Council’s financial statements for the 
year ended 31 March 2017 we were unable to issue our Value for Money 
conclusion as we were considering an objection received from a group of 
electors relating to the Council’s energy from waste scheme. 

This work has not yet been concluded and we will take the findings from our 
consideration of the objection into account before issuing our Value for Money 
Conclusion. 

Notwithstanding the outcome of our consideration of the objection, based on 
the work completed to date, we expect to issue a qualified ‘except for’ Value for 
Money Conclusion because of the recent Ofsted inspection which found that 
the Council’s Children’s Services were inadequate. From our work to date we  
were satisfied that the Council made proper arrangements to ensure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources except that it did not manage 
this risk effectively and did not make appropriate use of performance and 
service quality information to support informed decision making and 
performance management. We propose issuing a qualified VfM conclusion on 
this basis.

P
age 19



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Gloucestershire County Council   |  October 2017 10

Value for Money 

Risk identified Work carried out Findings and conclusions

Future financial sustainability
The Council identified savings of £35.3m 
as part of the 2017/18 budget setting 
process. A contingency had been set 
aside in case the savings were not fully 
delivered. Delivery of this level of savings 
will be challenging for the Council. 
Savings plans for 2018/19 were still being 
developed.

We reviewed the Council's arrangements for 
identifying and agreeing savings plans, and 
communicating key findings to the Council and key 
decision making committees. This included 
discussions with key officers and review of relevant 
supporting documentation, including Cabinet papers 
and financial monitoring reports.

The Council has a strong track record of delivering challenging savings plan 
targets. The Council has also updated its medium term financial strategy and 
the Council approved the revised Medium Term Financial Strategy for the 
period 2017/18 to 2019/20 on 15 February 2017. This includes a summary of 
funding forecast for the period, an analysis of spending pressures and a high 
level summary of potential savings targets.

The Council’s overall unadjusted 2016/17 revenue outturn position was a 
£3.195m underspend against a budget of £420.059m. Following a review of the 
continuing financial pressures faced by the Council and existing commitments 
against some budgets a number of transfers to reserves were made by the 
Council which resulted a balanced budget outturn position for 2016/17 .

The Council achieved £22.125m savings, which represented 95.2% of its 
adjusted target for 2016/17. Where programmes had not achieved the target, 
replacement savings plans had been identified to balance the Council’s budget 
and mitigating plans were put in place to ensure the savings were sustainable.

On that basis we concluded that the risk was sufficiently mitigated and 
the Council has proper arrangements in place to ensure it plans its 
finances effectively to support its strategic functions and to support 
informed decision making.

Value for money risks

P
age 20



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Gloucestershire County Council   |  October 2017 11

Value for Money 

Risk identified Work carried out Findings and conclusions

Children's social care
As at December 2016 the forecast 
overspend in Children's and Families was 
projected to be £3.81m. 
The risk identified was not achieving the 
planned savings in year which would put 
pressure on future years’ budgets.

We reviewed the Council's arrangements for 
managing the overspend, and the plans in place to 
ensure that the service was sustainable. This 
included discussions with key officers and a review 
of relevant supporting documentation, including 
performance against 2016/17 savings plans.

The outturn position for Children and Families was a £3.83m overspend for 
2016/17.

The significant rise in children coming into care (613 cases in March 2017 
compared to 479 cases in April 2014) has caused significant pressures within 
children's services and, in particular, against the external agency placement and 
fostering allowances budgets resulting in the overspend. Robust scrutiny by 
managers of high cost placements continues to ensure appropriate provision is 
in place and placement drift is avoided, but the underlying issue is the volume of 
placements required. The financial recovery plan continues to be reviewed and 
updated to mitigate against the volume increases wherever possible.

The external placement budget was £4.48m overspent in 2016/17 and, to help 
address this overspend, the 2017/18 budget includes funding to develop a 
project which will look to reduce residential costs by supporting young people to 
step down to foster care or to return home as well as additional funding to cover 
the increased volume of placements.

The Council has invested £2m in 2016/17 in safeguarding staff budgets to 
assist with the recruitment of newly qualified social workers and a further 
investment of £1.7m is included in 2017/18 for the second phase of this 
developing the workforce plan.

Changes in practice have been introduced replacing the use of ad hoc 
arrangements with a more coherent commissioning framework. This approach 
should help to reduce some of the financial pressures on children’s social care 
services.

The Council has proper arrangements in place to ensure it plans finances 
effectively to support its strategic functions. However, it must continue to 
develop and improve plans to address the severe pressures facing 
children’s social care services, especially in light of Ofsted’s report in 
June 2017 which found that the Council’s arrangements for children who 
need help and protection were inadequate. See page 13 of this letter.

Value for money risks

P
age 21



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Gloucestershire County Council   |  October 2017 12

Value for Money 

Risk identified Work carried out Findings and conclusions

Adults social care
As at December 2016, the current forecast 
of the year end revenue position in Adults 
services was a balanced position. 
However, this balanced position was 
based on the underlying overspend of 
£2.54m being offset by the unallocated 
element of the Social Care Levy. The 
majority of this overspend was attributed 
to Learning Disabilities and Older People / 
Physical Disabilities. These areas of 
expenditure continued to cause significant 
financial pressures on the overall budget.

We reviewed the Council's arrangements for 
managing the overspend, and the plans in place to 
ensure that this service as sustainable. This 
included discussions with key officers and review 
of relevant supporting documentation, including 
performance against 2016/17 savings plans

The outturn revenue position for adults social care services for 2016/17 was a 
net underspend of £1.25m, which was significantly better than forecast earlier in 
the year. The net underspend included an underlying overspend of £1.29m 
being offset by £2.54m Adult Social Care Levy.

The underlying overspend of £1.29m included learning disabilities (£1.59m 
overspend), older people/physical disabilities (£2.09m overspend), mental 
health (£0.21m overspend), community equipment and telecare (£0.18m 
underspend) and other services (£2.42m underspend). Despite the overspends 
in both learning disabilities and older people / physical disabilities services, 
significant savings have also been achieved in 2016/17.

The £1.25m net underspend was transferred to the Adult Care Reserve to 
mitigate risk to the service budget arising from large, backdated Ordinary 
Residence claims.

No drawdown on the Vulnerable Adults Reserve or the Care Act Reserve were 
required in 2016/17 and these reserves remain intact to assist with future 
demand pressures in 2017/18 and beyond.

The Council has implemented a number of initiatives to transform the delivery of 
adults social care services in the last two years and these changes have been 
embraced by front line staff with 87% saying they were happy, valued and 
‘ready for change’.

In addition, the Council successfully delivered challenging savings targets 
across the service in 2016/17. In order to generate the necessary savings 
needed to reduce the overspend in 2017/18, all current spend is being 
reviewed, which includes identifying alternative savings options, and enhanced 
vigilance is taking place at all spending Panels.

On that basis we concluded that the risk was sufficiently mitigated and 
the Council has proper arrangements in place to ensure it plans finances 
effectively to support its strategic functions.

Value for money risks

P
age 22



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Gloucestershire County Council   |  October 2017 13

Value for Money 

Risk identified Work carried out Findings and conclusions

Ofsted inspection of children’s 
services
Ofsted commenced an inspection of 
children's social care services on 27 
February 2017.

We reviewed Ofsted's report on the Council's 
arrangements for children's social care services.

Ofsted’s report, published on 13 June 2017, on its inspection of children’s 
services in Gloucestershire, which took place between 27 February and 23 
March 2017, concluded that the Council’s overall arrangements were 
inadequate. Ratings were also given for specific areas:

• Children who need help and protection – inadequate
• Children looked after and achieving permanence – requires improvement
• Adoption performance – good
• Experience and progress of care leavers – requires improvement
• Leadership, management and governance – inadequate

In particular, Ofsted’s report highlighted that senior leaders had not sufficiently 
prioritised or improved the quality of social work practice since services for 
children in need of help and protection were judged inadequate in 2011, and the 
quality of services to children and families had deteriorated significantly. As a 
result, there were serious and widespread failures for children in need of help 
and protection.

Ofsted’s report included 19 recommendations for the Council and six 
recommendations for the Local Children Safeguarding Board (LCSB).

In response to Ofsted’s report, statements from the Leader of the Council and 
the Lead Cabinet Member for Children and Young People acknowledged the 
failings in the Council’s arrangements and stressed the Council’s commitment 
to addressing these issues.

The Council is required to produce an improvement plan by Ofsted and the 
Department of Education. The improvement plan will be taken to Cabinet for 
formal approval and the Council’s progress against the improvement plan will 
be regularly reported to the Cabinet.

We have concluded that the Council did not manage this risk effectively 
and did not make appropriate use of performance and service quality 
information to support informed decision making and performance 
management. We propose issuing a qualified ‘except for’ VfM conclusion 
on this basis.

Value for money risks

P
age 23



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Gloucestershire County Council   |  October 2017 14

Appendix A: Reports issued and fees

Fees

Proposed 
fees

£

Actual 
fees 

£

2015/16 
fees 

£

Statutory audit of Council 98,010 98,010 98,010

Statutory audit of Pension Fund 23,799 23,799 23,799

Total fees (excluding VAT) 121,809 121,809 121,809

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services.

Fees for other services

Service
Fees 

£

Audit related services:

• Teachers’ Pensions certification 4,200

Non-audit services:

• CFO Insights Licence

• Place Analytics Licence

10,000

28,000

The proposed fees for the year were in line with the scale fee set by Public Sector 
Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA)

Reports issued

Report Date issued

Audit Plan April 2017

Audit Findings Report July 2017

Annual Audit Letter October 2017

Non- audit services
• For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant 

Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Council. The table 
above summarises all other services which were identified.

• We have considered whether other services might be perceived as a 
threat to our independence as the Council’s auditor and have ensured 
that appropriate safeguards are put in place, as reported in our Audit 
Findings Report. 

The above non-audit services are consistent with the Council’s policy on 
the allotment of non-audit work to your auditor and have been approved by 
the Audit Committee.

P
age 24



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Gloucestershire County Council   |  October 2017

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights served. 

'Grant Thornton' refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton 
member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their 
clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context 
requires. 

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton 
International LTD (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a 
worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate 
legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does 
not provide services to clients. GTIL, and its member firms are not 
agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for 
one another's acts or omissions. 

grant-thornton.co.uk

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit Progress Report and Sector Update

Gloucestershire County Council

Year ending 31 March 2018

January 2018

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 5



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Committee Progress Report and Sector Update for Gloucestershire County Council | Year ending 31 March 2018

Contents

Section Page

Introduction 03

Progress at January 2018 04

Audit Deliverables 05

Sector Update 06                                

Find out more 14 

2

P
age 28



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Committee Progress Report and Sector Update for Gloucestershire County Council | Year ending 31 March 2018

This paper provides the Audit Committee with a report on progress in 

delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors. 

The paper also includes:

• a summary of emerging national issues and developments that may be relevant to you as a Council 

We are delighted to introduce to you your new Engagement Manager and Engagement Lead, who have taken over 

the roles from the previous team and are looking forward to working with the Council going forward. We have begun 

introducing ourselves to Officers within the Council and will be attending the April Audit Committee to meet Members. 

Members of the Audit Committee can find further useful material on our website where we have a section dedicated 

to our work in the public sector. Here you can download copies of our publications. Click on the Grant Thornton logo 

to be directed to the website.

If you would like further information on any items in this briefing, or would like to register with Grant Thornton to 

receive regular email updates on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or 

Engagement Manager.

Introduction

3

Peter Barber

Engagement Lead

T 0117 3057897

M 07880456122

E peter.a.barber@uk.gt.com

Katie Whybray

Engagement Manager

T 0117 3057601

M 07900165346

E katie.v.whybray@uk.gt.com

Megan Gibson

In-charge Auditor

T 0117 3057681

E megan.gibson@uk.gt.com

Grant Thornton

P
age 29

https://www.linkedin.com/in/katie-whybray-58677746/
https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/


© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Committee Progress Report and Sector Update for Gloucestershire County Council | Year ending 31 March 2018

Value for Money

The scope of our work is set out in the guidance issued 

by the National Audit Office. The Code requires auditors 

to satisfy themselves that; "the Council has made proper 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources".

The guidance confirmed the overall criterion as: "in all 

significant respects, the audited body had proper 

arrangements to ensure it took properly informed 

decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned 

and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 

people".

The three sub criteria for assessment to be able to give 

a conclusion overall are:

•Informed decision making

•Sustainable resource deployment

•Working with partners and other third parties

We will give a verbal update at the Audit Committee 

regarding the position of the 2016/17 value for money 

opinion.

We will begin our initial risk assessment to determine 

our approach in January 2018 and will report our work 

for the 2017/18 value for money opinion in the Audit 

Findings Report in July 2018.

Progress at January 2018

4

Other areas

Certification 2016/17

We have completed our audit work on the Teachers 

Pension return and the Local transport Plan Major 

Project with no significant issues identified. 

Meetings

We continue to meet with Finance Officers as part of 

our quarterly liaison meetings and have regular 

discussions on emerging issues and developments 

and the impact of these and the financial statements.

Local Elector Objection

We will give a verbal update at the Audit Committee 

regarding the position of the Local Elector Objection.

Financial Statements Audit

We have started planning for the 2017/18 financial 

statements audit and are due to commence our 

interim audit in January 2018. Our interim fieldwork 

visit will include:

• Updated review of the Council’s control 

environment

• Updated understanding of financial systems

• Review of Internal Audit reports on core financial 

systems

• Early work on emerging accounting issues

• Early substantive testing

We will report any findings from the interim audit to 

you in our Progress Report at the April Audit 

committee.

The final accounts audit is due to begin in June 2018 

with findings reported to you in the Audit Findings 

Report by the deadline in July 2018.

P
age 30



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Committee Progress Report and Sector Update for Gloucestershire County Council | Year ending 31 March 2018

Audit Deliverables

5

2017/18 Deliverables Planned Date Status

Fee Letter 

Confirming audit fee for 2017/18.

April 2017 Complete

Accounts Audit Plan

We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the Audit 

Committee setting out our proposed approach in order to give an 

opinion on the Council’s 2017-18 financial statements.

February 2018 Not yet due

Interim Audit Findings

We will report to you the findings from our interim audit within our 

Progress Report.

April 2018 Not yet due

Audit Findings Report

The Audit Findings Report will be reported to the July Audit 

Committee.

July 2018 Not yet due

Auditors Report

This is the opinion on your financial statement, annual governance 

statement and value for money conclusion.

July 2018 Not yet due

Annual Audit Letter

This letter communicates the key issues arising from our work.

December 2018 Not yet due

P
age 31



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Committee Progress Report and Sector Update for Gloucestershire County Council | Year ending 31 March 2018

Local authorities are under pressure. You’re 

grappling with severe budgets cuts, making it 

harder to keep vital services going. You’re also 

being given new powers, which means you’re 

doing even more to support local communities. 

And on top of all this, you’ve got to work within a 

system of internal and external relationships 

that’s getting more complicated every day.

Our sector update provides you with an up to date summary of 

emerging national issues and developments to support you. We 

cover areas which may have an impact on your organisation, the 

wider local government sector and the public sector as a whole. 

Links are provided to the detailed report/briefing to allow you to 

delve further and find out more. 

Our public sector team at Grant Thornton also undertake research 

on service and technical issues. We will bring you the latest 

research publications in this update. We also include areas of 

potential interest to start conversations within the organisation and 

with audit committee members, as well as any accounting and 

regulatory updates. 

Sector Update

6

More information can be found on our dedicated public sector and healthcare sections 

on the Grant Thornton website by clicking on the logos below:

• Grant Thornton Publications

• Insights from specialists

• Reports of interest

• Accounting and regulatory updates

Public Sector
Local 

Government

P
age 32

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/public-sector
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/industries/public-sector/local-government/


© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Committee Progress Report and Sector Update for Gloucestershire County Council | Year ending 31 March 2018

Combined Authorities: Signs of 
Success 

In her foreword to ‘Building our Industrial Strategy’ 

the Prime Minister states that the initiative “will 

help to deliver a stronger economy and a fairer 

society – where wealth and opportunity are spread 

across every community in our United Kingdom, 

not just the most prosperous places in London and 

the South East.” 

Combined Authorities (CAs) – the newest model 

for the governance of local public services – are 

central to this.

In response to this, Grant Thornton and Bond Dickinson have jointly 

commissioned a report which provides an insight into the establishment of 

each combined authority in the context of their specific challenges. It is still 

early days for most combined authorities – the political and administrative 

difficulties of adopting this model are not to be under-estimated - but early 

signs are emerging of their potential to innovate and drive success.   

The report benchmarks combined authorities using key indicators of growth, 

housing, transport and skills amongst others. We have also used our 

Vibrant Economy Index, which goes beyond financial returns and takes into 

account the wellbeing of society, to compare city regions. We believe that 

these benchmarks can serve as a baseline for assessment of progress over 

time. 

Key findings from the report:

• CAs must begin to reduce the institutional blurring with historic 

local government structures that has occurred with their 

formation. As greater clarity emerges over their roles, 

functions, and profiles of individual mayors, their perceived 

legitimacy will increase.

• CAs stand and fall on their ability to add value through targeted 

investment, strategic co-ordination, joined-up policy and the 

levering in of additional resources (particularly additional 

private sector funds).

• There is no single checklist or set of criteria for measuring the 

success of mayors and combined authorities, each city region 

must articulate its own challenges and show progress in 

tackling them. 

• A balanced set of benchmarks encompassing both economic 

and social success will, however, serve as a useful stimulus for 

the debate around the impact of the combined authority model 

over time. 

Click on the report cover to download and read more.

7

Grant Thornton Publication

P
age 33

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/combined-authorities-signs-of-success


© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Committee Progress Report and Sector Update for Gloucestershire County Council | Year ending 31 March 2018

Commercial Healthcheck: commercial 
investments and governance 

Our latest healthcheck report was launched at CIPFA’s 

Income Generation Summit in November. It is part of our ‘The 

Income Spectrum’ series, giving leaders of local government 

and public services insights into why and how local authorities 

are changing their approach to commercialisation, some of 

the related governance and risk management issues, and the 

latest innovation trends with case studies ranging from Angus 

and Luton to Oldham and Stirling. 

The research shows that councils need to do more than simply adhere to the drafted rules to 

ensure an approach to commercialisation that balances outcomes and risks. The report 

therefore also includes a healthcheck diagnostic tool designed to give local government 

leaders extra comfort and confidence that they are pursuing a suitably balanced approach

Governance of commercial commitments is key to building confidence in the path to financial 

sustainability. The CIPFA code is the sector’s primary rule book for treasury management 

and is expected to place a stronger emphasis on how councils will balance security, liquidity 

and return.

Key findings from the report include:

• While property has tended to be the focus, it is just one of a number of areas of activity. 

In the past year, borrowing includes £4.8 billion on bonds and commercial paper, and 

investment includes £7 billion in inter-authority lending (Investment in property for 

councils is a growing trend – a third of councils have done so since 2010, spending more 

than £2.4 billion between them, but this is the not the only major area of investment 

activity)

• More entrepreneurial councils are adopting innovative approaches such as place-based 

market offerings, working together locally to add social value and cross-boundary 

franchising

8

Grant Thornton Publication

• For many councils, investing in commercial assets is key 

to developing anchor institutions that contribute to place 

– ranging from airports, business parks and forestry to 

GP surgeries and cinemas

• A ‘beyond compliance’ approach to governance of 

commercial activities is required by progressive councils 

wanting to do more with less

Click on the report cover to download and read more

P
age 34

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/the-key-headlines-from-solace/


© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Committee Progress Report and Sector Update for Gloucestershire County Council | Year ending 31 March 2018

Through a local lens: SOLACE summit 2017 

This was a strong message coming out of discussions at the 

recent SOLACE (Society of Local Authority Chief Executives) 

summit where we facilitated 100 local authority CEOs and 

senior leaders to consider how the Industrial Strategy could 

be brought to life at a local level. 

For some time now we have engaged in an ongoing and 

inclusive dialogue with communities and business, local 

authority and third sector leaders from across the country, to 

share aspirations, ideas and insight focused on building a 

vibrant economy for the UK. These discussions have helped 

to form the basis of our Vibrant Economy ‘Blueprint for the 

UK’ and they will go on to inform our recommendations to 

Government around a place-based approach to the Industrial 

Strategy.

This year’s summit provided us with an invaluable opportunity 

to take this dialogue further.

We focused on the integral role local government will have in 

delivering the Industrial Strategy. Delegates applied a local 

lens to the national growth agenda, encouraging them to 

consider what strategies and approaches were already 

working in their place; what they could be doing more of to 

support growth in their area, and how they could steer the 

Industrial Strategy agenda from a local level.

9

What role would leaders and local 

institutions be playing if they were delivering 

positive outcomes from the industrial 

strategy? 

Looking ahead and considering our diverse 

local authority agendas, the industrial 

strategy and surrounding policy landscape 

what aspects might work well for everyone?

Using the appreciative inquiry technique, we discussed the following questions:

You can  see and hear what delegates thought on our website

The Industrial Strategy matters to places but places also matter to the Industrial Strategy.

P
age 35

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/through-a-local-lens-solace-summit-2017/


© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Committee Progress Report and Sector Update for Gloucestershire County Council | Year ending 31 March 2018

Overview of General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) 

10

What is it?

GDPR is the most significant regulatory data protection development in 20 

years. It introduces new rights for individuals and new obligations for public and 

private sector organisations. 

What’s next?

Many public sector organisations have already developed strategic plans to 

implement the GDPR, which require policy, operational, governance and 

technology changes to ensure compliance by 25th May 2018. 

How will this affect 

you? 

What organisations 

need to do by May 

2018  

 All organisations that process personal data will be affected by the GDPR. 

 The definition of 'personal data' has been clarified to include any data that might reasonably be used to identify a living individual, 

either directly or indirectly. Various unique identifiers (including online cookies and IP addresses) will likely fall within the scope of 

personal data

 Local government organisations need to be able to provide evidence of completion of their GDPR work to internal and external 

stakeholders, to internal audit and to regulators. 

 New policies and procedures need to be fully signed off and operational. 

Organisation Accountability Notifications and Rights Claims and Fines

 Organisations must document their assurance 

procedures, and make them available to regulators

 Organisations need to designate a Data Protection 

Officer, who has expert knowledge of data protection 

law

 Organisations must notify relevant incidents to 

regulators within 72 hours

 Organisations must explain to individuals what 

their rights over their personal information are and 

how it is being processed and protected

 Privacy regulators can impose penalties of up to 

€1 million on public sector organisations, for the 

most serious violations

 Individuals and representative organisations may 

be able to seek compensation for infringements 

of data protection rights

P
age 36



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Committee Progress Report and Sector Update for Gloucestershire County Council | Year ending 31 March 2018

DCLG Consultation 

DCLG are currently consulting with Local Authorities and 

other interested parties on proposed changes to the 

prudential framework of capital finance.

The statutory framework for the Prudential System is set out in Chapter I of the Local 

Government Act 2003 and in the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 

(England) Regulations 2003 as amended. The framework includes four statutory codes. 

Alongside CIPFA’s Prudential Code and Treasury Management Code, the DCLG is 

responsible for Statutory Guidance on both Local Authority Investments and on the 

Minimum Revenue Provision.

Over the past years the regulatory and economic environment has changed significantly 

and led the sector to consider more innovative types of investment activity. The 

government has also monitored changes in the practices used for calculating Minimum 

Revenue Provision.

As a result the Department for Communities and Local Government is seeking views on 

proposals to update the guidance on Local Authorities Investments and on Minimum 

Revenue Provision for full implementation in 2018/19. This consultation closes on 22 

December 2017 and may be accessed here.

Local Authorities Investment Code

The Government recognises that there is great variation in the objectives and nature of 

local authority investment, including local economic regeneration projects,  however it 

believes that local authorities need to be better at explaining “why” not just “what” they are 

doing with their investment activity. 

That means that the sector needs to demonstrate more transparency and openness and to 

make it easier for informed observers to understand how good governance and democratic 

accountability have been exercised.

11

DCLG consultation
.

To this end a number of proposals are made including requiring  local authorities to: 

• prepare a Capital Strategy which includes  clear disclosure of the Investment Strategy 

• disclose the contribution that investment activities make to their core functions 

• use indicators to assess total risk exposure 

• apply the principles of prioritising security and liquidity over yield for investment in non 

financial assets (in the same way that they are required to do for financial assets)

• disclose their dependence on commercial income to deliver statutory services and the 

amount of borrowing that has been committed to generate that income

• disclose additional information where authorities borrow to invest in revenue generating 

investments

• Disclose steps to ensure expertise of key officer and councillors involved in the decision 

making process.

Minimum Revenue Provision Guidance

Local authorities are normally required each year to set aside some of their revenues as 

provision for debt. More precisely, the provision is in respect of capital expenditure financed 

by borrowing or long term credit arrangements. Given the changes in current practice and 

recent interest, the Government feels that it is time to look into updating the guidance as part 

of the more general update of the statutory codes comprising the prudential system.  Four 

proposals are made:

• change to the definition of the basis of MRP

• confirmation that a charge to the revenue account cannot be a credit

• confirmation that a change to the MRP methodology would not generate an overpayment 

of MRP calculated retrospectively

• Introduces maximum useful economic lives for MRP calculations based on asset life

P
age 37

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposed-changes-to-the-prudential-framework-of-capital-finance


© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Committee Progress Report and Sector Update for Gloucestershire County Council | Year ending 31 March 2018

Independent Review of Building Regulations and 
Fire Safety

The Government has published the terms of 

reference for the independent Review of Building 

Regulations and Fire Safety, commissioned 

following the Grenfell Tower fire tragedy.

The DCLG press release states:

“This Review will urgently assess the effectiveness of current building and 

fire safety regulations and related compliance and enforcement issues, with 

a focus on multi occupancy high rise residential buildings. This will include 

addressing whether the government’s large-scale cladding system testing 

programme identified any potential systemic failures.

The Review’s 2 key priorities are to develop a more robust regulatory 

system for the future and provide further assurance to residents that the 

buildings they live in are safe and remain safe. While the Review will cover 

the regulatory system for all buildings, it will have a specific focus on multi 

occupancy high rise residential buildings.

Dame Judith Hackitt, a qualified engineer with strong regulatory 

background, is leading the Review and will draw on the experience of local 

government, industry, the fire sector, international experts and MPs. She 

will also engage with residents of multi occupancy residential buildings.

The Review will report jointly to Communities Secretary Sajid Javid and 

Home Secretary Amber Rudd. An interim report will be submitted in autumn 

2017 and a final report submitted in spring 2018. The Review will co-

operate fully with the Public Inquiry, and Dame Judith Hackitt will review her 

recommendations in the light of the findings of the Inquiry.”

.

The terms of reference state that the review will:

• map the current regulatory system (i.e. the regulations, guidance and 

processes) as it applies to new and existing buildings through planning, 

design, construction, maintenance, refurbishment and change 

management;

• consider the competencies, duties and balance of responsibilities of key 

individuals within the system in ensuring that fire safety standards are 

adhered to;

• assess the theoretical coherence of the current regulatory system and 

how it operates in practice

• compare this with other international regulatory systems for buildings 

and regulatory systems in other sectors with similar safety risks;

• make recommendations that ensure the regulatory system is fit for 

purpose with a particular focus on multi-occupancy high-rise residential 

buildings.

Click here to read the full terms of reference.

12

Sector Issues

P
age 38

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/independent-review-of-building-regulations-and-fire-safety-terms-of-reference


© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Committee Progress Report and Sector Update for Gloucestershire County Council | Year ending 31 March 2018

CIPFA publications 

CIPFA have published ‘The guide to local government 

finance’ 2017 edition. The guide seeks to provide 

information on current arrangements for local government 

finance and sets out the principles of  sound financial 

management. 

The guide covers a range of local government services. It examines the funding systems 

that support those services including council tax, business rates and the local government 

finance settlement. The guide covers both revenue and capital financing and has separate 

chapters on key areas and their specific intricacies including:

• capital finance

• budgeting and financial reporting

• treasury management

• auditing

• governance

• education

• housing

• police

• social care.

CIPFA have also published ‘An introductory guide 

to local government finance’ 2017 edition which is 

aimed at those requiring more of an introduction to 

local government finance for example, those new 

to the sector or non finance specialists.

13

CIPFA Publication
.

CIPFA have updated their guidance on the key considerations 

in setting up and managing a pooled budget in the publication 

‘Pooled Budgets and the Better Care Fund: A Practical Guide 

for Local Authorities and Health Bodies’ (2017 Edition)

Although pooled budgets have operated widely across health and social care  for a long 

time, they were brought into prominence by the Better Care Fund, introduced in 2015–16. 

The aim of CIPFA’s guidance  is to define the basic principles of financial management, 

governance and accountability that partners in budget pooling arrangements or, indeed, 

other forms of partnership working, should follow, and to consider the relevant accounting 

issues. 

The guide provides practical tools such as a checklist of matters to consider, an example of 

how to decide which agency should lead the arrangement, a model scheme of delegation to 

boards.  The guide considers the background to budget pooling, including the purpose of 

pooling, the basics of partnership arrangements, and some other options available to health 

and social care organisations pursuing similar objectives. It goes on to consider specific 

issues arising from pooling: managing a pooled budget, corporate governance, financial 

management, audit and assurance, and VAT. These matters then feed into an appendix on 

accounting issues. 

P
age 39



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Committee Progress Report and Sector Update for Gloucestershire County Council | Year ending 31 March 2018

Grant Thornton website links

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/publicsector

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/through-a-local-lens-solace-summit-2017/

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/combined-authorities-signs-of-success/

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/a-guide-to-setting-up-a-social-enterprise/

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/the-board-creating-and-protecting-value/

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/commercial-healthcheck-in-local-authorities/

http://www.cfoinsights.co.uk/

CIPFA website links

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/codes-of-practice

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/a/an-introductory-guide-to-local-government-finance-2017-edition-online

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/the-guide-to-local-government-finance-2017-edition-online

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/p/pooled-budgets-and-the-better-care-fund-a-practical-guide-for-local-authorities-and-health-bodies-2017-edition

DCLG website links

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposed-changes-to-the-prudential-framework-of-capital-finance

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-england-2016-to-2017-final-outturn

14

Links

P
age 40

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/publicsector
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/through-a-local-lens-solace-summit-2017/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/combined-authorities-signs-of-success/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/a-guide-to-setting-up-a-social-enterprise/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/the-board-creating-and-protecting-value/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/commercial-healthcheck-in-local-authorities/
http://www.cfoinsights.co.uk/
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/codes-of-practice
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/a/an-introductory-guide-to-local-government-finance-2017-edition-online
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/the-guide-to-local-government-finance-2017-edition-online
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/p/pooled-budgets-and-the-better-care-fund-a-practical-guide-for-local-authorities-and-health-bodies-2017-edition
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposed-changes-to-the-prudential-framework-of-capital-finance
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-england-2016-to-2017-final-outturn


© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, 

as the context requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL).GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each 

member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not 

obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. This proposal is made by Grant Thornton UK LLP and is in all respects subject to the negotiation, agreement 

and signing of a specific contract/letter of engagement. The client names quoted within this proposal are disclosed on a confidential basis. All information in this proposal is released strictly 

for the purpose of this process and must not be disclosed to any other parties without express consent from Grant Thornton UK LLP. 

grantthornton.co.uk

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit process. It is not a comprehensive record of all the relevant 

matters, which may be subject to change, and in particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may affect your business or any weaknesses in your internal controls. This 

report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, 

or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Audit and Governance Committee

26th January 2018

Title of Report Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 
2018/19.

Purpose of Report To provide the Committee with the proposed Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 2018/19.

Recommendations
To consider, and comment as appropriate, on the proposed Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 2018/19, 
including the proposed changes to the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy.

Officers Jo Walker: Director Strategic Finance (01452) 428469 
Joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Paul Blacker: Head of Financial Management (01452) 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jayne Fuller: Corporate Finance Manager: (01452) 328926
jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Report

Gloucestershire County Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in 
the Public Services.  This sets a minimum requirement for reporting on the treasury management 
activities.  In order to meet this requirement the Audit and Governance Committee receives an annual 
strategy in advance of the year, a mid-year review and an annual report after its close.  CIPFA consulted 
on changes to the Code in 2017, and the new Code was published at the beginning of January 2018.

This report provides the proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 
for 2018/19, which will be considered as part of the MTFS by Cabinet on 31st January 2018 and County 
Council on 14th February 2018.

The detailed Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 2018/19 is provided in 
Annex 1 below. 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

The following changes have been recommended for the 2018/19 strategy and agreed with our treasury 
management advisers Arlingclose

 The MRP policy has been amended and reduced from a fixed amount of £8.2 million to £6.2 
million releasing £2 million per annum.

 The lowest risk category approved for use is raised from BBB+ to A-.

 For non-specified investment limits, the total limit for investment in unrated UK Government and 
local authorities is removed. 

 A section has been added on non treasury management investments, in accordance with 
changes to the Treasury Code.

Page 44



3

Annex 1
Treasury Management Strategy Statement

and Investment Strategy 2018/19 to 2019/20

Gloucestershire County Council

Contents

1. Background

2. External Context

3. Interest Rate Forecast 

4. Local Context

5. Borrowing Strategy 

6. Sources of Borrowing and Portfolio Implications

7. Debt Rescheduling

8. Annual Investment Strategy

9. Risk Assessment and Credit Ratings

10. Security of Investments

11. Policy on the use of Financial Derivatives

12. 2018/19 Minimum Revenue Provision Statement (MRP)
 
13. Monitoring and Reporting on the Treasury Outturn and Prudential Indicators

14. Other Items 

Appendices

A. Economic and Interest Rate Forecast 

B. Existing Portfolio Projected Forward

C. Prudential Indicators

Page 45



4

1. Background

1.1 In February 2010 the Council adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s 
Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2011 Edition (the CIPFA Code) 
which requires the Council to approve a treasury management strategy before the start of each 
financial year.

1.2 In addition, the Department for Communities and Local Government (CLG) issued revised 
Guidance on Local Authority Investments in March 2010 that requires the Council to approve an 
investment strategy before the start of each financial year.

1.3 This report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to have 
regard to both the CIPFA Code and the CLG Guidance.  In particular this Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement aims to approve:

 Treasury Management Strategy for 2018/19 
 Annual Investment Strategy for 2018/19
 Prudential Indicators for 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21
 MRP Statement 

1.4 The Council has borrowed and continues to invest substantial sums of money and therefore has 
potentially large exposures to financial risks, including the loss of invested funds and the effect of 
changing interest rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and control of risk is therefore 
central to the Council’s treasury management strategy. 

1.5 In accordance with the CLG Guidance, the Council will be asked to approve a revised Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement should the assumptions on which this report is based change 
significantly. Such circumstances would include, for example, a large unexpected change in 
interest rates, or in the Council’s capital programme or in the level of its investment balance.

2. External Context

Economic background
2.1 The major external influence on the Authority’s treasury management strategy for 2018/19 will be 

the UK’s progress in negotiating its exit from the European Union and agreeing future trading 
arrangements. The domestic economy has remains relatively robust since the 2016 referendum, 
but there are indications that uncertainty over the future is now weighing on growth. Transitional 
arrangements may prevent a cliff-edge, but will also extend the period of uncertainty for several 
years. Economic growth is therefore forecast to remain sluggish throughout 2018/19.

2.2 Consumer price inflation reached 3.0% in September 2017 as the post-referendum devaluation of 
sterling continued to feed through to imports. However, this effect is expected to fall out of year-on-
year inflation measures during 2018, removing pressure on the Bank of England to raise interest 
rates.  

2.3 In contrast, the US economy is performing well and the Federal Reserve is raising interest rates in 
regular steps to remove some of the emergency monetary stimulus it has provided for the past 
decade. The European Central Bank is yet to raise rates, but has started to taper its quantitative 
easing programme, signalling some confidence in the Eurozone economy.

Credit Outlook
2.4 High profile bank failures in Italy and Portugal have reinforced concerns over the health of the 

European banking sector. Sluggish economies and fines for pre-crisis behaviour continue to weigh 
on bank profits, and any future economic slowdown will exacerbate concerns in this regard.

2.5 Bail-in legislation, which ensures that large investors including local authorities will rescue failing 
banks instead of taxpayers in the future, has now been fully implemented in the European Union, 

Page 46



5

Switzerland and USA, while Australia and Canada are progressing with their own plans. In 
addition, the largest UK banks will ringfence their retail banking functions into separate legal 
entities during 2018. There remains some uncertainty over how these changes will impact upon the 
credit strength of the residual legal entities.

2.6 The credit risk associated with making unsecured bank deposits has therefore increased relative to 
the risk of other investment options available to the Authority; returns from cash deposits however 
remain very low.

3. Interest Rate Forecast

3.1 The Authority’s treasury adviser Arlingclose’s central case is for UK Bank Rate to remain at 0.25% 
during 2018/19. Two of the nine-member Monetary Policy Committee voted for an increase to 
0.50% in September, and the decision was said to be finely balanced for others, although all 
agreed that any increases would be limited and gradual. But stilted progress in the EU exit 
negotiations, softening consumer spending and a tightening of consumer credit are expected to 
stay the Committee’s hands. The risk of a cut to zero or negative rates has diminished and there is 
now a chance that rates will rise despite the economic fundamentals.

3.2 Longer-term interest rates have risen in the past year, reflecting the possibility of increasing short-
term rates. Arlingclose forecasts these to remain broadly constant during 2018/19, but with some 
volatility as interest rate expectations wax and wane with press reports on the progress of EU exit 
negotiations.

3.3 A more detailed economic and interest rate forecast provided by Arlingclose is attached at 
Appendix A.

4. Local Context

4.1 At 31st March 2017 the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes as measured by 
the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is £308.8m, while usable reserves and working capital 
which are the underlying resources available for investment were £272.1m.

4.2 The Council currently has £285.5 million of external borrowing, a £19.8m PFI lease liability and 
£336.066 million (as at 16th November 2016) of internal investments. This is set out in further detail 
at Appendix B, and forecasts changes in these sums are shown in the balance sheet analysis at 
Table 1 below. 

4.3 Under the Prudential Code the Council is able to borrow funds in excess of the current level of its 
CFR up to the projected level in 2020/21. The Council is likely to only borrow in advance of need if 
it felt the benefits of borrowing at interest rates now compared to where they are expected to be in 
the future, outweighs the current cost and risks associated with investing the proceeds until the 
borrowing was actually required. 

4.4 The forecast movement in the CFR in coming years is one of the Prudential Indicators (PIs). The 
movement in actual external debt and usable reserves combine to identify the Council’s borrowing 
requirement.

Page 47



6

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary and Forecast

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Closing CFR 302.076 311.188 322.509 321.918
Less:
Existing Profile of  External Borrowing 285.513 277.650 269.786 261.823

Other Long Term Liabilities (PFI) 19.825 19.138 18.465 17.688
Internal (over) Borrowing -3.262 14.401 34.258 42.408
Less:
Balances & Reserves 217.590 211.590 205.590 199.590
Working Capital 36.700 36.700 36.700 36.700
Investments (257.552) (233.889) (208.032) (193.882)

5. Borrowing Strategy

5.1 The total borrowing requirement at the end of 2017/18 is forecast to be £302.0 million (equivalent 
to the CFR).  This is financed by historic external borrowing of £285.5 million, and a PFI lease 
liability of £19.8 million.  The Council’s aim is to both repay maturing debt, and where possible 
some of the existing debt when oportunites to do this arise. The Council also considers new 
borrowing where it can be shown to be prudent and financial beneficial to do so. In 2017/18 £6.7 
million maturing external debt will be repaid.  £6.9 million is forecast to be repaid in 2018/19 and 
opportunities to repay debt early will be kept under review.  Where funding permits and it is cost 
effective to do so, additional loans may also be repaid.  

5.2 The Councils chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately low risk balance 
between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over the period for which funds 
are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Councils long-term plans change is a 
secondary objective.

5.3 The Councils borrowing strategy continues to address the key issue of affordability without 
compromising the longer-term stability of the debt portfolio. With short-term interest rates currently 
much lower than long-term rates, it is likely that in the event that the Council needed to borrow it 
would be more cost effective in the short-term to either use internal resources, or to borrow short-
term loans instead.  

5.4 By doing so, the Council is able to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone investment 
income) and reduce overall treasury risk. Whilst such a strategy is most likely to be beneficial over 
the next 2-3 years as official interest rates remain low, it is unlikely to be sustained in the medium-
term.  The benefits of internal borrowing will be monitored regularly against the potential for 
incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing into future years when long-term borrowing rates 
are forecast to rise modestly.  Arlingclose will assist the Council with this ‘cost of carry’ and 
breakeven analysis. 

5.5 In addition, the Council may borrow short-term loans (normally for up to one month) to cover 
unexpected cash flow shortages.

6. Sources of Borrowing and Portfolio Implications

Page 48



7

6.1 The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are:

• Public Works Loan Board and any successor body
• UK local authorities
• any institution approved for investments (see below)
• any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK
• UK public and private sector pension funds (except Gloucestershire Pension Fund)
• capital market bond investors
• UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies created to enable local 

authority bond issues

6.2 In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are not borrowing, but may 
be classed as other debt liabilities:

• operating and finance leases
• hire purchase
• Private Finance Initiative 
• sale and leaseback.

6.3 The Council has previously raised the majority of its long-term borrowing from the Public Works 
Loan Board, but it continues to investigate other sources of finance, such as local authority loans 
and bank loans, that may be available at more favourable rates.

6.4 The UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc was established in 2014 by the Local Government 
Association as an alternative to the PWLB.  It plans to issue bonds on the capital markets and lend 
the proceeds to local authorities.  This will be a more complicated source of finance than the PWLB 
for two reasons: borrowing authorities will be required to provide bond investors with a joint and 
several guarantee to refund their investment in the event that the agency is unable to for any 
reason; and there will be a lead time of several months between committing to borrow and knowing 
the interest rate payable. Any decision to borrow from the Agency will therefore be the subject of a 
separate report to Audit and Governance Committee.  

6.5 The Council holds £33.050 million of Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option (LOBO) loans where the 
lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate as set dates, following which the 
Council has the option to either accept the new rate or to repay the loan at no additional cost.  All 
of these LOBO’s have options during 2018/19, however lenders are unlikely to exercise their 
options in the current low interest rate environment. The situation with these LOBOs will be kept 
under regular review and the Council will take the option to repay LOBO loans at no cost if it has 
the opportunity to do so.  Previously a further £8 million of loans with Barclays were classified as 
LOBOs, however Barclays have now fixed the interest rates on these loans until maturity. These 
are now classified as fixed rate market loans.

6.6 Short-term and variable rate loans leave the Council exposed to the risk of short-term interest rate 
rises and are therefore subject to the limit on the net exposure to variable interest rates in the 
treasury management indicators at Appendix C.

7 Debt Rescheduling

7.1 The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and either pay a premium or receive a 
discount according to a set formula based on current interest rates. Some bank lenders may also 
be prepared to negotiate premature redemption terms. The Council may take advantage of this 
and replace some loans with new loans, or repay loans without replacement, where this is 
expected to lead to an overall saving or reduction in risk. Such repayments will only be made after 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change.

Page 49



8

7.2 Borrowing and rescheduling activity will be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee in the 
Annual Treasury Management Report, the Mid Year Report and any other treasury management 
reports presented to Audit & Governance Committee.

8. Investment Strategy

8.1 The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During 2017/18 the Council’s internal investment 
balance has ranged between £282.7 million and £357.2 million, and similar levels are expected to 
be maintained in the forthcoming year.

8.2 Both the CIPFA Code and CLG Guidance require the Council to invest its funds prudently, and to 
have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest rate of return, 
or yield.  The Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance 
between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk receiving 
unsuitably low investment income.

8.3 Negative Interest Rates: If the UK enters into a recession in 2018/19, there is a small chance that 
the Bank of England could set its Bank Rate at or below zero, which is likely to feed through to 
negative interest rates on all low risk, short-term investment options. This situation already exists in 
many other European countries. In this event, security will be measured as receiving the 
contractually agreed amount at maturity, even though this may be less than the amount originally 
invested.

8.4 Given the increasing risk and very low returns from short-term unsecured bank investments, the 
Council aims to continue its strategy of diversifying into more secure and / or higher yielding asset 
classes during 2018/19.  This is especially the case for funds available for longer-term investment. 
The pie chart below shows how  Councils surplus cash is currently invested -  18% is exposed to 
“bail-in” risk, down significantly on last year’s 40% (ie the risk that should the counterparty fail the 
Council will lose a porportion of the funds deposited):

UK Banks
15%

Non UK Banks
3%

Local Authorities
27%

Building 
Societies

0%

MMF+
21%

MMFs
10%

Housing 
Ass
2%

Property Fund
7%

Secured 
Investments -

Bonds/Floating 
Rate Notes

15%

Investments as at 16/11/17

8.5 The Council is committed to moving away from unsecured investments where feasible.  To 
minimise the risk of unsecured deposits the Council has the approved counterparties in Table 2 

Page 50



9

below, subject to the cash and time limits shown.  The minimum credit rating has been rasied from  
BBB+ to A- in accordance with recommendations from our treasury advisors.   

Table 2: Approved Investment Counterparties (including Non Specified)

£ Unlimited

50 years

£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

 5 years 20 years 50 years  20 years  20 years

£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

5 years 10 years 25 years 10 years 10 years

£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

4 years 5 years 15 years 5 years 10 years

£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

3 years 4 years 10 years 4 years 10 years

£15m £30m £15m £15m £15m

2 years 3 years 5 years 3 years 5 years

£15m £30m £15m £15m £15m

13 months 2 years 5 years 2 years 5 years

£15m £30m £15m £15m £15m

 6 months 13 months  5 years  13 months  5 years

£1m £30m £1m £15m

6 months 25 years 5 years 5 years

Pooled funds

None n/a

£30m per fund

AA+

AA

AA-

A+

A

A-

UK Govt n/a n/a n/a n/a

AAA

Credit Rating Banks 
Unsecured

Banks 
Secured Government Corporates Registered 

Providers

Table 2 should be read in conjunction with the notes below:

 Credit Rating: 
Investment decisions are made by reference to the lowest published long-term credit 
rating from Fitch, Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s.  Where available, the credit rating 
relevant to the specific investment or class of investment is used, otherwise the 
counterparty credit rating is used. However, investment decisions are never made solely 
based on credit ratings, and all other relevant factors including external advice will be 
taken into account.

 Banks Unsecured: 
Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior unsecured bonds with banks and 
building societies, other than multilateral development banks.  These investments are 
subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator determine that the bank 
is failing or likely to fail.

Page 51



10

 Banks Secured: 
Covered bonds, reverse repurchase agreements and other collateralised arrangements 
with banks and building societies.  These investments are secured on the bank’s assets, 
which limits the potential losses in the unlikely event of insolvency, and means that they 
are exempt from bail-in.  Where there is no investment specific credit rating, but the 
collateral upon which the investment is secured has a credit rating, the highest of the 
collateral credit rating and the counterparty credit rating will be used to determine cash 
and time limits.  The combined secured and unsecured investments in any one bank will 
not exceed the cash limit for secured investments.

 Government: 
Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national governments, regional and local 
authorities and multilateral development banks.  These investments are not subject to 
bail-in, and there is an insignificant risk of insolvency.  Investments with the UK Central 
Government may be made in unlimited amounts for up to 50 years.

 Corporates: 
Loans, bonds and commercial paper issued by companies other than banks and 
registered providers. These investments are not subject to bail-in, but are exposed to the 
risk of the company going insolvent.  Loans to unrated companies will only be made either 
following an external credit assessment or to a maximum of £1 million per company as 
part of a diversified pool in order to spread the risk widely.

 Registered Providers: 
Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by or secured on the assets of Registered 
Providers of Social Housing, formerly known as Housing Associations.  These bodies are 
tightly regulated by the Homes and Communities Agency and, as providers of public 
services, they retain the likelihood of receiving government support if needed.

 Pooled Funds: 
Shares in diversified investment vehicles consisting of the any of the above investment 
types, plus equity shares and property. These funds have the advantage of providing wide 
diversification of investment risk, coupled with the services of a professional fund 
manager in return for a fee.  Short Term Money Market Funds that offer same-day 
liquidity and very low or no volatility will be used as an alternative to instant access bank 
accounts, while pooled funds whose value changes with market prices and/or have a 
notice period will be used for longer investment periods. 

Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are 
more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council to diversify into asset classes 
other than cash without the need to own and manage the underlying investments. 
Because these funds have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after 
a notice period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting the Council’s 
investment objectives will be monitored regularly.

 Other Organisations: 
The Council may also invest cash with other organisations, for example by making loans 
to small businesses.  Because of the higher perceived risk of unrated businesses, such 
investments may provide considerably higher rates of return.  They will however only be 
made following a favourable external credit assessment and on the specific advice of the 
Council’s treasury management adviser.

Page 52



11

9 Risk Assessment and Credit Ratings

9.1 The Council uses long-term credit ratings from the three main rating agencies Fitch Ratings, 
Moody’s Investors Service and Standard & Poor’s Financial Services to assess the risk of 
investment default.  The lowest available counterparty credit rating will be used to determine credit 
quality, unless an investment-specific rating is available. Credit ratings are obtained and monitored 
by the Councils treasury advisers, who will notify changes in ratings as they occur.  Where an 
entity has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to meet the approved investment criteria then:

• no new investments will be made,
• any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be, and
• full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing investments with the 

affected counterparty.

9.2 Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for possible downgrade 
(also known as “rating watch negative” or “credit watch negative”) so that it may fall below the 
approved rating criteria, then only specified investments that can be withdrawn on the next working 
day will be made with that organisation until the outcome of the review is announced.  This policy 
will not apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term direction of travel rather than an 
imminent change of rating.

9.3 For specified investments: 
CLG Guidance defines specified investments as those:

• denominated in pound sterling,
• due to be repaid within 12 months of arrangement,
• not defined as capital expenditure by legislation, and
• invested with one of:

o the UK Government,
o a UK local authority, parish council or community council, or
o a body or investment scheme of “high credit quality”.

The Council defines “high credit quality” organisations as those having a credit rating of A- or 
higher that are domiciled in the UK or a foreign country with a sovereign rating of AA+ or higher. 
For money market funds and other pooled funds “high credit quality” is defined as those having a 
credit rating of A- or higher. 

Ratings as determined for use by the Council:

Long-term
Fitch A-
Moody’s A3
S&P  A-

Sovereign AA+

The Council will also take into account information on corporate developments of and market 
sentiment towards investment counterparties. 

9.4 The Council may lend or invest money using any of the following instruments:
• interest-bearing bank accounts,
• fixed term deposits and loans,
• callable deposits and loans where the Council may demand repayment at any time (with 

or without notice),

Page 53



12

• callable deposits and loans where the borrower may repay before maturity, but subject to 
a maximum of £30 million in total,

• certificates of deposit,
• bonds, notes, bills, commercial paper and other marketable instruments, 
• shares in money market funds and other pooled funds, and
• reverse repurchase (repo) agreements.

Investments may be made at either a fixed rate of interest, or at a variable rate linked to a market 
interest rate, such as LIBOR, subject to the limits on interest rate exposures shown in Appendix 
C.

9.5 Liquidity management: The Council uses purpose-built cash flow forecasting software to 
determine the maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed.  The forecast is 
compiled on a prudent basis, with receipts under-estimated and payments over-estimated to 
minimise the risk of the Council being forced to borrow on unfavourable terms to meet its financial 
commitments. Limits on long-term investments are set by reference to the Councils medium term 
financial plan and cash flow forecast.

10 Security of Investments

10.1 The Council understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors of investment 
default.  Full regard will therefore be given to other available information on the credit quality of the 
organisations in which it invests, including credit default swap prices, financial statements, 
information on potential government support and reports in the quality financial press.  No 
investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive doubts about its credit 
quality, even though it may meet the credit rating criteria.

10.2 When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all organisations, as 
happened in 2008 and 2011, this is not generally reflected in credit ratings, but can be seen in 
other market measures.  In these circumstances, the Council will restrict its investments to those 
organisations of higher credit quality and reduce the maximum duration of its investments to 
maintain the required level of security.  The extent of these restrictions will be in line with prevailing 
financial market conditions.  If these restrictions mean that insufficient commercial organisations of 
high credit quality are available to invest the Councils cash balances, then the surplus will be 
deposited with the UK Government, via the Debt Management Office for example, or with other 
local authorities.  This will cause a reduction in the level of investment income earned, but will 
protect the principal sum invested.

10.3 Non-specified Investments: Any investment not meeting the definition of a specified investment 
is classed as non-specified.  Non-specified investments will therefore be limited to long-term 
investments, i.e. those that are due to mature 12 months or longer from the date of arrangement, 
and investments with bodies and schemes not meeting the definition on high credit quality.  Limits 
on non-specified investments are shown in table 3 below.  The Council has removed the limit for 
investment in unrated UK Government and local authorities.  This is because they are deemed to 
be secure investments.

Page 54



13

Table 3: Non-Specified Investment Limits

Non Specified Investment Limits Cash limit £m

Total long-term investments 200
Total investments without credit ratings or rated below A- 
(except UK Government and local authorities) 150
Total investments (excluding pooled funds) in foreign countries 
rated below AA+ 60

Total non-specified investments

Notes:

1. In determining the period to maturity of an investment, the investment should be regarded 
as commencing on the date of the commitment of the investment rather than the date on which 
funds are paid over to the counterparty.

2. The Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (cash backed option) requires a 5 year deposit to 
be placed with the mortgage lender.  The deposit forms an integral part of the mortgage lending, 
and is included on the investment portfolio in accordance with accounting regulations, however 
is in addition to current lending limits specified.

3. The Council has placed funds with Funding Circle, which is a Local Authority Partnership 
Programme.  Following a change in how the programme is run, these funds now form part of 
the Council's investment portfolio.

410

10.4 The maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other than the UK Government) will be £30 
million.

10.5 A group of banks under the same ownership or a group of funds under the same management will 
be treated as a single organisation for limit purposes.  Limits will also be placed on investments in 
brokers’ nominee accounts (e.g. King & Shaxson), foreign countries and industry sectors as below.  
Investments in pooled funds and multilateral development banks do not count against the limit for 
any single foreign country, since the risk is diversified over many countries.

Table 4: Investment Limits

Cash limit 
Any single organisation, except the UK Central Government £30m each
UK Central Government unlimited
Any group of organisations under the same ownership £30m per group
Any group of pooled funds under the same management £50m per manager
Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s nominee account £100m per broker
Foreign countries £30m per country
Registered Providers £40m in total
Unsecured investments with Building Societies £40m in total
Loans to small businesses £1m in total
Loans to unrated corporates £30m in total
Money Market Funds £150m in total

Page 55



14

10.6 Non-Treasury Investments: Although not classed as treasury management activities and 
therefore not covered by the CIPFA Code or the CLG Guidance, the Council may also purchase 
property for investment purposes and may also make loans and investments for service purposes.  
Such loans and investments will be subject to the Council’s normal approval processes for revenue 
and capital expenditure and need not comply with this treasury management strategy.  The Council 
has £1 million invested in Lloyds Bank as part of the Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMs), 
which sits outside of the treasury management investment limits.

11 Policy on Use of Financial Derivatives 

11.1 Local authorities have previously made use of financial derivatives embedded into loans and 
investments both to reduce interest rate risk (e.g. interest rate collars and forward deals) and to 
reduce costs or increase income at the expense of greater risk (e.g. LOBO loans and callable 
deposits).  The general power of competence in Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 removes much 
of the uncertainty over local authorities’ use of standalone financial derivatives (i.e. those that are 
not embedded into a loan or investment). The CIPFA Code requires authorities to clearly detail 
their policy on the use of derivatives in the annual strategy.

11.2 The Council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, forwards, futures and 
options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to reduce the overall level of the financial risks 
that the Council is exposed to.  Additional risks presented, such as credit exposure to derivative 
counterparties, will be taken into account when determining the overall level of risk.  Embedded 
derivatives, including those present in pooled funds and forward starting transactions, will not be 
subject to this policy, although the risks they present will be managed in line with the overall 
treasury risk management strategy.

11.3 Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that meets the approved 
investment criteria. The current value of any amount due from a derivative counterparty will count 
against the counterparty credit limit and the relevant foreign country limit.

11.4 The Council will only use derivatives after seeking expertise, a legal opinion and ensuring officers 
have the appropriate training for their use. 

12 2018/19 Minimum Revenue Provision Statement

12.1 The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) was introduced when the Local Government Capital 
Finance System was changed on 1 April 1990.  CLG’s Guidance on MRP places a duty on local 
authorities to make a prudent provision for debt redemption.  Guidance has been issued by the 
Secretary of State and local authorities are required to “have regard” to such Guidance under 
section 21(1A) of the Local Government Act 2003.  The MRP Statement must be submitted to 
Council before the start of the financial year.  If it is ever proposed to vary the terms of the original 
MRP Statement during the year, a revised statement would be put to Council at that time.

12.2 In line with Council policy on the repayment of debt, and with the continuation of capital grants by 
government, the Council has not borrowed externally to fund the capital programme over the last 7 
years.  Opportunities are now limited for the repayment of debt early due to the low interest rate 
environment, meaning that high premiums would need to be paid should the Council wish to 
restructure or repay external debt early.  Internal borrowing has been fully repaid during 2016/17, 
and maturing debt will continue to be redeemed over the next few years. 

12.3 In order to ensure that the MRP charge remains prudent, the Council remains within Prudential 
Indicators, and to reduce the amount of excess MRP set aside, the Council changed its policy for 
supported capital expenditure in 2015/16. The method used is similar to other local authorities and 
sets aside a fixed sum of MRP each year. For Gloucestershire the fixed sum was set at £8.2m. 

Page 56



15

12.4 Following further review of the Capital Financing Requirement and the Prudential Indicators, and 
discussions with the Council’s treasury advisors (Arlingclose) and external auditor (Grant Thornton) 
it is proposed to further reduce the MRP charge for existing debt to £6.2 million, releasing £2 
million per annum from 2017/18.  This change still allows for a prudent provision for the repayment 
of existing debt, and ensures that Prudential Indicators are not breeched.

12.5 The asset life of capital assets obtained through the capital programme  will form the basis of 
calculating an annual MRP provision  for any new borrowing requirement going forward.

12.6 MRP in respect of PFI and finance leases brought on Balance Sheet under the IFRS-based Code 
of Practice will match the annual principal repayment for the associated deferred liability. 

13 Monitoring and Reporting on the Treasury Outturn and Prudential Indicators

13.1 Treasury Activity is monitored regularly and reported internally to the Strategic Finance Director.  
The Prudential Indicators will be monitored through the year and reported as follows:

The Strategic Finance Director will report to the Audit and Governance Committee on Treasury 
Management activity / performance and Performance Indicators as follows:

 Outturn report on treasury activity for the prior year will be presented to the July meeting.
 A monitoring update report will be presented to the October meeting.
 Consultation on the following year strategy will be presented to the January meeting.

14 Other items

Treasury Management Training

CIPFA’s Code of Practice requires the Strategic Finance Director to ensure that all members and 
staff tasked with treasury management responsibilities, including scrutiny of the treasury 
management function, receive appropriate training relevant to their needs and understand fully 
their roles and responsibilities.  

Requirements for members training, including Audit and Governance Committee, will be kept 
under review.  Senior staff with responsibility for treasury management have a professional 
responsibility to ensure that they are aware of the relevant Codes and Guidance which apply to the 
treasury function, and have access to the skills and knowledge to carry out their roles effectively.

Investment Consultants / Treasury Advisors

CLG’s Guidance on local government investments recommends that the Investment Strategy 
should state:

 Whether and, if so, how the Council uses external contractors offering information, advice 
or assistance relating to investment, and

 How the quality of any such service is controlled.

In order to ensure that we manage the relationship with our treasury advisors effectively we meet 
on a regular basis, usually quarterly.  At these meetings current market conditions are reviewed, as 
is the strategy in light of this.  We ensure that the information provided is current and appropriate to 
our circumstances.  

The Council maintains the quality of the service with its advisors by holding quarterly meetings and 
tendering periodically.  The current contract was recently retendered and effective from 1st 
December 2017.  

Page 57



16

Appendix   A 

Arlingclose’s Economic and Interest Rate Forecast 

Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18 Mar-19 Jun-19 Sep-19 Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Average
Official Bank Rate
Upside risk 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.44
Arlingclose Central Case 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25
Downside risk 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.15

3-month LIBID rate
Upside risk 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.53
Arlingclose Central Case 0.25 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.29
Downside risk -0.10 -0.10 -0.15 -0.10 -0.10 -0.20 -0.20 -0.20 -0.20 -0.20 -0.20 -0.20 -0.20 -0.17

1-yr LIBID rate
Upside risk 0.15 0.15 0.20 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.65 0.65 0.32
Arlingclose Central Case 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.60 0.60 0.62
Downside risk -0.15 -0.20 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.30 -0.10 -0.10 -0.25

5-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55
Arlingclose Central Case 0.55 0.55 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.65 0.70 0.75 0.80 0.85 0.90 0.95 0.95 0.73
Downside risk -0.20 -0.20 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.35 -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.33

10-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55
Arlingclose Central Case 1.05 1.05 1.05 1.05 1.05 1.10 1.15 1.20 1.25 1.30 1.35 1.40 1.40 1.18
Downside risk -0.20 -0.35 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.25 -0.15 -0.15 -0.24

20-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.70 0.70 0.57
Arlingclose Central Case 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.65 1.70 1.75 1.80 1.85 1.90 1.95 1.95 1.73
Downside risk -0.30 -0.30 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.34

50-yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.85 0.85 0.60
Arlingclose Central Case 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.55 1.60 1.65 1.70 1.75 1.80 1.85 1.85 1.63
Downside risk -0.30 -0.30 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.35 -0.50 -0.50 -0.37

Underlying Assumptions:

 The Monetary Policy Committee once again voted 7-2 in favour of maintaining bank rate at 0.25% 
in September. However, the Committee meeting minutes suggested that the upside risks to Bank 
Rate had increased, noting that the majority of MPC members judged that the withdrawal of 
monetary stimulus was likely to be appropriate to return inflation to target.

 This potential rise in Bank Rate is dependent on policymakers seeing continued erosion of 
economic capacity and a gradual rise in underlying inflationary pressure.

 All members agreed that any prospective increases in Bank Rate would be expected to be at a 
gradual pace and to a limited extent.

 The UK economy faces a challenging outlook as the minority government continues to negotiate 
the country's exit from the European Union. UK Q2 2017 GDP growth was 0.3%, after a 0.2% 
expansion in Q1. The initial expenditure breakdown showed weakness in consumption, business 
investment and net trade. Both consumer and business confidence remain subdued.

 Household consumption growth, the driver of UK GDP growth, has softened following a 
contraction in real wages. Savings rates are at an all-time low, with little scope for further 
reduction to smooth consumption. When inflation eventually eases, savings are likely to be 
replenished, further diverting money away from consumption.

 Some data has held up better than expected, with unemployment falling to an all-time low and 
house prices remaining relatively resilient.

Page 58



17

 The depreciation in sterling may assist the economy to rebalance away from spending. Export 
volumes will increase, helped by a stronger Eurozone economic expansion.

 Near-term global growth prospects have continued to improve and broaden, and expectations of 
inflation are subdued. Central banks are moving to reduce the level of monetary stimulus.

 Geo-political risks remain elevated and help to anchor safe-haven flows into the UK government 
bond (gilt) market. 

Forecast: 
 The MPC have changed their rhetoric, implying a rise in Bank Rate in "the coming months". We 

are not convinced the UK’s economic outlook justifies such a move at this stage, but the Bank’s 
interpretation of the data seems to have shifted.

 This decision is still very data dependent and we are for now maintaining our central case for 
Bank Rate at 0.25% whilst introducing near-term upside risks to our forecasts.

 The Arlingclose central case is for gilt yields and therefore long-term interest rates to remain 
broadly stable in the across the medium term, but there may be near term volatility due to shifts in 
interest rate expectations.

Page 59



18

Appendix B 

EXISTING PORTFOLIO PROJECTED FORWARD

Portfolio 
16 Nov 
2017

Average 
Rate

31-Mar-18 31-Mar-19 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-21

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m % £m £m £m £m

External Borrowing
Fixed Rate – PWLB 244.463 5.29 244.463 236.599 228.736 220.773
Fixed Rate – Market 33.050 4.23 33.050 33.050 33.050 33.050
Variable Rate – PWLB 0.000 0.00 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Variable Rate – Market 8.000 5.00 8.000 8.000 8.000 8.000
Total External Borrowings 285.513 5.18 285.513 277.649 269.786 261.823
Other long-term liabilities (PFI) 19.825 19.825 19.138 18.465 17.688
Total External Debt 305.338 305.338 296.787 288.251 279.511
Investments:
Managed in house

- Short term deposits and monies 
on call and Money Market Funds 175.480 0.50 155.480 135.480 115.480 95.480

- Long Term investments (over 12 
months)

90.586 1.40 90.586 90.586 90.586 90.586

Managed externally 70.000 1.54 70.000 70.000 70.000 70.000
Total Investments 336.066 1.07 316.066 296.066 276.066 256.066

Net  Borrowing / Investment 
Position 30.728 10.728 (0.721) (12.185) (23.445)

Page 60



19

Appendix C 
Prudential Indicators 2018/19

1. Background:

There is a requirement under the Local Government Act 2003 for local authorities to have regard to 
CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the “CIPFA Prudential Code”) 
when setting and reviewing their Prudential Indicators. The objectives of the Prudential Code are to 
ensure, within a clear framework, that the capital investment plans of local authorities are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that treasury management decisions are taken in 
accordance with good professional practice. To demonstrate that the Council has fulfilled these 
objectives, the Prudential Code sets out the following indicators that must be set and monitored 
each year.

2. Estimates of Capital Expenditure:

2.1 This indicator is set to ensure that capital expenditure remains within sustainable limits and, in 
particular, to consider the impact on Council Tax.  The table below shows the estimates of capital 
expenditure, and further detail can be found in the Capital Programme Report.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Capital Expenditure 107.505 140.594 68.202 36.799

2.2 Capital expenditure is expected to be financed as follows:

Capital Financing 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Revenue Contributions 2.310 0.666 0.000 0.000
Capital Fund and other Reserves 13.449 9.954 2.885 0.000
Government Grants and External 
Contributions

75.753 88.670 37.677 26.105

Capital receipts 15.993 25.304 8.640 0.694
Total Financing 107.505 124.594 49.202 26.799
Internal Borrowing 0.000 16.000 19.000 10.000
External Borrowing 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Total Funding 0.000 16.000 19.000 10.000
Total Financing & Funding 107.505 140.594 68.202 36.799

3. Capital Financing Requirement:

3.1 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) measures the Council’s underlying need to borrow for a 
capital purpose.  The calculation of the CFR is taken from the amounts held in the Balance Sheet 
relating to capital expenditure and its financing.  The CFR is forecast to fall over the next three 
years as maturing debt is repaid and additional volunary revenue contributions are made.

Page 61



20

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Capital Financing Requirement 302.076 311.188 322.509 321.918

4. Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement:

4.1 This is a key indicator of prudence.  In order to ensure that over the medium term net borrowing 
will only be for a capital purpose, the Council should ensure that the net external borrowing does 
not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the preceding 
year plus the estimates of any additional increases to the capital financing requirement for the 
current and next two financial years. 

4.2 If in any of these years there is a reduction in the capital financing requirement, this reduction is 
ignored in estimating the cumulative increase in the capital financing requirement which is used for 
comparison with gross external debt.

4.3 The Strategic Finance Director reports that the Council is currently experiencing a short term issue 
whereby the level of external borrowing exceeds the Capital Financing Requirement. This is due to 
the current limitations in being able to repay external debt early and that the current policy whereby 
the capital programme is approved and largely fully funded without the need for additional 
borrowing. This doesn’t have any adverse impact on the Council’s revenue budget and overall 
financial position.  It is anticipated that this temporary position will be rectified in 2017-18 .  This 
view takes into account current commitments, existing plans and the proposals from the approved 
budget.

5. Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt:

5.1 The Council has an integrated Treasury Management Strategy and manages its treasury position 
in accordance with its approved strategy and practice.  Overall borrowing will therefore arise as a 
consequence of all the financial transactions of the Council and not just those arising from capital 
spending reflected in the CFR. 

5.2 The Authorised Limit sets the maximum level of external borrowing on a gross basis (i.e. not net of 
investments) for the Council. It is measured on a daily basis against all external borrowing items on 
the Balance Sheet (i.e. long and short term borrowing, overdrawn bank balances and long term 
liabilities.  This Prudential Indicator separately identifies borrowing from other long term liabilities 
such as finance leases.  It is consistent with the Council’s existing commitments, its proposals for 
capital expenditure and financing and its approved treasury management policy statement and 
practices.  

5.3 The Authorised Limit has been set on the estimate of the most likely, prudent but not worst case 
scenario with sufficient headroom over and above this to allow for unusual cash movements. 

5.4 The Authorised Limit is the statutory limit determined under Section 3(1) of the Local Government 
Act 2003 (referred to in the legislation as the Affordable Limit).  The Council’s Authorised Limit is 
shown below.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Total 363.000 380.000 385.000 390.000

Authorised Limit for External Debt

Page 62



21

5.5 The Operational Boundary links directly to the Council’s estimates of the CFR and estimates of 
other cashflow requirements.  This indicator is based on the same estimates as the Authorised 
Limit reflecting the most likely, prudent but not worst case scenario but without the additional 
headroom included within the Authorised Limit.  

5.6 The Strategic Finance Director has delegated authority, within the total limit for any individual year, 
to effect movement between the separately agreed limits for borrowing and other long-term 
liabilities.  Decisions will be based on the outcome of financial option appraisals and best value 
considerations.  Any movement between these separate limits will be reported to the next 
appropriate meeting of the Council.  The Council’s Operational Boundary is shown below.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Total 343.000 360.000 365.000 370.000

Operational Boundary for External 
Debt

6. Actual External Debt:

6.1 This indicator is obtained directly from the Council’s balance sheet. It is the closing balance for 
actual gross borrowing plus other long-term liabilities. This Indicator is measured in a manner 
consistent for comparison with the Operational Boundary and Authorised Limit.

31.03.17 
Actual 

31.03.18 
Estimate

31.03.19 
Estimate

31.03.19 
Estimate

31.03.19 
Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Borrowing 285.513 277.650 269.786 261.823 251.878
PFI liabilities 19.825 19.138 18.465 17.688 17.096
Total Debt 305.338 296.788 288.251 279.511 268.974

Debt

7. Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream:

7.1 This is an indicator of affordability and highlights the revenue implications of existing and proposed 
capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget required to meet financing 
costs. The definition of financing costs is set out in the Prudential Code.

7.2 The estimate for interest payments in 2017/18 is £15.3 million and for interest receipts is £1.6 
million.  The ratio of financing costs to the Council’s net revenue stream is an indicator of 
affordability and highlights the revenue implications of existing and proposed capital expenditure by 
identifying the proportion of the revenue budget required to meet borrowing costs.  The ratio is 
based on costs net of investment income.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net 
Revenue Stream 4.86% 4.76% 4.65% 5.16%

8. Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions:

8.1 This is an indicator of affordability that shows the impact of capital investment decisions on Council 
Tax.  The incremental impact is calculated by comparing the total revenue budget requirement of 

Page 63



22

the current approved capital programme with an equivalent calculation of the revenue budget 
requirement arising from the proposed capital programme.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£ £ £ £
Increase in Band D Council Tax 0.00 1.61 7.03 9.84

Incremental Impact of Capital 
Investment Decisions

8.2 The Council’s capital plans, as estimated in forthcoming financial years, will have a minimal impact 
on Council Tax.  This reflects the fact that capital expenditure is predominantly financed from 
grants, contributions, capital receipts, and internal resources. 

9. Adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code:

9.1 This indicator demonstrates that the Council has adopted the principles of best practice.

Adoption of the CIPFA Code of Practice in Treasury Management
The Council approved the adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code at its Council 
meeting on 24th February 2010*.  

*The Council has incorporated the changes from the revised CIPFA Code of Practice (published 
November 2011) into its treasury policies, procedures and practices.

10. Upper Limits for Fixed Interest Rate Exposure and Variable Interest Rate Exposure:

10.1 These indicators allow the Council to manage the extent to which it is exposed to changes in 
interest rates.  This Council calculates these limits on net principal outstanding sums, (i.e. fixed 
rate debt net of fixed rate investments).

10.2 The upper limit for variable rate exposure has been set to ensure that the Council is not exposed to 
interest rate rises which could adversely impact on the revenue budget.  The limit allows for the 
use of variable rate debt to offset exposure to changes in short-term rates on investments.

10.3 The limits above provide the necessary flexibility within which decisions will be made for drawing 
down new loans on a fixed or variable rate basis; the decisions will ultimately be determined by 
expectations of anticipated interest rate movements as set out in the Council’s treasury 
management strategy. 

10.4 This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to interest rate risk.  The upper limits on fixed 
and variable rate interest rate exposures, expressed as the amount of net principal borrowed will 
be:

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
340.000 350.000

Upper limit for Variable Interest 
Rate exposure

0 0 0 0

320.000Upper limit for Fixed Interest Rate 
exposure

320.000

Page 64



23

11. Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate borrowing:

11.1 This indicator highlights the existence of any large concentrations of fixed rate debt needing to be 
replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates and is designed to protect against excessive 
exposures to interest rate changes in any one period, in particular in the course of the next ten 
years.  

11.2 It is calculated as the amount of projected borrowing that is fixed rate maturing in each period as a 
percentage of total projected borrowing that is fixed rate. The maturity of borrowing is determined 
by reference to the earliest date on which the lender can require payment. 

Actual Fixed 
Rate £m 

Borrowing 
as at 

31/03/18

Actual Fixed 
Rate £m 

Borrowing as 
at 31/03/18

LOBO PWLB/Other

under 12 months 25 0 33.050 7.863 14.7 Yes 
12 months and within 24 months 25 0 0.000 30.009 10.8 Yes
24 months and within 5 years 50 0 0.000 29.500 10.6 Yes
5 years and within 10 years 75 0 0.000 29.000 10.4 Yes
10 years and within 20 years 100 0 0.000 58.671 21.1 Yes
20 years and within 30 years 100 0 0.000 81.557 29.4 Yes
30 years and within 40 years 100 0 0.000 0.000 0.0 Yes
40 years plus 100 0 0.000 8.000 2.9 Yes

Compliance 
with Set 
Limits?

Maturity Structure of Fixed 
Rate Borrowing

Upper 
Limit %

Lower 
Limit %

% Fixed 
Rate 

Borrowing 
as at 

31/03/18

12. Upper Limit for total principal sums invested over 364 days:

12.1 The purpose of this limit is to contain exposure to the possibility of loss that may arise as a result of 
the Council having to seek early repayment of the sums invested. 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

200.000 200.000 200.000
Upper Limit for total principal sums 
invested over 364 days 200.000

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 26th January 2018 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Annual Governance Statement 2016/17
Governance Issues – Progress with Improvement Plan

Purpose of Report: The purpose of this report is to provide assurance to the Audit and 
Governance Committee that the improvement areas and associated 
actions identified as part of the annual review of governance 
arrangements operating within GCC have been/are being addressed. 

Recommendation: It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee reviews 
and considers the actions taken to address the governance 
improvement areas identified.

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Head of Audit Risk Assurance. Tel: 01452 328883
Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jo Walker: Director: Strategic Finance. Tel: 01452 328469
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective corporate governance framework 
prevents the Council in directing and controlling its resources effectively 
and efficiently, to enable the Council’s priorities and objectives to be 
met.

Background The Council is required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 to 
publish an Annual Governance Statement, in accordance with ‘proper 
practices’ in order to report publicly on the extent to which we comply 
with our own Local Code of Corporate Governance. 

This approach includes how the Council has monitored the 
effectiveness of arrangements in year and on any planned changes to 
governance arrangements in the coming year. Through the Council’s 
Constitution, the Audit and Governance Committee has responsibility 
for review and approval of the Statement and to be provided with the 
assurance that any improvement actions identified are implemented.

Page 67

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Progress on 2016/17 Gloucestershire County Council’s Governance Improvement Actions 

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and 
Lead Officer

Position as at December 2017

Financial 

Governance

Future Financial Sustainability 

The Council identified savings of £35.3m as part of the 

2017/2018 budget setting process. Delivery of this level of 

savings will be challenging for the Council. A contingency 

has been set aside in case this is not fully delivered in 

2017/2018, although the Council recognises this is not a 

long term solution.

Actions: To continue to review the arrangements for 

updating, agreeing and monitoring the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy (MTFS). Specifically focusing on the 

robustness of the financial planning assumptions and 

arrangements for ensuring the financial projections 

including future savings are realistic and achievable.

31st March 2018

Chief Financial 
Officer

The Council has a robust process for 

monitoring budgets and the achievement of 

savings. This is undertaken monthly and the 

results reported to every Cabinet. The MTFS 

is updated annually and as part of this annual 

review all financial planning assumptions are 

challenged. 

In order to ensure the achievement of the 

savings targets within Adults an Adults Single 

Programme Board has been established. 

This meets fortnightly to review progress and 

take action as required.

The Council is currently forecasting a 

breakeven position in 2017/18 which is a 

clear indication that this process is working 

effectively.

P
age 69



2

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and 
Lead Officer

Position as at December 2017

Safeguarding

Inspection

Ofsted Inspection of Children’s Services: 

Gloucestershire County Council services for children in 

need of help and protection, children looked after and care 

leavers were inspected by Ofsted between 27th February 

to 23rd March 2017. There was also a separate inspection 

of the Local Safeguarding Children Board. The Council 

has recently received our final report from Ofsted. 

There are examples of some good work that should be 

acknowledged and celebrated, e.g. the adoption service 

that has been graded as ‘good’ and inspectors found an 

improving picture for children in care and care leavers. 

However, there are substantial challenges in safeguarding 

and child protection practice and leadership and 

management and these areas were graded ‘inadequate’ – 

this means that the overall judgement is inadequate. The 

Council has accepted the judgements and the 

recommendations and apologised for not protecting 

vulnerable children and their families effectively. 

Interim Director of 

Children’s Services

The Council has taken action to address the 

weaknesses identified by Ofsted in its 

Safeguarding Children’s Services. We 

recognise that the issues identified are long 

standing and will take 18 months to 2 years 

to address and to ensure that we can sustain 

change in this critical service. 

We have therefore appointed Essex County 

Council as our Improvement Partner to help 

and advise us on the changes required. In 

addition Steve Hart (ex Ofsted Inspector) is 

working with us to strengthen our quality and 

performance functions. 

Our progress is monitored through a monthly 

Improvement Board, chaired by the 

Department of Education Improvement 

Adviser – John Goldup. 

P
age 70



3

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and 
Lead Officer

Position as at December 2017

Actions: Immediate action has been taken. A new 

leadership team is in place in Children’s Services to drive 

forward improvement. A review has been undertaken of 

work with those children most at risk identified through the 

inspection to ensure they are adequately protected. 

The Council is required to produce an action plan for 

Ofsted within 70 days of the report’s publication and the 

DfE will be overseeing improvement. A DfE Advisor has 

already been appointed and will chair an Improvement 

Board that includes the Leader, Lead Cabinet Member and 

senior officers. 

The Local Government Association will also provide advice 

and assistance and an advisor is already in place.

Ofsted undertake quarterly monitoring visits 

to assess our progress. 

A permanent appointment for the new 

Director of Children’s Service has now been 

made and we have further strengthened our 

management capacity to provide sufficient 

oversight of children in Gloucestershire. 

P
age 71



4

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and 
Lead Officer

Position as at December 2017

To commission an independent review of support for 

whistle-blowers and independent help and support for staff 

to raise concerns. Public Concern at Work (PCaW), the 

leading Whistleblowing Charity, have been commissioned 

to do an independent review of our arrangements. 

To ensure corporate ownership of all exit interviews and 

appropriate access by scrutiny and cabinet members to 

that information. 

To review the appraisal process. The current year’s 

appraisals are due to complete this autumn.  A review will 

then be undertaken, which will include staff feedback on 

their experience this year.  Any changes will be 

implemented by the end March, ready for 2018 appraisals.

Director of Strategy 

and Challenge / 

Monitoring Officer

Started 1 August 
2017, further report 
on 1 October 2017

Head of HR

Head of HR

31st March 2018

PCaW completed their review in November 

2017. The whistleblowing policy has been 

completely re-written. This was shared with 

the Committee virtually and agreed on 11 

December. 

A new process is now in place, which 

includes an online tool for capturing content, 

and guidance has been sent to managers.  

Quarterly monitoring is being produced and 

followed up.

A review of appraisals has begun. Initial 

conversations suggest that the focus should 

be on increasing the skills and behaviours 

that will improve the effectiveness of the 

appraisal conversations rather than the 

process or forms.

P
age 72



5

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and 
Lead Officer

Position as at December 2017

To carry out an independent, transparent, annual staff 

survey, the results of which will be shared with all 

councillors. The staff survey is due to be launched by the 

end of September.

Chief Executive 

Officer 
The staff survey was launched and 

completed in Q4 2017.  The results are now 

informing staff engagement sessions to 

develop any actions required.

National 

Policy

Implications of the Policing and Crime Act (which 

makes provision for collaboration between police forces 

and fire and rescue services) impacting on the Fire and 

Rescue Service and the County Council. 

Actions: Research has been commissioned to look at the 

potential costs of transferring currently Council-run Fire 

and Rescue Services to the control of Police and Crime 

Commissioners (PCCs). The Office of the Police and 

Crime Commissioner (OPCC) has commissioned a 

separate report which may influence the future direction.

Chief Fire Officer

The outcome of the commissioned report by 

the OPCC determined that the benefits of any 

change of governance were finely balanced. 

Thereafter the PCC has stated that he has no 

intention of seeking a change in governance 

for the FRS at this time.

P
age 73



6

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and 
Lead Officer

Position as at December 2017

Director’s 

Assurance 

Statements

Contracting / Commissioning Care Services 
Cleeve Link, one of the Council’s home care providers, 

and 4Children one of the Council’s children’s support 

providers closed during 2016/207. 

Actions: The Council has considered lessons learned 

from the closure of both 4Children and Cleeve Link and 

are using the findings to improve its long term planning 

and market management arrangements to avoid such 

situations occurring in the future and to up skill officers in 

these areas. 

Childrens Centres
With effect from April 2017 a new Children’s Centre 

contract is in place with revised contract monitoring 

arrangements.

Director of Adult 

Social Care and 

Director of Childrens 

Services

Ongoing

Director of Childrens 

Services

The Council arranged for partners to maintain 

domiciliary care support and a new provider 

for children’s centres.

Lessons learned implemented in new 

contracts for the service which have been in 

place since April 2017. We have 2 providers 

Barnardos and Gardners Lane and Oakwood 

federation. Contracts are monitored on a 

quarterly basis with a much stronger focus on 

finance. 

P
age 74



7

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and 
Lead Officer

Position as at December 2017

Domiciliary Care
Although the manner of the closure of Cleeve Link was 

highly unusual, the lessons learned from it and the 

subsequent activity to arrange alternative provision will be 

used to shape the Council’s longer term approach to the 

development of capacity and stability in the domiciliary 

care market in the County.

Ongoing 

Director of Adult 

Services

Performance management clauses in 

contracts are now much stronger allowing 

access to annual accounts if required.

The Council continues to take a proactive 

role in the shaping of the local market place 

including enhanced monitoring visits and 

support for the regional Proud to Care 

initiative. (Proud to Care South West is a 

partnership of 16 local authorities and Health 

Education England working together at a 

regional level to raise the profile of a career in 

care and health).

The Lead Cabinet Members are also now 

formally reviewing our approach with the 

intention of proposing a longer term model in 

the New Year.

P
age 75



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 26th January 2018 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Risk Management (RM) Policy Statement and Strategy 2018 - 2021

Purpose of Report: To propose an updated Strategic Risk Management Policy Statement and 
Strategy to be effective from April 2018.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

1. To review, amend as required and subsequently approve the refreshed 
Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy, which reflects national 
good practice/standards and aligns with the Council’s operating model, to 
be effective from April 2018. Please be advised that there are no major 
changes to the policy other than (1) on page 11 where the proposal is to 
change the Corporate RM group from being a ‘virtual’ group to physically 
reinstating the group, to enable better risk communication, relevant risk 
escalation and more effective corporate oversight of how well RM is 
embedded into the Council’s business activities, and (2) to extend the 
strategy to 2021, as the key principles of good RM do not change.

2. To agree that the Strategy, once approved is disseminated to managers 
via a Communications Plan, to reaffirm our risk management objectives.

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Head of Audit Risk Assurance Shared Service and 
Gloucestershire County Council’s Insurance Services 
Tel: 01452 328883
theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Jo Walker: Director - Strategic Finance 
Tel: 01452 328469
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks CoMT/Members/Managers unaware of the strategic, programme, project and 
operational risks facing the Council and not gaining the assurances that they 
are being effectively managed and directing resources accordingly. Being 
unable to deliver the Priorities within the Council Strategy.

Non compliant with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and GCC’s 
Financial Regulation C: Risk Management and Control of Resources.

Page 77

Agenda Item 8

mailto:theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

  

Gloucestershire County Council 
Risk Management  
Policy Statement & 
Strategy  

 

2018-2021 

Page 79



 

1 

 

Risk Management Policy Statement 
 

 

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) recognises that Risk Management is 

one of the key principles of effective Corporate Governance. It is also a key 

contributor to a sound internal control environment and the Annual Governance 

Statement. 

The Council seeks to adopt recognised best practice in the identification, evaluation and cost 

effective/proportional control of risks and opportunities to ensure that they are managed at 

acceptable levels. Risk management within GCC is about managing our threats and 

opportunities and striving to create an environment of ‘no surprises’. By managing our threats 

effectively we will be in a stronger position to deliver our business objectives. By managing 

our opportunities we will be in a better position to demonstrate improved services and better 

value for money.  

Risk is unavoidable. It is an important part of life that allows us all to move forward and 

develop. As an organisation it can impact in many ways, whether financially, politically, on 

our reputation, environmentally or to our service delivery. Successful risk management is 

about ensuring that we have the correct level of control in place to provide sufficient 

protection from harm, without stifling our development. As an organisation, with a range of 

different stakeholders, each with differing needs and expectations, this can be a challenge.  

We must ensure that the decisions we take as a Council reflect a consideration of the 

potential implications for all our stakeholders. We must decide whether the benefits of taking 

our actions outweigh the risks. 

The Council’s overriding attitude to risk is to operate in a culture of creativity and innovation, 

in which risks are identified in all areas of the business, are understood and proactively 

managed, rather than avoided. Risk management therefore needs to be taken into the heart 

of the Council and our key partners. We need to have the structures and processes in place 

to ensure the risks and opportunities of daily Council activities are identified, assessed and 

addressed in a standard way. We do not shy away from risk but instead seek to proactively 

manage it.  This will allow us not only to meet the needs of the community today, but also be 

prepared to meet future challenges. 

The Cabinet and the Corporate Management Team are fully committed to effective risk 

management and see it as part of our responsibility to deliver an effective public service to 

the communities within Gloucestershire.  

Page 80



 

2 

 

Contents 

 
 Risk Management Strategy ................................................................................................ 3 

 What are the real benefits of managing risk? ..................................................................... 3 

 Our Strategic Risk Management Objectives ....................................................................... 4 

 What is the Council’s Risk Appetite? .................................................................................. 5 

 How are our objectives going to be met? ............................................................................ 5 

 Monitoring and Review of Risk Management Activities (minimum requirements) ............... 6 

 Accountabilities, Roles and Responsibilities ....................................................................... 7 

 Risk Management Governance Structure ........................................................................... 8 

 

 

Page 81

file://///svrshir07/RES_Shirehall$/AuditandRiskManagement/RiskManagement/Policies%20and%20Standards/Risk%20Management%20Policy/Risk%20Management%20Policy%20and%20%20Strategy%202016-2017%20v2-0.docx%23_Toc437424536


 

3 

 

Risk Management Strategy 
 

 

This strategy recognises that the next few years will present unprecedented 

challenges for the Council in delivering its services and corporate priorities.  

Risk Management is a central part of the Council’s strategic management. It is a cyclical 

process whereby the Council identifies, evaluates, monitors and controls potential 

opportunities and adverse effects that challenge the assets, reputation and objectives of the 

organisation. It enables the Council to effectively manage strategic decision-making, service 

planning and delivery, to safeguard the wellbeing of our customers and stakeholders.  

The Council should not be afraid of identifying a risk or feel that identifying a risk is a failure. 

Identification of a risk provides an opportunity for improvement and success! 

What are the real benefits of managing risk? 
 

 

Risk Management will strengthen the ability of the Council to achieve its 

corporate objectives and enhance the value of services provided by: 

 Informing strategic and operational decision-making; 

 Safeguarding all persons to whom the Council has a duty of care; 

 Increasing our chances of success and reducing our chances of failure; 

 Enhancing stakeholder value by minimising losses and maximising opportunities; 

 Increasing knowledge and understanding of exposure to risk; 

 Enabling not just backward looking review, but forward looking thinking; 

 Contributing towards social value and sustainable development;  

 Reducing unexpected and costly surprises; 

 Minimising our vulnerability to fraud and corruption; 

 Freeing up management time from ‘fire-fighting’; 

 Providing management with early warnings of problems; 

 Ensuring minimal service disruption; 

 Ensuring statutory compliance; 

 Better targeting of resources i.e. focus scarce resources on high risk activity; 

 Reducing the financial costs due to, e.g. service disruption, litigation, insurance 

premiums and claims, and bad investment decisions; 

 Delivering creative and innovative projects; and 

 Protecting our reputation. 

Page 82



 

4 

 

 

Our Strategic Risk Management Objectives 
 
  

 Strategic approach to risk management to make better informed decisions which is 

vital to successful transformational change; 

 

 Setting the ‘tone from the top’ on the level of risk we are prepared to accept on our 

different service delivery activities and priorities. Understanding our ‘risk appetite’ and 

acknowledging that how we ‘think about risk’ will be different depending on the context 

of corporate impact and sensitivity; 

 

 Risk management enables us be more consistent in options appraisals and more 

flexible/agile in delivering change. Risk aversion can result in the bar being set much 

higher for commissioning a change compared with maintaining the status quo; 

 

 Acknowledging that even with good risk management and our best endeavours, things 

can go wrong. Where this happens we use the lessons learnt to try to prevent it from 

happening again; 

 

 Developing leadership capacity and skills in having a clear understanding of the risks 

facing the Council and how we manage them; 

 

 Risk management should be integral to how we run Council business/services. Risk 

management processes provide effective arrangements that identify and achieve 

successful local and national priority objectives; 

 

 Supporting a culture of well-measured risk taking throughout the Council’s business, 

including strategic, programme, partnership, project and operational. This includes 

setting risk ownership and accountabilities and responding to risk in a balanced way, 

considering the level of risk, reward, impact and cost of control measures; 

 

 Ensure that the Council continues to meet all statutory and best practice requirements 

in relation to risk management and continues to be a key and effective contributor to 

Corporate Governance and a satisfactory Annual Governance Statement; 

 

 Effective monitoring and Board intelligence on the key risks facing the Council; and 

 

 Good practice tools to support the Council in the management of risks and 

opportunities.   

Page 83



 

5 

 

What is the Council’s Risk Appetite? 
 
 

There are numerous definitions of organisational ‘risk appetite’, but it all boils 

down to how much of what sort of risk an organisation is willing to take.  The 

HM Treasury definition being: ‘The amount of risk that an organisation is 

prepared to accept, tolerate or be exposed to at any point in time.’ So why do 

we need to determine our risk appetite? 

If managers are running the business with insufficient guidance on the levels of risk that are 

legitimate for them to take, or not seizing important opportunities due to a perception that 

taking on additional risk is discouraged, then business performance will not be maximised. At 

the other end of the scale an organisation constantly erring on the side of caution (or one that 

has a risk-averse culture) is one that is likely to stifle creativity and not necessarily 

encouraging innovation, nor seek to exploit opportunities.  

A framework has been developed and implemented to enable risk judgements to be more 

explicit, transparent and consistent. By enhancing our approach to determining risk appetite 

we are able to raise the Council’s capability to deliver on challenging targets to raise 

standards, improve service quality, system reform and provide more value for money.  

This framework is considered by all levels of the business, from strategic decision making, to 

operational delivery.  

How are our objectives going to be met? 
 
 

The Council’s objectives will be achieved by: 
 

 Adopting good practice risk management principles, in line with the Institute of Risk 

Management Professional Standards 2015 and the International Risk Management 

Standard (ISO 31000 - 2009). The application of the standards and principles within it 

will be reviewed annually and amended accordingly to reflect key changes; 

 

 Establishing clear roles and responsibilities and reporting lines within the Council for 

risk management; 

 
 

Page 84



 

6 

 

 Incorporating risk management into the council’s decision making and strategic 

management processes; 

 

 Incorporating risk management into service/business planning, option appraisals, 

programme and project management, partnerships and procurement processes; 

 

 The provision of risk management training, advice, detailed guidance and support and 

providing opportunities for shared learning; and 

 

 The provision of a risk governance framework to ensure the adequacy and 

effectiveness of the identification, assessment, control, monitoring and review 

arrangements in place to manage risk. The framework will ensure that risk 

management is dynamic and responsive to change. 

 

Monitoring and Review of Risk Management 
Activities (minimum requirements) 
 
 

 A quarterly review of the Strategic Risk Register; 

 

 A quarterly review of service area risk registers; 

 

 A monthly review of programme/project/partnership risk registers; 

 

 An annual review of the corporate Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy; 

 

 An annual report on risk management activity; and 

 

 An annual review and report on the overall effectiveness of risk management and 

internal control by Internal Audit, which feeds into the Annual Governance Statement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 85



 

7 

 

 

Accountabilities, Roles and Responsibilities 
 
 

There needs to be clarity in terms of ‘who does what’ otherwise we will be 

exposed to risks being unmanaged, causing us damage or loss that we could 

otherwise influence, control or avoid. The key roles and responsibilities are 

outlined below: 

Cabinet / Portfolio Holders 
 

 Endorse the Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy; 

 Endorse the content of the Strategic Risk Register and proposed risk mitigation plans, 

and monitor implementation;  

 Be aware of the risk management implications of decisions; 

 Monitor key performance results including the production of an annual report on 

strategic risk management activity; and 

 Nominate a Lead Member Risk Management Champion to be responsible for the 

championing, scrutiny and oversight of the risk management activities. 

 

Scrutiny 
 

 Ensure that risks and opportunities within their portfolio are identified and effectively 

managed through discussions with Directors and Service Heads; 

 Facilitate a risk management culture across the council; 

 Contribute to the Cabinet review of risk and being proactive in raising risk from the 

wider Gloucestershire area and community; and 

 Monitor and challenge key risk controls and actions. 

 

Audit and Governance Committee 
 

 Provide independent assurance to the Council of the adequacy and effectiveness of 

the risk management arrangements and associated control environment; and 

 Receive an annual report on risk management activity.  

 
 
 
 
  

Page 86



 

8 

 

Corporate Management Team (CoMT) 
 

 Provide corporate leadership of risk management throughout the council; 

 Agree an effective council-wide framework for the management of risks and 

opportunities; 

 Advise Members on effective risk management and ensure Members receive relevant 

risk information; 

 Ensure that the council complies with the corporate governance requirements relating 

to risk management; 

 Own the council’s Strategic Risk Register and ensure that risks are reviewed as part of 

the wider council’s performance arrangements; 

 Ensure that reports to support strategic and/or policy decisions include a risk 

assessment; 

 Monitor the implementation of key mitigation plans and controls assurance 

programmes; 

 Ensure processes are in place to report any perceived new/emerging (key) risks or 

failures of existing control measures; and 

 Nominate a Director to be responsible for the championing, scrutiny and oversight of 

risk management activities. 

 

Directors 
 

 Ensure that risk management within their areas of responsibility is implemented in line 

with the council’s Risk Management Strategy; 

 Assist in the preparation of the council’s Annual Governance Statement by providing 

an assurance statement for the internal control framework operating within their 

service(s); 

 Ensure that risks associated with the delivery of outcomes are identified and effectively 

managed by owning risk registers; 

 Ensure regular review of the risk registers as part of wider council performance; 

 Challenge relevant Lead Commissioners and Service Heads on relevant risks relating 

to their areas of responsibility; 

 Proactively raise risk issues at management team meetings and with Portfolio Holders; 

and 

 Nominate a Risk Champion to work alongside the Corporate Risk Management Team, 

who will be the key interface in supporting the application of risk management 

principles within their service. 

Page 87



 

9 

 

 

Lead Commissioners/Service Heads 

 

 Ensure that risk management, within their areas of responsibility, is implemented in 

line with the council’s Risk Management Strategy; 

 Own their risk register and identify cross-cutting risks as well as risks arising from their 

areas of responsibility; prioritising and initiating mitigating actions; 

 Ensure regular review of the service risk register as part of wider council performance; 

 Report to Directors on any perceived new and emerging risks or, failures of existing 

control measures; 

 Promote and share good practice across service areas; 

 Liaise with their service Risk Champion; and 

 Challenge risk owners and actions to ensure that controls are operating as intended. 

 

Managers 
 

 Ensure that risk management within their areas of responsibility is implemented in line 

with the council’s Risk Management Strategy; 

 Communicate the risk management arrangements to staff; 

 Liaise with their service Risk Champion; 

 Identify training needs and report these to their service Risk Champion; 

 Take accountability for actions and, report to their Lead Commissioner or Service 

Head; and 

 Report any perceived new and/or emerging risks or, failure of control measures to their 

Lead Commissioner or Service Head. 

 

Staff/Other Stakeholders 
 

 Maintain risk awareness, assessing and managing risks effectively in their job and, 

report risks to their manager. 

 

  

Page 88



 

10 

 

Corporate Risk Management Team 
 
Strategic and Operational Risk 
 

 Lead on the development and manage the implementation of an integrated risk 

management framework, strategy and process on behalf of the council; 

 Undertake an annual review of the council’s Corporate Risk Management Strategy and 

update accordingly, presenting any revisions to COMT for approval; 

 Spread the ethos and, promote the effectiveness of good risk management throughout 

the council; 

 Facilitate the review and update of the Strategic Risk Register; 

 Identify and address cross-cutting risks and risk management issues; 

 Support the development of the council’s service, programme, project and partnership 

risk registers; 

 Provide the council with guidance, toolkits, advice and support on the application of 

risk management principles and, support the Risk Champions in delivering their role; 

 Lead, co-ordinate and develop risk management activity across the council with the 

support of the Risk Champions; 

 Ensure that all relevant staff and Members are adequately trained in risk management 

and risk assessment techniques; 

 Moderate and challenge the application of risk management principles accordingly; 

 Liaise with external consultants and risk management organisations and review 

national standards to identify, share and maintain best practice within the council; and 

 Liaise with both internal and external audit with regard to risk management. 

 
Risk Financing and Insurance 
 

 Lead on the development and implementation of the council’s insurance programme; 

 Provide advice and guidance with regards to insurance requirements, indemnities and 

legal liabilities; 

 Lead on claims management and investigation services for claims made against the 

council; and 

 Provide an insurance programme to maintained schools, who buy-back the traded 

service. 

 

  

Page 89



 

11 

 

Corporate Risk Management Group 
 
The group is made up of senior officers within the following: 
 

 Corporate Risk Management; 

 Performance and Improvement; 

 Information Management; 

 Health and Safety; 

 Civil Protection; 

 Risk/Insurance Services; 

 Commercial Services;  

 Asset Management and Property Services, and 

 Service area risk champions. 

 

The key aims of the group are to: 
 

 Act as the main risk management contact/advisor for their service areas, ensuring that 

corporate information and requirements are communicated throughout the service 

areas and that key service risk information is escalated, to enable appropriate action to 

be taken by the Corporate Risk Management Team i.e. ‘top down – bottom up’ 

approach; 

 Support the development and implementation of the council’s Risk Management Policy 

and Strategy; 

 Support the development of the Strategic Risk Register;  

 Support the development of and advise on the adequacy of the service, programme, 

project and partnership risk registers; 

 Identify and address cross cutting risks and risk management issues; 

 Provide support on risk management to Directors, Service Heads and other managers 

within their service area; 

 Promote the benefits of risk management across their service areas; 

 Identify their service areas training needs and notify the Corporate Risk Management 

Team; 

 Maintain, on behalf of their services, risk registers that comply with corporate 

guidelines; 

 Promote and share best practice/lessons learned across the service areas; and 

 Report on the progress and development of the risk management strategy within the 

council. 

 

Page 90



 

12 

 

Internal Audit 
 

The role of Internal Audit in respect of risk management is to: 
 

 Provide an annual independent, objective assessment/opinion of the effectiveness of 

the risk management and control processes operating within the council which feeds 

into the council’s Annual Governance Statement; 

 Provide advice and guidance on risk and control; and 

 Ensure that the Internal Audit activity is focused on the key risks facing the council. 

 

Page 91



 

13 

 

 

 

Risk Management Governance Structure 
 

 

Corporate Risk 
Management Team 

Corporate Risk 
Management Group) 

Performance  
and Improvement 

Internal 
Audit 

Support Functions 

County Council 

Staff/Other Stakeholders 

Cabinet/CoMT 

Scrutiny Committees 

Audit and Governance 
Committee 

Management Teams – Portfolio, Project and Programme Boards 

Cabinet 
Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Committee 

Corporate Management Team (CoMT) 

Commissioning Board 

Civil Protection Team 

P
age 92



 

14 

 

 

Audit Risk Assurance & Insurance Services 
Shire Hall 

Westgate Street 
Gloucester 

Gloucestershire 
GL1 2TG 

 

December 2017 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 26th January 2018 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Internal Audit activity progress report 2017/2018

Purpose of Report: To inform Members of the progress of Internal Audit activity in relation 
to the 2017/2018 Internal Audit Plan and provide a progress report in 
relation to those audits undertaken during the period April to December 
2017.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

1. Notes the amendments to and progress against the 2017/2018 
Internal Audit Plan; and

2. Notes the assurance opinions provided in relation to the 
effectiveness of the Council’s control environment comprising risk 
management, control and governance arrangements as a result of 
the internal audit activity completed to date.

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Head of Audit Risk Assurance Shared Service and 
Gloucestershire County Council’s Insurance Services 
Tel: 01452 328883
theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Jo Walker: Director - Strategic Finance 
Tel: 01452 328469
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective Internal Audit Service will prevent an 
independent, objective assurance opinion to be provided to those 
charged with governance that the key risks associated with the 
achievement of the Council’s objectives are being adequately 
controlled. 

Page 95

Agenda Item 9

mailto:theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY  
PROGRESS REPORT 

2017/2018

Page 97



(1) Introduction

All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 Local 
Government Act (S151) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The latter states that 
a relevant authority “must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness 
of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector 
internal auditing standards or guidance”. The Internal Audit Service is provided by Audit Risk 
Assurance under a Shared Service agreement between Gloucestershire County Council, 
Stroud District Council and Gloucester City Council and carries out the work required to 
satisfy this legislative requirement and reports its findings and conclusions to management 
and to this Committee.

The guidance accompanying the Regulations recognises the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards 2017 (PSIAS) as representing “proper internal audit practices”. The standards 
define the way in which the Internal Audit Service should be established and undertakes its 
functions. 

(2) Responsibilities 

Management are responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk management 
processes, control systems (financial and non financial) and governance arrangements. 

Internal Audit plays a key role in providing independent assurance and advising the 
organisation that these arrangements are in place and operating effectively.

Internal Audit is not the only source of assurance for the Council. There are a range of 
external audit and inspection agencies as well as management processes which also 
provide assurance and these are set out in the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance 
and its Annual Governance Statement.  

(3) Purpose of this Report

One of the key requirements of the standards is that the Chief Internal Auditor should 
provide progress reports on internal audit activity to those charged with governance. This 
report summarises:

 The progress against the 2017/2018 Internal Audit Plan, including the assurance 
opinions on the effectiveness of risk management and control processes;

 The outcomes of the Internal Audit activity during the period October to December 
2017; and

 Special investigations/counter fraud activity.

Page 98



Appendix 1

2

(4) Progress against the 2017/2018 Internal Audit Plan, including the 
assurance opinions on risk and control

The schedule provided at Appendix 1 provides the summary of 2017/18 audits which have 
not previously been reported to the Audit and Governance Committee. Appendix 1 also 
includes the summary of special investigations/counter fraud activity to date. 

The schedule provided at Appendix 2 contains a list of all of the audit activity undertaken 
during 2017/2018, which includes, where relevant, the assurance opinions on the 
effectiveness of risk management arrangements and control processes in place to manage 
those risks and the dates where a summary of the activities outcomes has been presented 
to the Audit and Governance Committee. Explanations of the meaning of these opinions are 
shown below. 

Assurance 
levels

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment

Substantial Risk Managed
Service area fully aware of the risks relating to the area 
under review and the impact that these may have on 
service delivery, other service areas, finance, reputation, 
legal, the environment client/customer/partners, and staff.  
All key risks are accurately reported and monitored in line 
with the Corporate Risk Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Robust 
framework of controls ensures 
that there is a high likelihood of 
objectives being achieved

 Control Application – Controls are 
applied continuously or with minor 
lapses

Satisfactory Risk Aware
Service area has an awareness of the risks relating to the 
area under review and the impact that these may have 
on service delivery, other service areas, finance, 
reputation, legal, the environment, 
client/customer/partners, and staff. However some key 
risks are not being accurately reported and monitored in 
line with the Corporate Risk Management Strategy.

 System Adequacy – Sufficient 
framework of key controls for 
objectives to be achieved but, 
control framework could be 
stronger

 Control Application – Controls are 
applied but with some lapses

Limited Risk Naïve 
Due to an absence of accurate and regular reporting 
and monitoring of the key risks in line with the 
Corporate Risk Management Strategy, the service 
area has not demonstrated a satisfactory awareness 
of the risks relating to the area under review and the 
impact that these may have on service delivery, other 
service areas, finance, reputation, legal, the 
environment, client/customer/partners and staff.  

 System Adequacy – Risk of 
objectives not being achieved 
due to the absence of key 
internal controls

 Control Application – 
Significant breakdown in the 
application of control

Page 99



Appendix 1

3

(4a) Summary of Internal Audit Assurance Opinions on Risk and Control

The pie charts provided below show the summary of the risk and control assurance opinions 
provided within each category of opinion i.e. substantial, satisfactory and limited in relation to 
the audit activity undertaken during the period April 2017 to December 2017.

Page 100



Appendix 1

4

(4b) Limited Control Assurance Opinions 

Where audit activities record that a limited assurance opinion on control has been provided, 
the Audit and Governance Committee may request Senior Management attendance to the 
next meeting of the Committee to provide an update as to their actions taken to address the 
risks and associated recommendations identified by Internal Audit. 

(4c) Audit Activity where a Limited Assurance Opinion has been provided on 
Control

During the period October to December 2017, it is pleasing to report that no limited 
assurance opinions on control have been provided on completed audits from the 2017/18 
Internal Audit Plan. 

(4d) Satisfactory Control Assurance Opinions

Where audit activity record that a satisfactory assurance opinion on control has been 
provided, where recommendations have been made to reflect some improvements in 
control, the Committee can take assurance that improvement actions have been agreed with 
management to address these.

(4e) Internal Audit Recommendations

During the period October to December 2017 Internal Audit made, in total, 16 
recommendations to improve the control environment, 4 of these being high priority 
recommendations (100% of these being accepted by management) and 12 being medium 
priority recommendations (100% accepted by management). 

The Committee can take assurance that all high priority recommendations will remain under 
review by Internal Audit, by obtaining regular management updates, until the required action 
has been fully completed. 

(4f) Risk Assurance Opinions

During the period October to December 2017, it is pleasing to report that no limited 
assurance opinions on risk have been provided on completed audits from the 2017/18 
Internal Audit Plan. 

Where a limited assurance opinion is given, the Shared Service Senior Risk Management 
Advisor will be provided with the Internal Audit report(s) to enable the prioritisation of risk 
management support. 

Page 101



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

5

Completed Internal Audit Activity during the period October to December 2017

Summary of Satisfactory Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Adults 

Audit Activity: Deaths and Discharges Limited Assurance Follow Up

Background
The demand for external care services for adults within Gloucestershire over recent years 
has placed significant pressure upon the Council’s Adult Services external care budget. The 
prompt notification of deaths and discharges is pivotal to the accuracy of the budget 
monitoring/forecasting process and payments to providers.

During 2015/16 Internal Audit undertook a review of the effectiveness of the current systems 
and processes in place for the receipt of notification of a service user’s death or discharge 
from permanent care. 

The findings emanating from the 2015/16 Internal Audit review resulted in a limited 
assurance opinion being given in respect of the control environment, with ten 
recommendations. The key areas for improvement were contract monitoring, data quality, 
staff training, management and monitoring of direct payments and information management. 

The audit recommendations aimed to not only strengthen the governance and internal 
control environment, but to also highlight improvement suggestions for consideration by 
management and if implemented, should also have supported the Council’s drive for further 
corporate and service efficiencies. 

Scope
To review whether the recommendations emanating from the 2015/16 Internal Audit review 
have now been fully implemented (excluding the recommendation pertaining to the 
management and monitoring of Direct Payments, as this area will be subject to a separate 
review by Internal Audit during 2017/18). 

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
Since the review was undertaken in 2015/16 there has been considerable organisational 
change management, including structure, cultural and business processes. The key points to 
note are that:

 The Commissioning Personalisation and Children’s (CPAC) team has been 
dispersed however, the respective recommendations now sit within the 
Commissioning Brokerage Older People (CBOP) team and is under new 
management;

Page 102



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

6

 ERIC (the Council’s electronic social care record) finance functionality has been 
replaced with a new finance module, ContrOCC;

 During the project implementation phase of ContrOCC, management made a 
conscious decision to limit the number of staff who have write access to the system 
in a bid to minimise the opportunity for input errors/improve data quality; and

 The way in which providers are paid who support clients within the all age all 
disabilities category and for some providers who deliver domiciliary care to clients 
(older people category), has changed with the introduction of an Electronic Call 
Monitoring system, one of the objectives being to streamline financial processes.

It is pleasing to report that the agreed management actions to address the recommendations 
emanating from the 2015/16 review have all been taken forward. It is evident that:

 The Director of Operations: Adult Services and Business Development and the 
Head of Financial Management have both explored different avenues to ascertain 
whether Registrars ‘death data’ can be shared with the Council. At this point in time 
it is still not possible to obtain bulk death data due to the legislative restrictions on 
the disclosure of Death Registration information. 

Going forward this information could be shared under the new Digital Economy Act 
2017, once a statutory Code of Practice is introduced which will ensure that security 
arrangements, rights of recourse for citizens, data standards and transparency 
requirements are fully covered. Management will however need to continue to 
proactively pursue this issue with the local Registrar’s office as they have advised 
Internal Audit that they will await contact from partner organisations.    

 From discussions held with key officers, examination of source records, and the 
relevant minutes of the monthly Governance of Adult Processes and Systems 
meetings it is evident that actions have been taken to try to improve data quality 
and standardise systems and processes. This has been achieved through:

o The delivery of set pieces of work;

o Greater restrictions upon access rights to ContrOCC;

o The introduction of additional, and refresh of existing written procedural 
guidance (CBOP and Disability Commissioning team);

o Staff training sessions (CBOP) to ensure that any changes to 
ERIC/ContrOCC records are promptly and correctly actioned; and

o A consistent approach to monitoring provider compliance for the notification of 
a death, departure, or absence and the agreed sanction for repeated non-
compliance (Disability Commissioning team). 

Page 103



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

7

       Some minor improvements to the current procedural guidance (CBOP, Disability 
Commissioning team and within the Admin Process Manual) in respect of prompts 
for greater vigilance when entering data when a service user is known to be 
deceased, and placement of the 4A notification form onto the Documents section 
within ERIC could further strengthen the agreed processes and ensure consistency 
of service user records. Audit recommendation raised. 

 The monitoring arrangements within the CBOP team in respect of provider 
compliance against the contractual terms for sending in the notification 4A forms 
could be strengthened and embedded into the wider market management/contract 
monitoring information that is collated. 

Internal Audit tested the level of provider compliance with the contractual terms for 
sending in notification 4A forms. For the period 01.04.2017-31.10.2017 53 
notifications were received, of these 59% fell outside of a two day notification period 
(as per the contractual terms) and it was evident that for one home that there were 
five instances of significant late notification periods, ranging from 45 to 102 days.

It is acknowledged by management however that the control environment for 
contract monitoring will change pending the go live date for the provider portal 
within ContrOCC (management anticipate that this will be piloted prior to the 
beginning of the next financial year), negating the need for notification 4A forms to 
be completed/returned by providers. 

Given the timeline for the introduction of the provider portal, management may wish 
to give consideration as to whether resource should be deployed to strengthen the 
control environment in the interim period or formally acknowledge/document within 
their risk register that the level of risk exposure is within the service’s current risk 
appetite. Audit recommendation raised.

 The actions taken to date have resulted in a significant improvement in the number 
of invoice queries/outstanding payment queries held by Care Services Finance 
however, one area that still needs strengthening is the closure of records within 
ERIC for deceased service users, in particular in relation to Countywide services. 

 It is encouraging that the current number of open cases is now 60% less than it was 
in 2015/16 and the volume of open services has also reduced by approximately 
55% from the 2015/16 figure however, this is an area that management will need to 
give greater focus to given the proposal for the replacement of ERIC and the new 
General Data Protection Regulations, which become effective on 25th May 2018.

Conclusion
It is pleasing to report that the agreed management actions to address the recommendations 
emanating from the 2015/16 review have all been taken forward. The organisational change 
management, including structure, cultural and business processes have all had a positive 
impact upon strengthening the control environment of the area under review. Further 
pending known changes, such as the ability to share bulk death data and the use of the 
ContrOCC provider portal should continue to further enhance the control environment.   

Page 104



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

8

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the two medium priority recommendations made 
and a formal action plan has been agreed to address the issues highlighted by this review.

Service Area: Core Council – Asset Management and Property Services 
(AMPS)

Audit Activity: Dynamic Purchasing System  

Background
The Asset Management Property Services (AMPS) have a Dynamic Purchasing System 
(DPS) in place which is used for awarding contracts for routine building maintenance and 
minor works. The DPS is administered using the restricted procedure and other conditions 
set out in Regulation 34 of the Public Contract Regulations 2015.

The Council operates the DPS within AMPS for building, mechanical and electrical works 
within the financial value £15,000 to £150,000 and has been operating since 2015.

Scope
The agreed audit scope was to provide the Council with assurance on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of processes and controls for compliance with Regulation 34 of the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015, including:

 Review of the existing procedure notes and/ or process map for the DPS - with the 
objective of considering clarity, completeness, compliance with relevant regulations 
and integration with other relevant systems used by the Council;

 Review of the DPS contract awards, to assess compliance with Regulation 34 of the 
Public Contract Regulations 2015;

 Assessment of the DPS project inspection process to confirm that the final 
inspection is suitably documented for contract awards;

 The DPS is administered so that contract awards are based on a transparent and 
impartial basis; and

 The DPS process is objectively run, so that the actions taken to mitigate the risks of 
bribery and corruption are in place.

Audit testing was completed on a sample of DPS schemes from the period 2015/16 to 
2017/18 up to the point of audit. 

Page 105



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

9

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory 

Control Assurance – Satisfactory 

Key Findings
The DPS audit scope control objectives were assessed by Internal Audit through discussion 
with relevant officers, audit sample testing and review of available supporting 
documentation.

The Internal Audit results confirmed that the existing control environment for DPS was 
compliant with Public Contract Regulations 2015 (from registration, contractor evaluation, 
contract awards to completion of works) and Council procedures, bar from the following 
observations:

 Publication of DPS contract awards on the ProContract South West IT portal is not 
completed in compliance with the Public Contract Regulations 2015; and 

 Contract awards in excess of £15,000 are not published on Gov.uk Contract Finder 
in compliance with the Crown Commercial Service Procurement Policy Note 3/15.

Audit review also identified the potential to further strengthen DPS audit trail through 
retention of the DPS project final inspection certificates on the Technology Forge property 
system.

Conclusion
Based on the audit testing outcomes, satisfactory assurance can be provided that the 
Council’s DPS processes and controls are mainly compliant with the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015. Three medium priority audit recommendations have been raised to further 
strengthen DPS controls and enable full compliance with the regulations.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the Internal Audit recommendations made.

Service Area: Core Council – Business Service Centre (BSC)

Audit Activity: Vendor Master Data  

Background
Vendor master data governance (including controls, accuracy and management information) 
is a key element of the Council’s overarching creditors approach. The integrity and 
safeguarding of contractors and suppliers detailed business records requires a robust set of 
procedures and controls to mitigate the risk of financial fraud and payment error.

Page 106



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

10

The BSC Payments Team is responsible for the maintenance of the Council’s SAP (financial 
management system) Accounts Payable module relating to vendor master data. 

Scope
The agreed audit scope was to provide the Council with assurance on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the processes and control arrangements for vendor master data, including: 

 Inspection of the existing procedure to set up new and amend vendor master data, 
to confirm the process and ascertain whether regular review of SAP creditor 
processes (and update where required) occurs;

 Review of the SAP user access profiles for BSC staff able to create/amend vendor 
records, to demonstrate restricted access relevant to the staff responsibility level;

 Key control testing by sample approach for a) new vendors and b) amendments to 
existing vendor records – to consider segregation of staff duties, controls and 
compliance with the Council vendor master data procedure;

 Review of the existing arrangements for vendor master data file periodic review, 
data cleansing and deletion;

 Consideration/Evidence that service departments have instigated any changes to 
service contracts vendor details, as a result of being informed of change in vendor 
master data; and

 Confirmation whether contract tendering/review procedures (e.g. future contract 
system specifications at the financial bid stage) include a process to consider wider 
implications (e.g. contract amendment) as a result of vendor master data changes.

The audit scope was limited to Gloucestershire County Council vendor master data only. 
Audit testing was completed on a sample of 2017/18 vendor master data transactions 
including periods 1 to 6. 

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory 

Control Assurance – Satisfactory 

Key Findings
The audit scope control objectives were assessed and tested by Internal Audit. The internal 
audit results confirmed that the existing control environment for processing vendor master 
data was soundly managed. Previous (2015/16) Internal Audit recommendations on bank 
mandate data have been fully implemented by the BSC and were evident within the current 
vendor master data process and control approach. 

The audit also identified two observations where an improvement in vendor master data 
governance should be considered and actioned:

Page 107



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

11

 While the BSC processes vendor master data, the formal data owner role (service 
and lead officer) for vendor master data is currently unallocated within the Council; 
and

 Data cleansing of vendor master data is not currently a planned, regular and 
resourced control. It is noted that a one off data cleansing review was completed 
through the BSC Payments Team within 2017/18; however this was due to short 
term capacity through temporary resource.  

Two audit recommendations have been raised based on the above findings. 

Conclusion
Based on the audit review and testing outcomes, satisfactory assurance can be provided on 
both vendor master data risk identification maturity and the control environment. Two 
medium priority audit recommendations have been raised to further strengthen vendor 
master data governance.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the Internal Audit recommendations made.

Service Area: Core Council - HR

Audit Activity: Settlement Agreements

Background
Employees may have claims against their employer under both their contract of employment 
and under statute.  In the United Kingdom, a settlement agreement is a legally binding 
agreement between an employer and its employee (or ex-employee) under which the 
employee receives consideration – often a negotiated financial sum – in exchange for 
agreeing that he or she will have no further claim against the employer.

Settlement agreements came into effect in July 2013 (they were previously known as 
severance or compromise agreements) and a statutory code of practice was produced at 
that time, together with detailed guidance on their use.

The Council may enter into settlement agreements with employees to enable the contract of 
employment to be terminated without the risk of the employee taking the Council to an 
expensive employee tribunal.  Some agreements may arise following grievances raised 
through the grievance procedure.

Between June 2015 and April 2017, the Council made settlement payments to ten members 
of staff.

Page 108



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

12

Scope
The audit reviewed settlement agreements paid since 2015, to establish the rationale for 
recommending an agreement and to ensure that they complied with the Council’s policies 
and procedures, as well as statutory guidance.  The audit also reviewed the treatment of tax 
on payments.

The audit scope did not include settlement agreements in relation to schools.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
The Internal Audit review and testing confirmed that the Council’s settlement agreements 
reached between June 2015 and April 2017 were compliant with the statutory code of 
practice and the forms which were reviewed had been authorised by the appropriate officers.

The main findings from the audit were:

 The process is not documented with clearly defined roles. Whilst HR staff will be 
aware of their responsibilities, the roles and responsibilities of all individuals 
involved should be defined and documented in order to ensure that a consistent 
approach is applied to all cases;

 A breakdown of the settlement payment calculation is not always provided on the 
authorisation for payment form.  This does not provide clarity for the officers who 
are required to authorise the settlement payment on how the figures were reached.  
In addition, where a total sum, rather than a breakdown is given, this could include 
certain elements which should have been subject to tax;

 The files for all of the agreements paid during June 2015 and April 2017 were 
reviewed.  The expected paperwork was found on the files for the majority of cases 
although a signed authorisation for payment form could not be found for one 
individual and a signed settlement agreement could not be found for another 
individual i.e. a complete audit trail was not evidenced;

 The security of paperwork held by the BSC which is waiting to be scanned needs 
reviewing to ensure that confidential paperwork cannot be inappropriately 
accessed.

Conclusion
Internal Audit has made five recommendations to address the findings emanating from the 
review.  Consideration and implementation of the recommendations will ensure that a 
consistent and transparent approach is applied to all cases.

Page 109



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

13

Management Actions
Management has responded positively to the recommendations made in respect of the 
identified issues.

Service Area: Children and Families

Audit Activity: Supporting People – Contract Management and Governance

Background
Gloucestershire’s Supporting People programme provides housing-related support to a 
number of vulnerable clients to help them live independently. The groups of service users 
covered by the programme include older people, people with physical disabilities, mental 
health, drug or alcohol problems, ex-offenders and homeless young people. 

In recent years, Gloucestershire has been managing a significantly reducing Supporting 
People programme which has seen budgets reduced from the £21.1m in 2011/12 to £10.7m 
in 2016/17. Services are delivered by external providers through a number of both high and 
low value contracts. 

Scope
The objective of this audit was to review the contract management, governance and 
performance monitoring arrangements for the Supporting People programme. In particular 
that the:

 Arrangements established by the service are aligned to the principles of the 
Council’s Contract Management Framework;  

 Contracts awarded to providers are compliant with procurement legislation and the 
award decision is in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation and the decision 
has been appropriately recorded; and 

 Payments made to the providers are in accordance with agreed contractual terms 
and conditions.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
 The Council’s Strategy 2011-15 to deliver the Supporting People programme for 

Gloucestershire was formally endorsed by Cabinet. This has subsequently been 
incorporated into the Council’s Settled, Secure and Safe Lives in Gloucestershire 
Policy which was approved by Cabinet on 20th April 2016; 

Page 110



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

14

 Through the authorisations received from Cabinet, the Lead Commissioner: 
Supporting People (in consultation with the Commissioning Director: Children) has 
commissioned service provision from care providers; 

 The contracts subsequently awarded are in accordance with the delegated authority 
and in line with the information presented to Cabinet. However audit review did 
highlight that of the 16 decisions taken to award or extend the contract eight (50%) 
had not been formally documented by the decision maker and therefore had not 
been submitted to Democratic Services Unit for publication. The degree of non-
compliance appears to have been heightened since November 2015; 

 Each contract has a nominated contract manager who has attended the Council’s 
required training and gained the ‘Passport to Practice contract management’ 
accreditation;  

 Meetings are taking place with each provider on a quarterly and annual basis to 
review and evaluate performance. This process is as expected under the Councils 
agreed Contract Management Framework which was approved by the Council’s 
Corporate Management Team in July 2013;    

 Internal Audit reviewed nine out of 36 contracts and found that:

o The documentation relating to five was considered current and fully 
compliant;

o The documentation for three contained material discrepancies where the term 
was incorrect and did not contain any ‘clause’ allowing the Council the option 
to extend for further periods (as had been envisaged) although in practice this 
had occurred; 

o The documentation for one contract had expired in 2009 but the 
arrangements with the provider have continued thereafter. In essence this 
provision may be considered to be outside of the main Supporting People 
programme and a service review has been completed to decide how to take 
this forward; and

o Two contracts had been subject to significant pricing changes where the 
variations had not been documented and formally signed off by the Council 
and the provider. It is also evident that the commissioners are not giving the 
appropriate notice period (as stipulated within the contract documentation) to 
the provider when looking to extend the term. 

 The contracts (included in this review) are classed as “Block Gross Non-
chargeable” and therefore will not automatically change in value through variations 
in demand. The payments to the provider are processed through the Council’s 
ContrOCC System (the adult social care finance module) on a four weekly cycle for 
a value of 1/13th of the annual contract sum. 

Page 111



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

15

Internal Audit reviewed the payments made to these providers which provided good 
assurance that the payments were in line with expectations.  

Conclusion
The commissioning requirements for the Supporting People programme continue to be 
challenging and complex with many crossovers between the client groups. 

The Internal Audit completed in 2013/14 highlighted that significant progress had been made 
in regularising the historic contractual arrangements (which were considered to be non-
compliant with legislation) whilst also acknowledging that further work was required.  

Internal Audit concludes that good progress has been made in this area, albeit basic 
omissions evident within the replacement contract documentation for three of the nine 
contracts is a concern.  Consequently, whilst overall, the control environment is evaluated as 
satisfactory, going forward the service should ensure that:

 Delegated decisions taken by officers are formally documented; 

 Contract documentation is accurately drafted; and 

 Contract variations are appropriately recorded and formally signed off by both 
parties.  

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the recommendations made and a formal action 
plan has been agreed to address the issues highlighted by this review.

Summary of Substantial Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Communities and Infrastructure

Audit Activity: GFirst LEP – Managing Conflicts of Interest

Background
In June 2011, the Secretary of State granted Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) status to 
GFirst Ltd. The Government has made various funding streams available (e.g. Growing 
Places £8.4m and Local Growth Deal £106.6m) where the LEP is heavily involved in the 
decision making process as to how the money is subsequently allocated and spent. 

All of the funding is paid to the Council in the first instance as the Accountable Body and due 
to the high risk to the Council from this role it is important that the governance arrangements 
for the award of funding within GFirst LEP are robust.

Page 112



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

16

Scope
This audit reviewed the policies and procedures for managing conflicts of interest and 
related party transactions for LEP Board members and GFirst LEP company officers.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Substantial

Key Findings

LEP Board
The structure, roles and responsibilities of the LEP Board are set out in the Local Assurance 
Framework.  All LEP Board members are Directors of GFirst LEP Community Interest 
Company (CiC).  As such they are governed by the requirements of the Articles of 
Association in declaring conflicts of interest.  They complete a Declaration of Conflicts of 
Interest/Related Party Transaction document on an annual basis.  The forms for 2017/18 
were outstanding at the time of the audit but the process was implemented immediately to 
obtain the information from the LEP Board members.

In addition to the above record of interests, the LEP Board members are required to provide 
any updates to their declarations of interest at each LEP Board meeting (standing agenda 
item) and these are published on the GFirst website.  The wording of the standing agenda 
item could be enhanced to provide more guidance to members as to what is expected.

The minutes of the LEP Board meetings (as published on the GFirst website) show that the 
above procedures are operating in practice but this still relies on LEP Board members to 
voluntarily declare any pecuniary or personal interests that they may have.  Decisions for the 
award of funding are properly recorded with LEP Board members declaring any interests 
and leaving the meetings where appropriate.

GFirst LEP CiC 
In addition to the declarations of interest that are maintained for the Directors of GFirst LEP 
CiC, a record of interests is also maintained for all employees of GFirst LEP CiC.  This is 
important because the staff work on projects and provide advice to the LEP Board where 
funding decisions are made.  All the Declarations of Interest for staff for 2017/18 were in 
place including for the Chief Executive of GFirst LEP CiC who is also the Chair of the 
Investment Panel and provides advice to the LEP Board as an ex-officio Director.

Conclusion
There are systems and procedures in place, both within GFirst LEP CiC and the operation of 
the LEP Board to ensure that declarations of interest are recorded, updated and declared 
where necessary when funding decisions are made by the LEP Board.

Page 113



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

17

Management Actions
No audit recommendations were raised as a result of Internal Audit review.  

Service Area: Strategic Finance

Audit Activity: Treasury Management

Background
Treasury management is defined as the management of an organisation’s investments and 
cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control 
of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks. 

It is a high risk area due to the high value of transactions, which can be made on a daily 
basis. As at 31st March 2017, the Council’s statement of accounts 2016/17 balance sheet 
confirmed the Council held £316m of investments (including long and short term investments 
and cash and cash equivalents) and £327m of borrowings (long and short term). 

The Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (2011 Edition) as 
part of the Financial Regulations set out in the Council Constitution.

Scope
The objectives of the audit were to review:

 The Council treasury management strategy, policy and procedure to confirm 
compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice; and 

 The processes and internal controls in operation for the:

o Day to day operation and management of the function (including transaction 
decision making, authorisation and audit trail); 

o Use of brokers and specialist advisers;

o Reconciliation of control accounts; and

o Performance reporting to relevant stakeholders. 

The audit scope focus was the Council’s treasury management activity only. The audit scope 
did not include review of treasury management activity actioned by the Council on behalf of 
the Pension Fund.

Page 114



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

18

Risk Assurance – Substantial 

Control Assurance – Substantial 

Key Findings
The audit identified many areas of good practice within the Council’s current treasury 
management processes and controls, including (but not exclusive to):

 The Member approved GCC Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy for 2017/18 was confirmed as in accordance with the CIPFA 
Code of Practice and legislation;

 Treasury management reporting arrangements (to Officers and Members) were 
also confirmed as in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice;

 Procedures within the service are well managed and operating effectively;

 Segregation of duty and complete audit trail was evident for audit sampled treasury 
management transaction decision making, authorisation and completion;

 Treasury management control account reconciliations were confirmed as complete 
and up to date at the point of audit;

 Audit sample testing of prudential indicators within 2017/18 found those tested to be 
in line with supporting audit trail and accurately calculated;

 It was apparent that the department takes a pragmatic approach to treasury 
management to ensure the achievement of optimum performance consistent with 
the Council’s risk appetite; and

 The Council have a suitable fidelity guarantee insurance policy in place.  

It is noted that the audit reviewed Council compliance with the CIPFA Treasury Management 
in the Public Services: Code of Practice (2011 Edition). CIPFA are due to release the CIPFA 
Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (2017 Edition) in December 
2017. Verbal assurance has been provided by the Finance Manager: Planning and Treasury 
that once released, the team plan to review the 2017 Code in detail and will ensure that any 
relevant Code changes are taken into consideration through the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy for 2018/19.

Conclusion
Internal Audit review and sample testing found the expected processes and controls in place 
to ensure that the Council treasury management activity is compliant with the CIPFA 
Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (2011 Edition). 

Page 115



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

19

Management Actions
No audit recommendations were raised as a result of Internal Audit review.  

Summary of consulting activity, grant certification and/or support delivered 
where no opinions are provided

Service Area: Grant Certification (Communities)

Audit Activity: Bus Subsidy Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant

Background
On 11th  April 2016 a letter was issued by the Department for Transport (DfT) confirming the 
payment of £458,365 to the Council as a grant to cover the period 1st April 2016 to 31st 
March 2017. The purpose of the grant is to provide support to local authorities in England 
towards expenditure lawfully incurred or to be incurred by them.

The Bus Subsidy Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant may only be used for the purpose of 
supporting bus services (including community transport services under a section 19 permit), 
or for the provision of infrastructure supporting such services in that authority’s, or 
neighbouring authority’s, area. The letter stated that the DfT reserve the right to request 
data/information from local authorities and other Local Decision Bodies on the way in which 
devolved funds have been used and the cost of the services/infrastructure bought with the 
funds. 

Scope
The Chief Executive and the Chief Internal Auditor were required to return to DfT a 
declaration by 30th September 2017 in the following terms: 

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate investigations 
and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to the Local 
Authority Bus Subsidy Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant Determination 2016/17 have been 
complied with.”

Key Findings
 The Council received funding of £458,365 under the Local Authority Bus Subsidy 

Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant Determination [31/2783] scheme; 

 £202,130.69 has been attributed and coded within SAP to fuel costs to bus 
operators for the financial year 2016/17;

 Management have advised Internal Audit that the balance of the grant has been 
attributed to supporting bus contracts for the provision of Rural and Urban Bus 
Services during the financial year 2016/17, although this is not separately 
identifiable within the contracts;

Page 116



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

20

 The survey has been completed by the Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) and the 
information has been uploaded to the Council’s website with a link being sent to the 
DfT as required by the grant determination; and

 The total expenditure of £4,311,049 for tendered bus services in 2016/17, as 
recorded within the survey, includes approximate expenditure of £150,000 for 
services prior to 2016/17. Therefore the survey is not an entirely accurate 
representation of expenditure for 2016/17 services.

Conclusions
From a review of the invoices paid in 2016/17 and the contract arrangements with bus 
operators, Internal Audit was able to gain assurance that the expenditure was in accordance 
with the requirements of the grant determination. However, due to the inclusion of payments 
for services prior to 2016/17, the survey completed and returned to the DfT is not an entirely 
accurate representation of tendered services for 2016/17.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the requirement to ensure that accurate figures 
are reported in the survey in future years.

Summary of Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities

Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities

The Counter Fraud Team within Internal Audit has received 12 new referrals in 2017/18, and 
also continued to work on 9 cases from previous years. One of the brought forward cases 
has now been completed in 2017/18. This has previously been reported to Audit and 
Governance Committee.

Referrals in 2017/18

Of the 12 cases received in 2017/18 four have been closed, and a further eight are nearing 
completion. One of these has previously been reported to Audit and Governance Committee. 
Of the other three closed cases one related to removal of physical assets from Council 
premises, which belonged to the Council and were found to be for sale on eBay. This matter 
was reported to the Police, as it was believed the items had been stolen, but they felt that 
there was ambiguity about whether or not the individual had been given permission to take 
the items. The two items of value have been returned to the Council. The second closed 
case has been passed to the Adults team as it was deemed to be a care issue and not a 
financial one, and the third case of alleged missing school dinner monies was not proven, 
although a report to the Headteacher and Governors highlighted a number of 
recommendations in respect of process improvements at the school. 

Page 117



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

21

The service areas of the cases referred to Internal Audit within 2017/18 to date are 
categorised as follows: Adults (3); Children and Families (4); Adults and Children and 
Families (2); and Council Wide (3). 

Many of the cases referred to Internal Audit involve intricate detail and Police referral. This 
invariably results in a delay before the investigation can be classed as closed and reported 
to the Audit and Governance Committee.

National Fraud Initiative (NFI)

Internal Audit continues to support the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) which is a biennial data 
matching exercise administered by the Cabinet Office. The data sets required were 
submitted through the web portal in October 2016 and data match reports have been 
received and mostly reviewed.

Internal Audit has previously reported a case of undeclared income which has resulted in a 
service user becoming a self funder and a recovery of just under £31k, plus overpayment of 
pensions amounting to the around £40k. 

Page 118



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion

Reported to Audit 

and Governance 

Committee

Comments

Council Wide Staff Travel Documentation Medium Planned

Council Wide Supporting Transformational Change High Consultancy Reported in 2017/18 annual report

Council Wide Compliance with Transparency Agenda High Audit in Progress

Council Wide Staff Expenses Claims High Audit in Progress Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan

Core Council - HR Approval of Payments for Agency Staff High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 06/10/2017 Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan

Core Council - HR Recruitment and Promotion Limited Assurance Follow Up High Planned

Core Council - HR Settlement Agreements High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 26/01/2018

Core Council - HR Retirement Schemes High Planned Terms of Reference issued

Core Council - ICT Sopra Steria Improvement Plan High Audit in Progress

Core Council - ICT IT Disaster Recovery High Audit in Progress

Core Council - ICT Non Approved ICT Provision High Audit in Progress

Core Council - ICT Cyber Security (SAP) - Follow Up High Audit in Progress

Core Council - ICT Data Storage - Follow Up High Audit in Progress

Core Council - ICT Website Security (including Library Website Payments) Medium Audit in Progress

Core Council - AMPS Contractor Partnering Framework Agreement: Major Construction Works High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 06/10/2017 Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan

Core Council - AMPS Property Services Contracts High Planned

Core Council - AMPS Dynamic Purchasing System - (Asset Management and Property Services 

(AMPS)

High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 26/01/2018

Core Council - Legal Services External Legal Services Medium Planned

Core Council - BSC Duplicate Payments - Fiscal Technology High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 06/10/2017 Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan

Core Council - BSC Payroll - Accuracy of Payments High Audit in Progress

Core Council - BSC Vendor Master Data High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 26/01/2018

Strategic Finance Budget Setting High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 06/10/2017 Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan

Strategic Finance Special Payments made through Bankers' Automated Clearing Services 

(BACS)

Medium Planned

Strategic Finance Traded Services High Cancelled Changes in Management. To be considered for 

2018/19 plan

Strategic Finance Treasury Management High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 26/01/2018

Strategic Finance Compliance with debt policy High Planned Terms of Reference issued

Adults Annual Care Assessment Process (re-assessment reviews) High Audit in Progress Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan

Adults Contract Management Arrangements Adults and Public Health High Planned Internal Audit in dialogue with directors to 

consider re-focussing relevant scope

Adults Electronic Call Monitoring (ECM) - All Ages All Disabilities High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 06/10/2017 Please note split opinion on control (see report)

Adults Electronic Call Monitoring (ECM) - Older People (OP) High Planned Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan

Adults Financial Assessment and Benefits Team Limited Assurance Follow Up High Planned Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan

Adults Brokerage - Disabilities High Planned

Adults Brokerage - Older People High Planned

Adults Client Contributions - Limited Assurance Follow-Up High Planned

Adults ContrOCC - Adults High Planned

Adults Deaths and Discharges - Limited Assurance Follow Up High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 26/01/2018

Adults Direct Payments (Adults) High Audit in Progress

Adults Gloucestershire Industrial Services (GIS) Healthcare - Procurement High Planned

Adults Mental Health Services High Planned

Adults Standards of Proficiency for Social Workers High Consultancy Reported in 2017/18 annual report

Adults Support Planning - Older People Personal Care High Planned

Children & Families ContrOCC (Children's) High Planned Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan

Children & Families Review of Contract Monitoring of Schools Catering Contract High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 06/10/2017 Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan

Children & Families Section 17 - Children's Act Spend (non-Auriga) Medium Cancelled Cancelled at client's request due to OFSTED.  

To be considered for 2018/19 plan.

Children & Families Section 20 - Children's Act High Final Report Issued Limited Limited 06/10/2017

Children & Families Recoupment Medium Draft Report Issued

Children & Families Alternative Provision School (APS) Medium Planned

Children & Families Children in Care – Intensive Service Development Project Medium Consultancy Reported in 2017/18 annual report

Children & Families Education Service High Cancelled Audit scope to be defined following service 

restructure. To be considered for 2018/19 plan.

Children & Families PACE (Police and Criminal Evidence Act) Protocol High Planned

Children & Families Schools High Audit in Progress Outcomes relating to schools audited reported 

in 2017/18 annual report

Children & Families Special Educational Needs (SEN) Education only placement High Planned

Children & Families Special Educational Needs (SEN) Joint Social Care and Education Funded 

Placement

High Planned

Page 1 of 2

P
age 119



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion

Reported to Audit 

and Governance 

Committee

Comments

Children & Families Supporting People – Contract Management and Governance High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 26/01/2018

Children & Families Troubled Families Grant I High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable Reported in 2017/18 annual report

Children & Families Troubled Families Grant II High Planned

Children & Families Liquid Logic - Follow Up High Audit in Progress Terms of Reference issued

Children & Families Direct Payments (Childrens) Limited Assurance Follow Up High Planned

Communities Administration Hub - Follow Up High Planned

Communities Public Transport Contracts - Decision Making Limited Assurance Follow Up High Planned Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan

Communities Street Works High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 06/10/2017

Communities Transforming Care Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017

Communities Bus Subsidy Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 26/01/2018

Communities Community Capacity Grants High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017

Communities Community Transport Medium Planned

Communities Disabled Facilities Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017

Communities Fire and Rescue Authorities Grants High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017

Communities Fleet Management High Planned

Communities GfirstLep – Managing Conflicts of Interest High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 26/01/2018

Communities Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) – Health and Safety High Planned Terms of Reference issued

Communities Highways and Transportation Services Contract High Planned

Communities Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017

Communities Invoice verification - Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) High Audit in Progress

Communities Local Authority Major Project Grant (Elmbridge) High Planned

Communities Local Growth Fund High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017

Communities Local Transport Capital Block Funding High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017

Communities Pothole Action Fund High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017

Communities Section 106 Agreements – Bond Policy High Planned

Communities Section 38 and 278 Agreements Medium Planned

Communities Social Care (Capital) Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017

Communities Transforming Care Grant 2016/17 High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 06/10/2017 New Activity

Communities Transforming Care Grant 2017/18 High Audit in Progress

Communities GFRS Business Continuity Management High Audit in Progress

Pensions Pension Payments High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 06/10/2017 Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan

Pensions Pensions Cash Payments High Planned

Pensions Information and Cyber Security - Pensions High Audit in Progress

Pensions Admitted Bodies High Planned

Pensions BSC Pensions High Planned Terms of Reference issued

Exempt Report High Final Report Issued Limited Limited 06/10/2017 Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan

Exempt Report High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 06/10/2017 Brought Forward from 2016/17 plan

Page 2 of 2

P
age 120



Report to Audit and Governance Committee 26th January 2018 on 
actions taken in relation to key recommendations made in the audit 
report relating to the audit of Approval of Payments to Agency Staff

Lead Officer: Luke Davies/Mandy Quayle

Presenting officer (if different to above)

Summary of Audit Area 

The contract to supply agency workers was retendered in 2016/17 and was 
taken over by the new provider, de Poel, in October 2016.  Agency staff are 
engaged by Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) through this organisation 
which acts as a broker to liaise with recruitment agencies, rather than GCC 
dealing directly with them.  In addition, the organisation ensures that all 
necessary recruitment checks have been completed by the agencies in 
advance, with the goal to save time for GCC recruitment staff and enabling 
the agency worker to start without any delay.

The contractor’s timesheet and vacancy management system (e-tips) 
requires GCC managers to approve agency worker’s timesheets on a weekly 
basis, however should they fail to do this, e-tips will auto-approve the 
timesheets to enable the individual agencies to pay their staff.  To put the 
audit into context, during February 2017, 392 agency staff timesheets were 
submitted, totalling £348,828.

Summary Terms of Reference of the Audit

The audit reviewed:

 The operating effectiveness of the systems and processes in place for 
authorising timesheets and payment of invoices (in particular 
timesheets which are auto-approved for payment); and

 Whether there is a framework in place to enable compliance 
monitoring and that management action is being taken where there is 
a significant level of auto-approved timesheets being processed.

Risks

 Agency staff being paid for hours not worked;
 Duplicate or excessive payments made;
 Fraudulent payments made; and
 Budget overspend.

Page 121

Agenda Item 10



Key Findings

Finding

The audit review identified a number of areas of good practice present within the 
process for the approval of agency staff timesheets, including:

 E-tips system access is controlled through a user specific username and 
password and all system users are offered training;

 There are clear targets regards timesheet submission and approval 
timings, with timesheets which have not been approved by this deadline 
being auto-approved within e-tips;

 Monthly reporting from de Poel of the total number of processed 
timesheets and the number of auto-approvals, with detail by cluster area 
only; and

 Monthly contract monitoring sessions between de Poel and GCC (including 
representatives from HR, Adult Services and Children’s Services), which 
include review of de Poel reports and contract specific Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs).

The audit also identified a number of observations where an improvement in 
controls should be considered and actioned:

 The monthly reports from de Poel confirm that the current levels of agency 
timesheet auto-approval are significant e.g. 48% of timesheets were auto-
approved in February 2017, which is similar to other months.  The final 
quarter of 2016/17 showed a 56% auto-approval rate.  Discussion with 
officers confirmed that although this KPI is monitored through the contract 
monitoring meetings on a monthly basis, no targeted action at service/user 
level had been completed to date due to the current detail available within 
de Poel reports only being at cluster level.  It is understood that reports by 
responsible manager were part of the contractor’s tender submission; 

 Audit discussions with a sample of timesheet approvers identified that not 
all had been trained on the system; and

 Potential system improvements include e-mail notification to timesheet 
approvers that timesheets were awaiting approval within e-tips (a function 
available through the previous contract).

Recommendation

Management should review the current level of agency staff timesheets 
auto-approval and consider whether formal documented process change is 
required.

This should include (but is not exclusive to):

 Mandatory training for both new and existing system users;
 Update and re-communication of agency timesheet approval 

Page 122



requirements and confirmation of the monitoring approach; and
 Centralised monitoring of auto-approval rates at a service and user 

level, including targeted actions where levels of auto-approval are 
found to be inappropriate.

It is understood that an e-tips system upgrade is due within quarter two of 
2017/18.  The above points could be consolidated into an action plan, for 
delivery alongside and post system upgrade.

Action taken as at December 2017 and/or proposed:

Following the appointment of a new Recruitment & Resourcing Manager, BSC 
Recruitment Team have now started to review the level of auto-approvals being 
made and are currently working with de Poel to develop a more detailed report of 
auto-approval of timesheets at both a service and user level. More work is 
scheduled in relation to this for Q4 2017-18. 

Ahead of a planned launch of the new etips system all users were invited to 
attend refresher training – which included a section on time sheet approval 
process and the importance of signing off timesheets. 

DePoel also re-sent the guidance to users on how to complete the timesheeting 
function to refresh users on the importance of authorising timesheets and not 
letting them auto approve unless there is no other option. 

Unfortunately due to technical issues with the new etips system (in respect of 
migration of data from the existing to the new system) the roll out of the new etips 
has been delayed until Q4 2017-18. At the date of submission we are waiting on a 
confirmed date for transfer to the new system. 

Due to the original refresher training having taken place in August 2017 further 
refresher training will be arranged for all users. 
 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to the Audit and Governance Committee in January 2018 on the 
actions taken in relation to key recommendations made in the audit 
report relating to the audit of Electronic Call Monitoring – All Ages all 
Disabilities

Lead Officer: Jane Reid

Summary of Audit Area 

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) currently spends circa £24m per year 
on Learning Disability (LD) community based care support services. Prior to 
the introduction of electronic call monitoring (ECM), the Council was not 
easily able to substantiate the support hours provided and was therefore 
potentially paying for commissioned hours rather than the actual hours 
provided.

ECM is a system that records the attendance of support staff at a Service 
User’s (SUs) home using a landline telephone or simple alternatives such as 
using a mobile where a landline is not available or support takes place 
outside of the home. ECM allows for care delivery information to be provided 
in real-time and can aid the streamlining of financial processes, removing 
much of the administrative burden and expense of timesheet management 
and billing, alongside strengthening the contract monitoring agreements and 
offering additional safeguards for both SUs and staff.

The LD Commissioning team identified that over a three-year period, with a 
maximum spend of around £340,000 (managed from existing resources), the 
introduction of an ECM system could expect to yield the Council a net saving 
of between £1.75m to £2.55m across the LD community based care and 
support sector, supporting the drive for efficiency savings under the Council’s 
Meeting the Challenge 2 (MtC2) programme.

Page 125



Summary Terms of Reference of the Audit

The objectives of the audit were to:

1. Evaluate the effectiveness of the monitoring arrangements to ensure 
contract compliance i.e. delivery of commissioned hours and establish 
how any under provisions of support are managed and reported; 

2. Establish the frequency with which the reports available from the CCL! 
system are run and evaluate whether they are sufficiently detailed and 
accurate to meet the needs of the service; and

3. Review the process for identifying the savings achieved to-date together 
with the projected future savings. Ascertain how these figures are being 
reported as part of the MtC2 programme.

Risks

 Poor/inaccurate, or lack of contract management information;

 Contact deliverables are not being met, impacting on the Council’s 
strategic objectives and vulnerable members of the community;

 MTC2 efficiency saving targets are not realised;

 Safeguarding issues; and
 

 Damage to the Council’s reputation.

Page 126



Key Findings

The audit identified a number of improvement actions, these were:

 The review highlighted that implementation of ECM had not been without 
its teething problems. Some of the finance related tasks undertaken by the 
newly formed ECM team had turned out to be more resource intensive 
than originally anticipated. The arising issues have impacted upon 
Strategic Finance (SF) in respect of their ability to meet financial reporting 
deadlines. In addition, the current level of resource within the ECM team, 
have impeded the Service area’s ability to respond to financial queries on a 
timely basis and fulfil their roles and responsibilities for contract 
management/monitoring arrangements. 

 These issues placed additional pressure upon staff within SF and the ECM 
team during the 2015/16 closedown of accounts, and to avoid a recurrence 
of the financial reporting issues encountered, the ECM team and SF have 
been working together to improve and strengthen the working practices 
and processes regarding the recording and reporting of financial 
information, including MtC2 savings. However, whilst there have been 
improvements with the quality of information provided, SF still have 
concerns over the time taken by the ECM team to respond to some of the 
more ad hoc financial queries.

 Whilst it is commendable that the anticipated minimum 2015/16-2016/17 
MtC2 saving targets of £1.75m has been met/exceeded by £03.5m, due to 
the current lack of contract management/monitoring arrangements, the 
performance information that is available from the ECM system was not 
being fully utilised to aid the Council’s management of internal service 
areas, the marketplace and to help mitigate the inherent risks that could 
impact upon the Council fulfilling its statutory duties.
  
The savings that have been achieved to-date are as a direct result of an 
overall under provision of commissioned support hours. It is not known 
what impact this may or may not have on the SUs as this was outside the 
scope of this review. 

The ability to provide a timely response to financial queries remains 
challenging and the contract management and monitoring arrangements 
for provider compliance with the terms and conditions of ECM alongside 
other inter-related activities has been impeded with only ad hoc monitoring 
reports being run to resolve specific issues.

Sample testing undertaken by Internal Audit evidenced poor provider 
compliance with the use of the ECM system and whilst this may be due to 
the infancy of operating the ECM system, this may also be an indicator of 
fraudulent activity.

Page 127



 Internal Audit established that whilst at the project stage, adequate risk 
management arrangements were in place. However the audit identified that 
the risk register has not been updated/revised following the transition of 
ECM into business as usual.  

 A piece of work should now be undertaken to identify the associated key 
inherent risks and proportionate mitigating actions that should be taken to 
effectively manage these to an acceptable level. 

As a result of the findings identified, four high priority recommendations were 
raised, all aimed at strengthening the control environment, and placing the focus 
upon the need for management to review the level of staff resource required to 
fulfil the contract management and monitoring activities and risk management 
arrangements, to ensure that these are adequate to meet the requirements of the 
Council’s Contract Management Framework and Risk Management Strategy. 

Page 128



Action taken as at the end of December 2017 and/or proposed

Recommendation 1

Management should develop the risk management arrangements for ECM in line 
with the Council’s Risk Management Strategy. Going forward, the risk register 
should be maintained on an on-going basis and key risks associated with delivery 
priorities escalated accordingly.

We have worked with the Council’s Senior Risk Management Advisor on the Risk 
Register for ‘Business as Usual’.  This has been updated to reflect the current 
situation and will be updated on a quarterly basis going forward with the relevant 
escalation as required.

Recommendation 2

Management should review whether the current staff resource is sufficient to 
effectively undertake the associated financial administrative tasks required to 
enable the effective processing of ECM payments, monitoring of MtC2 savings, 
alongside the additional contract monitoring role that provides for a level of 
assurance over providers’ compliance against the contractual terms and 
conditions of ECM; delivery of commissioned support and other intelligence that 
may alert the Council to key issues such as potential safeguarding alerts, 
fraud/irregularities and the condition of the marketplace. 

The review of resource requirements should give consideration to the respective 
post holder’s roles and responsibilities and if appropriate, job descriptions should 
be amended accordingly.

There has been recruitment to the ECM Team of an additional ECM Officer for 
Disabilities, this post was effective from November 2017.  This additional resource 
will enable the team to ensure effective monitoring of the system to maximise 
savings but also to enable the identification of any safeguarding issues in a timely 
manner.

When each new team member has joined we have spent time going through local 
induction process to ensure they are fully aware of their role and responsibilities. 
There are weekly team meetings where there is the opportunity to discuss specific 
situations.  In addition to this we will be looking at the escalation process early in 
the new year to ensure the team are fully aware of when to escalate to the 
Commissioning Officers.

Page 129



Recommendation 3

Monitoring providers’ compliance against the contractual terms and conditions of 
ECM alongside the delivery of commissioned support hours should be 
incorporated into business as usual. 

Protocols will be put in place to share, as appropriate, data/intelligence that is 
gathered as part of the monitoring arrangements with the respective Contract 
Manager/Senior Responsible Officer and other key stakeholders such as: 
Commissioners, Operations, Quality, Brokerage, Safeguarding and Internal Audit, 
should fraud or an irregularity be suspected.

The additional resource will ensure we are able to facilitate effective compliance 
and follow up to escalate issues where appropriate in a timely manner , send 
appropriate reports to Commissioning, Operations Teams etc. to ensure they are 
aware of any issues that require follow up and detailing market analysis 
information.  It will also enable the swift response to ad hoc enquiries from our 
Quality Team for specific provider information.

In addition, it will also enable the team management to escalate any potential 
fraud/irregularity/delivery issues identified to the relevant tier of management 
within the organisation via the Council’s approved protocols.

Recommendation 4

The ECM team should ensure that all financial related queries (whether from the 
provider or Strategic Finance) are resolved in a timely manner, to keep the 
number of creditors to a minimum and allow for the accurate reporting of the MtC2 
savings. 

Any queries that cannot be dealt with promptly by the ECM Officer should be 
escalated to the Commissioning Officer and/or the Outcome Manager to expedite 
the resolution process.

When all ECM Officers are in post in January 2018, we will be looking to identify a 
number of key areas where clear guidance is required, on the internal escalation 
process.  This will ensure that ECM Officers can easily identify the point at which 
Commissioning Officer intervention is required.  This action should be completed 
by end of January 2018.

 

Page 130



Report to Audit and Governance Committee on 26th January 2018 on 
actions taken in relation to key recommendations made in the Section 
20 internal audit report

Lead Officer: Gill Horrobin

Presenting officer (if different to above): Gill Horrobin

Summary of Audit Area 
Local Authorities (LA) have a duty to identify children in need in their local 
area and to provide support and accommodation. The LA should undertake 
an assessment as set out in the Framework for the Assessment of Children 
in Need and their Families and then use the findings to determine whether 
the child should be provided with accommodation.

Section 20 agreements are voluntary arrangements between the LA and the 
parents, where the parents cannot provide their children with suitable 
accommodation or care on a temporary or permanent basis.  However, 
under these arrangements, parental responsibility remains solely with the 
parents until the child returns home (if reunification is the plan) and/or 
permanence plans are progressed through the courts, e.g. adoption, Special 
Guardianship Orders.

Recently published case law has highlighted increasing judicial concern 
regarding the misuse and abuse of section 20 agreements by LAs. There 
have been a host of recent cases in which LAs have been criticised for the 
following:

 Accommodating children under section 20 agreements for 
unacceptably long periods of time before issuing care proceedings;

 Obtaining consent to section 20 accommodation from parents lacking 
capacity to provide that consent;

 Placing parents under undue pressure to consent to section 20 
accommodation;

 Failing to explain sufficiently to parents the meaning of section 20 and 
their rights under this provision;

 Misunderstanding what section 20 requires by way of parental 
consent; and

 Exceeding and abusing the limitations of their powers under section 
20.

As at February 2016, the Council had 566 children in care of whom 213 
(38%) were looked after under a section 20 voluntary arrangement.  

Within 2015/16 and 2016/17, the Council has internally reviewed its section 
20 agreements (which can result in a rise in cases going into care 
proceedings as well as children being returned to their families) and initiated 
arrangements for improvement. 

Page 131



Summary Terms of Reference of the Audit
The objectives of the audit were to provide assurance that:

 Policies and procedures exist in relation to entering into and managing 
section 20 arrangements;

 Accountability and responsibilities have been appropriately assigned;
 Improvement actions developed from the internal review of section 20 

agreements have been fully implemented and embedded; 
 Legal and regulatory requirements are properly understood, managed 

and met;
 Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) clearly understand their role 

and responsibilities in the review and monitoring of section 20 
accommodation; and

 Section 20 agreements are monitored and reported to the relevant 
Board/Committee.

Risks
 Poor OFSTED outcomes, e.g. poor practice in achieving permanence 

for children in care;
 Children drifting in their plans with no progression towards 

permanence;
 Judicial criticism;
 Reputational damage (local and national due to media interest); 
 Inadequate monitoring of Section 20 accommodation; and
 The Council is unaware of the current number and status of Section 

20 agreements.

Page 132



Key Findings / Recommendations / Action taken as at the end of 
December 2017 and/or proposed

The section 20 internal audit identified a number of areas of good practice, 
which are also raised within the Ofsted inspection report dated 13th June 
2017. For example, internal audit review of the Liquidlogic system (the 
Children’s case management system) found that the information documented 
for each child is comprehensive and the history is extensive and detailed.
  
Internal Audit also identified a number of observations where an improvement 
in section 20 controls should be considered and actioned, including the 
following:

 Finding
Development and publication of a Council policy statement or strategy 
to confirm the Council’s position on child protection matters, 
particularly in relation to section 20 arrangements and objectives.

Recommendation 1
Although the Council is guided in its decision-making by the 
Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Child Protection Procedures, it 
should still issue a policy statement or strategy document to confirm its 
stance on child protection matters, particularly in relation to section 20 
arrangements.

Management response
A s20 Task & Finish Group was convened in response to the 
publication of a report in 2016. This followed a review of the use of s20 
for children in care commissioned by an independent consultant.  A 
statement clarifying the use of s20 was issued to all staff at that time 
(Lead: NC, Legal Section).  Guidance regarding use of s20 was 
reviewed and updated accordingly. This can be found in the Children & 
Families suite of procedures on the Intranet (under Decision to Look 
After and Care Planning).  This is separate to the suite of Child 
Protection Procedures found under the heading of the Gloucestershire 
Safeguarding Children Board Procedures.

 Finding
Development and issue of up-to-date local procedures for Council staff 
involved with the assessment, monitoring and management of children 
accommodated under section 20.

Recommendation 2
Local procedures should be developed for Council staff involved with 
the assessment, monitoring and management of children 
accommodated under section 20.  This should include guidance on 
completion of forms, recording, administration and monitoring of all 
such children.

Page 133



Management response
This recommendation was deemed to be not applicable. The response 
is as follows:

The procedure referred to under Management Response regarding 
Recommendation 1 is absolutely sufficient in terms of departmental 
guidance. It clarifies processes regarding entry to care under a s20 
arrangement, including the use of written agreements. It is impossible 
to legislate for each individual child upon admission in terms of the 
most appropriate legal route. Consultation will always take place with 
the legal section into thresholds accordingly. The procedure also 
clarifies the use of s20 prior to Court Proceedings.

All children in care will be subject to statutory reviewing processes 
which will address the ongoing appropriateness of the use of s20 for 
each child. Audit processes will also identify inappropriate use of s20.

 Finding
Update of the Council Constitution and relating Schemes of Delegation 
to clearly identify the Council officer responsible for managing, 
monitoring and reporting on section 20 arrangements.

Recommendation 3
The Council’s Constitution and related Schemes of Delegation should 
provide sufficient evidence to identify the Council officer responsible 
for managing, monitoring and reporting section 20 arrangements. 
In addition, roles and responsibilities of staff involved in managing the 
process should be documented to provide clarity and transparency for 
all staff.

Management response
This recommendation was deemed to be not applicable. The response 
is as follows:

Heads of Service must give agreement to a child becoming looked 
after under the appropriate legal route and this is specified in the 
Scheme of Delegation. Dialogue will take place regarding each entry to 
care, including with legal colleagues as appropriate. It is not 
appropriate to include an entry in the Scheme of Delegation regarding 
the specific use of s20. Roles and responsibilities are clarified within 
the departmental procedure regarding entry to care.

NB: The Strategic Lead for Children in Care is reviewing processes by 
which decisions are being made to bring children into the care system, 
as a key part of the Ofsted Improvement Plan.  A revised pilot process 
regarding decisions for entry to care will be implemented from the 
beginning of February 2018 and will be piloted for 2months.

 Finding
Review of the Permanence Improvement Action Plan position 

Page 134



(originally set up in 2015/16) to assess whether all actions have been 
fully implemented and continue to be applied by the Council.

Recommendation 4
A review should be undertaken to assess whether all actions on the 
Implementation Plan have now been implemented.  Where actions are 
still outstanding the responsible officer should provide an explanation 
of why this is the case given that the due date has now expired.

Management response
The Implementation Plan has been replaced by one overarching 
Improvement Plan which responds to the department’s Ofsted 
judgement. All related actions are included, specifically regarding 
permanency planning for children (not directly related to the use of 
s20). The specific recommendations regarding use of s20 within the 
‘old’ implementation plan have been addressed but further work is 
being progressed to tighten up the gatekeeping process regarding 
entry to care. This will include examining and tracking use of s20. This 
action is therefore ongoing and relates to the response for 
Recommendation 3.

 Finding
Audit testing of a sample of section 20 cases found:

o 8/20 (40%) and 12/50 (24%) overall 29% – No section 20 
agreement was located;

o 5/12 (42%) and 20/38 (53%) overall 54% – Agreements found 
were not dated;

o 5/38 (13%) – Agreements found not signed by Council Officer;
o 1/38 (3%) – Agreements found not signed by Child or 

Parent/Guardian; 
o 1/20 and 2/50 – The record was confidential and Internal Audit 

unable to access the account; 
o In 11/12 cases of the original 20 audit sample where 

agreements existed, the content of the agreements was 
checked and found to be appropriate. One agreement did not 
include the full required terms; and

o 16% of cases were evidenced as reviewed by the IRO outside 
of the 20 day requirement.

The Council should ensure that in all cases where section 20 
arrangements are required, that a section 20 agreement is signed and 
dated by relevant parties and retained on the Liquidlogic system. The 
Council should then ensure that target deadlines are met regards IRO 
review.

Recommendation 5
In all cases where section 20 arrangements are required, a section 20
agreement should be signed and dated by the parent/guardian and

Page 135



the relevant Council Team Manager, and retained on the Liquidlogic
system under the respective associated account.  The agreement
should provide detail of all regulatory factors and terms that should
be considered.

Management response
This recommendation will be addressed via oversight of individual 
managers of cases and via audit processes. The completion date was 
cited as the end of March 2018. However, the audit schedule will be 
ongoing and through both audit process and case supervision, 
compliance will be monitored.

Recommendation 6
To comply with legal requirements, all children entering the care 
system should be subject to a Statutory Review chaired by an IRO 
within 20 days of the accommodation start date, and this includes all 
those accommodated under a section 20 arrangement.

Management response
This is a legal requirement so all those looked after under a s20 
arrangement will be included within the timescales specified in 
statutory guidance  Compliance in GCC is good with performance in 
the 90s (%). However, active work is undertaken to constantly improve 
this performance and monitoring is undertaken accordingly. An Annual 
Report is provided to The Corporate Parenting Group which details 
performance and activity of the Reviewing Service. Timeliness of 
Statutory Reviews is included within the report.

 Finding
Performance monitoring and management (including key performance 
indicators) should be considered for section 20 arrangements and 
reported to an appropriate officer and Member level.

Recommendation 7
Performance monitoring and management, including KPIs specifically 
for section 20 arrangements should be developed and included within 
the quarterly performance scorecard reported to the Children and 
Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Management response
This recommendation was deemed to be not applicable. The response 
is as follows:

This recommendation would create an extra burden when the statutory 
role of the IRO already exists to robustly examine the care plan and to 
ensure that a permanency plan is in place by the time of the second 
review i.e. 4 months after the start of the care episode. S20 children 
are looked after children and will be responded to in the same way as 
other children in care rather than producing any separate reports – this 
information is tracked from within the IRO Service and reported via the 

Page 136



IRO annual report or in-year where concerns require escalation. 

The additional work being undertaken (and referenced earlier in 
response to recommendations 3 and 4) will create further management 
oversight and scrutiny regarding use of s20 and this will be sufficient to 
address drift, delay and inappropriate use of this type of arrangement. 

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire County Council

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY 

INTRODUCTION

All of us at one time or another have a concern about what is happening at work.  
Usually these are easily resolved.  However, when the concern feels serious 
because it is about a possible fraud, danger, corruption or malpractice or 
maladministration (the term used when the council has done something wrong which 
affects a member of the public) that might affect others or the Council itself, it can be 
difficult to know what to do.

You may be worried about raising such a concern and may think it best to keep it to 
yourself, perhaps feeling it’s none of your business or that it’s only a suspicion.  You 
may feel that raising the matter would be disloyal to colleagues, managers or to the 
Council.  You may decide to say something but find that you have spoken to the 
wrong person or raised the issue in the wrong way and are not sure what to do next.

Elected Members and senior managers of Gloucestershire County Council are 
committed to running the organisation in the best way possible and to do so we need 
your help.  We have updated this policy to reassure you that it is safe and acceptable 
to speak up and to enable you to raise any concern you may have about malpractice 
at an early stage and in the right way.  Any reported concern will be taken 
seriously.  Rather than wait for proof, we would prefer you to raise the matter when 
it is still a concern.  

This policy applies to all those who work for us and with us, including 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, whether full-time or part-time, employed 
through an agency or as a volunteer.  If you work in a school, each school will have 
its own whistleblowing policy and this can often be found within the ‘Code of Conduct 
and Confidential Reporting Procedure (Whistle-Blowing) for School Employees in 
Maintained Schools’.  However if you do not have access to this policy and cannot 
raise it with the school governors, you can contact the Head of Education (details on 
page 3).  

The Whistleblowing Policy is primarily for concerns where you witness something 
which affects other people – groups of colleagues, service users, members of the 
public or the organisation itself.
 
If, you wish to make a complaint about your own employment or how you 
personally have been treated, please use the grievance procedure or the Dignity 
and Respect at Work (Anti-Bullying) Policy - which you can get from Staffnet (links)  
in the Employee Handbook or your manager or the HR Adviser on Contact Us 
(01452 425888). 

Page 139

Agenda Item 11

https://staffnet.gloucestershire.gov.uk/employee-information-and-support/hr-and-employment-handbook/


If you have a concern about financial misconduct or fraud, you can contact Internal 
Audit.

If you have a concern about a health and safety issue that has not been resolved 
using the steps explained in this policy, you can contact the Safety, Health and 
Environment (SHE) Team. E-mail:she@gloucestershire.gov.uk telephone:01452 
425350.

If something is troubling you which you think we should know about or look into, if 
you are not sure which is the right route, or if you want to speak to someone in 
confidence, please read on.

If in doubt - raise it!

OUR ASSURANCES TO YOU

Your safety
Elected Members and senior managers of Gloucestershire County Council are 
committed to this policy.  Provided you are raising a genuine concern, it does not 
matter if you are mistaken.  Of course we do not extend this assurance to someone 
who maliciously raises a matter they know is untrue.  

If you raise a genuine concern under this policy, you will not be at risk of losing your 
job or suffering any form of reprisal as a result.  We will not tolerate the harassment 
or victimisation of anyone raising a genuine concern and we consider it a disciplinary 
matter to victimise anyone who has raised a genuine concern.

Your confidence
With these assurances, we hope you will raise your concern openly and at the first 
opportunity.  However, we recognise that there may be circumstances when you 
would prefer to speak to someone confidentially first.  If this is the case, please say 
so at the outset.  If you ask us not to disclose your identity, we will not do so without 
your consent unless required by law.  You should understand that there may be 
times when we are unable to resolve a concern without revealing your identity, for 
example where your personal evidence is essential.  In such cases, we will discuss 
with you whether and how the matter can best proceed.

Please remember that if you do not tell us who you are (and therefore you are raising 
a concern anonymously) it will be much more difficult for us to look into the matter.  
We will not be able to protect your position or to give you feedback.  Accordingly you 
should not assume we can provide the assurances we offer in the same way if you 
report a concern anonymously.

If you are unsure about raising a concern you can get confidential independent 
advice from Public Concern at Work (see contact details under Independent 
Advice).

HOW TO RAISE A CONCERN INTERNALLY

Page 140

mailto:%20she@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Please remember that you do not need to have firm evidence of wrong-doing before 
raising a concern.  However we do ask that you explain as fully as you can the 
information or circumstances that gave rise to your concern.

Step one
If you have a concern, we hope you will feel able to raise it first with your manager or 
team leader.  This may be done verbally or in writing.  

Step two
If you feel unable to raise the matter with your manager, for whatever reason, please 
raise the matter with:

 Your own Head of Service or Director
 Theresa Mortimer, Chief Internal Auditor or Janet Bruce, Principal Auditor
 Mandy Quayle, Head of HR and OD or Colin Parkin, Assistant Head of HR
 Gillian Parkinson, Head of Legal Services or Sarah Farooqi, Principal Lawyer
 For Schools: Tim Browne, Head of Education

These people have been given special responsibility and training in dealing with 
whistleblowing concerns.

If you want to raise the matter confidentially, please say so at the outset so that 
appropriate arrangements can be made.

Step three
If these channels have been followed and you still have concerns, or if you feel that 
the matter is so serious that you cannot discuss it with any of the above, please 
contact:

Jane Burns
Director of Strategy and Challenge and Monitoring Officer
Gloucestershire County Council
Shire Hall
Gloucester GL1 2TZ
Telephone 01452 328472
Email: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk

The Monitoring Officer will refer all concerns in relation to possible financial 
impropriety or irregularity to Theresa Mortimer, the Chief Internal Audit (CIA) and/or 
Jo Walker, Director of Strategic Finance.

You may wish to use our 24 hour “whistleblowing” answerphone service on 01452 
427052 which is managed by Internal Audit or the on-line form (link) which goes 
direct to the Director of Strategy and Challenge and Monitoring Officer.

Page 141

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/complaints-and-feedback/whistleblowing/


INDEPENDENT ADVICE 

If you are unsure whether to use this policy or you want confidential advice at any 
stage, you may contact the independent charity Public Concern at Work on 08000 
499 778 or by email at helpline@pcaw.org.uk.  Their legal advisers can talk you 
through your options and help you raise a concern about malpractice at work.  

If you are a member of a trade union, you can also contact them for advice (see 
page 9). 

CONCERNS ABOUT SAFEGUARDING ADULTS AND CHILDREN

The County Council is responsible for investigating concerns about safeguarding 
adults or children or child protection matters. These should be raised under separate 
procedures, details below:

If you think someone else is being abused, you must tell someone:

Call the Police

 Telephone 101
 In an emergency telephone 999

For adults, you can contact the Adult Help Desk

 Telephone 01452 426868
 You can also email: socialcare.enq@gloucestershire.gov.uk

For children, you can contact the Children's Helpdesk

 Telephone 01452 426565
 You can also email: childrenshelpdesk@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

If you are worried or concerned about anyone under 18 who you think is being 
abused or neglected or that a child and their family need help and support please 
call 01452 426565.

HOW WE WILL HANDLE THE MATTER 

We will acknowledge receipt of your concern within 10 working days. We will assess 
it and consider what action may be appropriate.  This may involve an informal 
review, an internal inquiry or a more formal investigation.  We will tell you who will be 
handling the matter, how you can contact them, and what further assistance we may 
need from you.  We will write to you summarising your concern and setting out how 
we propose to handle it and provide a timetable for feedback.  If we have 
misunderstood the concern or there is any information missing please let us know.

Page 142

mailto:helpline@pcaw.org.uk
mailto:socialcare.enq@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:childrenshelpdesk@gloucestershire.gov.uk


When you raise the concern it will be helpful to know how you think the matter might 
best be resolved.  If you have any personal interest in the matter, we do ask that you 
tell us at the outset.  If we think your concern falls more properly within our 
grievance, bullying and harassment or other relevant procedure, we will let you 
know.
 
Whenever possible, we will give you feedback on the outcome of any investigation.  
Please note, however, that we may not be able to tell you about the precise actions 
we take where this would infringe a duty of confidence we owe to another person. If 
you have raised a concern anonymously we will not be able to write to you.

While we cannot guarantee that we will respond to all matters in the way that you 
might wish, we will strive to handle the matter fairly and properly.  By using this 
policy you will help us to achieve this.

If at any stage you experience reprisal, harassment or victimisation for raising a 
genuine concern please contact the HR Advice Line via Contact Us on 01452 
425888.  Choose the HR option which is staffed by HR professionals. You may also 
wish to contact your trade union representative (if you are a trade union member).

There is also the Dignity at Work network which is a group of officers who are one of 
the first points of contact for any employee who believes they are experiencing 
unacceptable behaviour.  You can email them on dignity@gloucestershire.gov.uk or 
an up to date list of officers can be found on the Dignity at Work network page on 
Staffnet here. 

Alternatively you can contact any of the people named on page 3, Public Concern at 
Work for independent and confidential advice, or your trade union representative, 
(see page 9)

EXTERNAL CONTACTS 

While we hope this policy gives you the reassurance you need to raise your concern 
internally with us, we recognise that there may be circumstances where you can 
properly report a concern to an outside body.   In fact, we would rather you raised a 
matter with the appropriate regulator than not at all. The following organisations are 
possible contact points.

Public Concern at Work (or, if applicable, your trade union) will be able to advise 
you on such an option if you wish.   

Organisation Role Contact details
Action Fraud Report fraud and 

cyber crime.
Please refer to Internal Audit first.

Tel: 0300 123 2040
Website: http://www.actionfraud.police.uk/report_fraud 

Care Quality Contact them about CQC National Customer Service Centre 

Page 143

mailto:dignity@gloucestershire.gov.uk
https://staffnet.gloucestershire.gov.uk/internal-services/occupational-health/dignity-at-work-network/
http://www.actionfraud.police.uk/report_fraud


Commission matters relating to 
the provision of 
health and social 
care.

Citygate 
Gallowgate 
Newcastle upon Tyne 
NE1 4PA 

Tel: 03000 616161 
Website: www.cqc.org.uk

cqc - contact us - Report a Concern 

Charity 
Commission 

Contact them 
about: the proper 
administration of 
charities in England 
and Wales and of 
funds given or held 
for charitable 
purposes in 
England and 
Wales.

Tel: 0300 066 9197 

Email: whistleblowing@charitycommission.gsi.gov.uk 
 
Website: www.gov.uk/charity-commission 

Department for 
Work and 
Pensions

Central government 
department 
responsible for 
benefits and 
pensions

National Benefit Fraud Hotline

Telephone: 0800 854 440 (English) Telephone: 0800 678 
3722 (Welsh) Textphone: 0800 328 0512
Monday to Friday, 8am to 6pm
Find out about call charges

You can also report suspected benefit fraud online or by 
post.

National Benefit Fraud Hotline 
Mail Handling Site A 
Wolverhampton 
WV98 2BP 

Environment 
Agency

Contact them 
about: acts and 
omissions which 
have an actual or 
potential effect on 
the environment or 
the management or 
regulation of the 
environment. This 
includes those 
relating to pollution, 

National Customer Contact Centre 
PO Box 544 
Rotherham 
S60 1BY 

Tel: 03708 506 506 
Website: www.gov.uk/environment-agency 

Page 144

http://www.cqc.org.uk/
http://www.cqc.org.uk/contact-us/report-concern/report-concern-if-you-are-member-staff#tab-2
mailto:whistleblowing@charitycommission.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/charity-commission
https://www.gov.uk/call-charges
https://www.gov.uk/report-benefit-fraud
http://www.gov.uk/environment-agency


abstraction of 
water, flooding, the 
flow in rivers, inland 
fisheries and 
migratory salmon 
or trout.

Equality and 
Human Rights 
Commission

The Equality and 
Human Rights 
Commission 
(EHRC) monitors 
human rights, 
protecting equality 
across 9 grounds - 
age, disability, 
gender, race, 
religion and belief, 
pregnancy and 
maternity, marriage 
and civil 
partnership, sexual 
orientation and 
gender 
reassignment.

EHRC is an 
executive non-
departmental public 
body, sponsored by 
the Department for 
Education.

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/ 

Advice Line: 0808 800 0082

External Auditors 
(Grant Thornton)

Objections to the 
council’s accounts.

A guide to your rights can be found at 
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-
content/uploads/sites/29/2015/03/Council-accounts-a-
guide-to-your-rights.pdf 

Objections should be addressed to the auditor, Grant 
Thornton UK LLP, The Canterbury Business Centre, 18 
Ashchurch Road, Tewkesbury, GL20 8BT.

Health and Safety 
Executive

Contact them 
about:
•the industries and 
work activities for 
which the Health 
and Safety 
Executive is the 
enforcing authority 
under the Health 

Tel: 0300 003 1647 

Online form: www.hse.gov.uk/contact/raising-your-
concern.htm 

Or contact GCC’s Safety, Health and Environment (SHE) 
Team. E-mail:she@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Telephone:01452 425350.

Page 145

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2015/03/Council-accounts-a-guide-to-your-rights.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2015/03/Council-accounts-a-guide-to-your-rights.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2015/03/Council-accounts-a-guide-to-your-rights.pdf
http://www.hse.gov.uk/contact/raising-your-concern.htm
http://www.hse.gov.uk/contact/raising-your-concern.htm
mailto:%20she@gloucestershire.gov.uk


and Safety 
(Enforcing 
Authority) 
Regulations 1998
•the health and 
safety of individuals 
at work, or the 
health and safety of 
the public arising 
out of or in 
connection with the 
activities of persons 
at work

HM Revenue and 
Customs

Contact them 
about:
•the administration 
of UK taxes
•the administration 
of national 
insurance and tax 
credits systems
•customs and 
border-related 
functions
•criminal 
investigations

HMRC Fraud Hotline 
Cardiff 
CF14 5ZN 

Tel: 0800 788 887
Website: www.gov.uk/government/organisations/hm-
revenue-customs/contact/reporting-tax-evasion 

Information 
Commissioner’s 
Office

Contact them 
about: compliance 
with the 
requirement of 
legislation relating 
to data protection 
and to freedom of 
information.

The Information Commissioner’s Office 
Wycliffe House 
Water Lane  
Wilmslow 
SK9 5AF 

Tel: 0303 123 1113 
Email: casework@ico.org.uk  
Website: www.ico.org.uk 

Gloucestershire 
MPs

Gloucestershire MPs  

Ofsted Ofsted is the Office 
for Standards in 
Education, 
Children’s Services 
and Skills. We 
inspect and 
regulate services 
that care for 

Complaints about schools and childminders

Contact formhttps://www.gov.uk/com... 

Complaints about other providers Ofsted inspects 

Contact formhttps://contact.ofsted... 

Page 146

http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/hm-revenue-customs/contact/reporting-tax-evasion
http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/hm-revenue-customs/contact/reporting-tax-evasion
mailto:casework@ico.org.uk
http://www.ico.org.uk/
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgMemberIndexMP.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.gov.uk/complain-about-school
https://contact.ofsted.gov.uk/online-complaints


children and young 
people, and 
services providing 
education and skills 
for learners of all 
ages. 

General enquiries

Emailenquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 

Contact formhttps://contact.ofsted... 

General enquiries 0300 123 1231 

Our helpline is open from 8 am until 6 pm, Monday to 
Friday.

Contact Ofsted about concerns

EmailCIE@ofsted.gov.uk 

Contact Ofsted about concerns 0300 123 4666 
Police Gloucestershire 

Constabulary
Waterwells HQ

 Telephone 101
 In an emergency telephone 999

Serious Fraud 
Office

Contact them 
about: serious or 
complex fraud, 
including bribery 
and corruption, in 
England, Wales or 
Northern Ireland 
and civil recovery 
of the proceeds of 
unlawful conduct.

Please refer to Internal Audit first.

The Director of the Serious Fraud Office 
2-4 Cockspur Street 
London 
SW1Y 5BS 

Website: www.sfo.gov.uk/contact-us/reporting-serious-
fraud-bribery-corruption 

Trade Union Formal staff 
representation.

Gloucestershire County Council recognised list of Trade 
Unions:

https://staffnet.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/217487/trade-
unions-and-professional-associations-may-2017.pdf  

MONITORING / OVERSIGHT

The Monitoring Officer has overall responsibility for this policy and will review it 
annually with the Audit and Governance Committee. She will ensure that a record of 
concerns raised and the outcomes recorded is maintained in a form that does not 
breach confidentiality monitor the daily operation of the policy and if you have any 
comments or questions, please do not hesitate to let one of their team know.

Page 147

mailto:enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
https://contact.ofsted.gov.uk/contact-form
mailto:CIE@ofsted.gov.uk
http://www.sfo.gov.uk/contact-us/reporting-serious-fraud-bribery-corruption
http://www.sfo.gov.uk/contact-us/reporting-serious-fraud-bribery-corruption
https://staffnet.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/217487/trade-unions-and-professional-associations-may-2017.pdf
https://staffnet.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/217487/trade-unions-and-professional-associations-may-2017.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



26 January 2018

General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)
Members briefing – January 2018
GDPR is one part of a major change in data protection legislation that replaces the Data 
Protection Act 1998 on the 25th May 2018 (please see Appendix 1 for details on the accompanying 
Data Protection Bill). Under the current legislation we have been able to prove compliance and 
have not been fined. GDPR is an EU regulation, and updates data protection legislation to reflect 
the way organisations are now collecting and using personal data.  It has been confirmed by the 
government that the content of the GDPR will be reflected in domestic data legislation after Brexit.  
There are a number of changes that the council needs to consider when using personal data:

GDPR key changes
1. Data Protection Officer and Privacy by Design 

It is a requirement for the council to appoint/allocate a statutory role of Data Protection 
Officer (DPO).  There are certain conditions around the post and the DPO must have 
sufficient resources to be able to be involved in all issues in relation to personal data, such 
as projects, process and service design, ensuring data privacy is considered throughout.

2. Compliance and Accountability
The Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) will have the power to demand that the 
council proves compliance with GDPR at any time.  If we are unable to evidence 
compliance then the ICO may carry out a further investigation even though we may not 
have caused a breach to occur.

3. Contracts and liability 
The relationships between the council and our providers and partner organisations are now 
more complicated.  Existing contracts and sharing agreements need to be updated to 
reflect the changes within the legislation.

4. Security Incidents and Fines
There is now a requirement to report certain security breaches to the ICO within 72 hours of 
the council becoming aware of them.  In addition, we may need to inform the individuals 
affected by the breach. The fine for a breach increases from a max of £500k to £17million.

5. Rights of Individuals
There are new rights for individuals, including the right to request that the data the council 
holds about them is erased (more widely known as the ‘right to be forgotten’), corrected or 
restricted (i.e. locked from access). There is also a reduction in the time that the council has 
to respond to subject access requests from 40 days to 1 month.

As well as these key changes there are a number of technical revisions, such as stricter rules 
around consent, why and how we use personal data, and ensuring that the systems we hold that 
personal data on are compliant with the legislation.

Page 149

Agenda Item 12



26 January 2018

How we have responded to the key changes
1. Data Protection Officer and Privacy by Design

The council has allocated the role of DPO to the Information Management Service (IMS) 
Manager.  Jane Burns continues to be the Senior Information Risk Owner and Chief 
Information Officer.  We have reviewed the way we support the rest of the council. A 
proposal for additional resources to meet the new requirements is included in the council’s 
draft budget for 2018/19. 

2. Compliance and Accountability
We will be updating all data protection related policies in advance of the deadline.  We are 
also improving the systems and processes we manage to better allow us to understand the 
personal data the council holds, and audit the risks to that information.

3. Contracts and liability
We have developed guidance, based on ICO recommendations, for contract owners to 
implement to ensure new and current contracts are legally compliance with GDPR.

4. Security Incidents and Fines
We have reviewed our breach reporting procedures to ensure that the council is able to 
investigate security breaches and, if necessary, report them to the ICO within 72 hours.  

5. Rights of Individuals
We are raising awareness amongst staff of the new rights of individuals and the process for 
handling these requests.  We have reviewed our procedures and systems to ensure we can 
handle these rights requests within the reduced timescale.  

Next steps – what we aim to have done by the 25th May
1. Pilot a Privacy by Design process

Have in place a new privacy impact assessment which will allow senior staff to identify, 
assess and record what privacy risks exist to the personal data they’re responsible for.

2. Ensure Compliance
Have in place all tools, such as privacy notices, that allow the council to prove compliance.  
We will have worked to ICO guidance on how to best prove compliance.

3. Ensure all contracts and agreements are updated
Working with colleagues, we aim to ensure that all relevant contracts and agreements with 
providers are fully compliant with GDPR.

4. Test the new security breach process
Testing of the new security breach process will have taken place to ensure that incidents 
can be investigated and, if necessary, reported within the timescales required by GDPR. 

5. Raise awareness with staff
We will have hosted additional awareness sessions and distributed additional 
communications on the specific requirements of GDPR.  We intend to raise awareness with 
members in general following this session.  In addition we will have liaised with schools and 
providers about the new requirements.

Page 150



 
 
 

Data Protection Bill 
Factsheet – Overview  
 

 
What are we going to do? 
● Make our data protection laws fit for 

the digital age in which an ever 
increasing amount of data is being 
processed. 

 
● Empower people to take control of 

their data. 
 
● Support UK businesses and 

organisations through the change. 
 
● Ensure that the UK is prepared for 

the future after we have left the EU. 
 

Culture Secretary, Karen 
Bradley said:  

"The Data Protection Bill will give 
people more control over their 
data, support businesses in their 
use of data, and prepare Britain 
for Brexit. 

“In the digital world strong cyber 
security and data protection go 
hand in hand. This Bill is a key 
component of our work to secure 
personal information online.” 

How are we going to do it? 
● Replace  the Data Protection Act 1998 with a new law that provides a 

comprehensive and modern framework for data protection in the UK, 
with stronger sanctions for malpractice. 

 
● Set new standards for protecting general data, in accordance with 

the GDPR, give people more control over use of their data, and 
provide new rights to move or delete personal data. 

 
● Preserve existing tailored exemptions that have worked well in the 

Data Protection Act, carrying them over to the new law to ensure that 
UK businesses and organisations can continue to support world 
leading research, financial services, journalism and legal services. 

 
● Provide a bespoke framework tailored to the needs of our criminal 

justice agencies and national security organisations, including the 
intelligence agencies, to protect the rights of victims, witnesses and 
suspects while ensuring we can tackle the changing nature of the 
global threats the UK faces. 
 

Page 151



 
 
 

 
Background 
The Data Protection Bill was announced in the Queen’s Speech on 21 
June 2017. It will implement the government's manifesto commitments to 
update data protection laws. 
 
The Data Protection Act 1998 has served us well and placed the UK at 
the front of global data protection standards. With this Bill we are 
modernising the data protection laws in the UK to make them fit for 
purpose for our increasingly digital economy and society. 
 
As part of this the Bill we will apply the EU’s GDPR standards, preparing 
Britain for Brexit. By having strong data protection laws and appropriate 
safeguards, businesses will be able to operate across international 
borders. This ultimately underpins global trade and having unhindered 
data flows is essential to the UK in forging its own path as an ambitious 
trading partner. We will ensure that modern, innovative uses of data can 
continue while at the same time strengthening the control and protection 
individuals have over their data. 
 
The main elements of the Bill are:-  
 
General data processing 
 

● Implement the GDPR standards across all general data processing.  
● Provide clarity on the definitions used in the GDPR in the UK 

context. 
● Ensure that sensitive health, social care and education data can 

continue to be processed to ensure continued confidentiality in 
health and safeguarding situations can be maintained. 

● Provide appropriate restrictions to rights to access and delete data 
to allow certain processing currently undertaken to continue where 
there is a strong public policy justification, including for national 
security purposes. 

● Set the age from which parental consent is not needed to process 
data online at age 13. 

 
 
  

Page 152



 
 
 

Law enforcement processing 
 

● Provide a bespoke regime for the processing of personal data by 
the police, prosecutors and other criminal justice agencies for law 
enforcement purposes. 

● Allow the unhindered flow of data internationally whilst providing 
safeguards to protect personal data. 

 
National Security processing 
 

● Ensure that the laws governing the processing of personal data by 
the intelligence services remain up-to-date and in-line with 
modernised international standards, including appropriate 
safeguards with which the intelligence community can continue to 
tackle existing, new and emerging national security threats.  

 
Regulation and enforcement 
 

● Enact additional powers for the Information Commissioner who will 
continue to regulate and enforce data protection laws. 

● Allow the Commissioner to levy higher administrative fines on data 
controllers and processors for the most serious data breaches, up to 
£17m (€20m) or 4% of global turnover for the most serious 
breaches. 

● Empower the Commissioner to bring criminal proceedings against 
offences where a data controller or processor alters records with 
intent to prevent disclosure following a subject access request.  

 
Factsheets covering these measures will be published alongside the Bill 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/data-protection-bill-2017  
 
  

Page 153

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/data-protection-bill-2017


 
 
 

Key Questions and Answers 
 

❖ How does the Bill differ from GDPR? 
The Bill is a complete data protection system, so as well as 
governing general data covered by GDPR, it covers all other 
general data, law enforcement data and national security data. 
Furthermore, the Bill exercises a number of agreed modifications to 
the GDPR to make it work for the benefit of the UK in areas such as 
academic research, financial services and child protection. 

 
❖ What is the impact on business? 

Organisations which already operate at the standard set by the Data 
Protection Act 1998 should be well placed to reach the new 
standards. 
 
The Bill will mean that UK organisations are best placed to continue 
to exchange information with the EU and international community, 
which is fundamental to many businesses. 
 
The Information Commissioner is already working to help 
businesses to comply with the new law from May 2018 and will be 
taking a fair and reasonable approach to enforcement after that 
date. 
 

❖ Does the Bill require organisations to improve cyber security? 
Effective data protection relies on organisations adequately 
protecting their IT systems from malicious interference. In 
implementing the GDPR standards, the Bill will require 
organisations that handle personal data to evaluate the risks of 
processing such data and implement appropriate measures to 
mitigate those risks. For many organisations such measures will 
likely need to include effective cyber security controls. 

Page 154



Document is Restricted

Page 155

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	October 2017

	4 Grant Thornton Annual Audit Letter
	5 Grant Thornton Progress Report
	6 Treasury Management Update
	7 Annual Governance Statement Improvement Plan 2016/17 Update
	Improvement Plan -2016-17 Governance Issues FINAL for AGC

	8 Risk Management Policy Statement & Strategy 2018 - 2021
	Risk Management Policy and  Strategy 2018-21

	9 Internal Audit Activity Progress Report 2017/18
	Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity v2.0 FINAL
	Copy of Spreadsheet v1.1 (3)

	10 Limited Assurance Reports
	ECM - All Ages All Disabilities - AGC Update Jan 18
	Section 20 Limited Assurance template

	11 Whistleblowing Policy
	12 General Data Protection Regulations Presentation
	Appendix 1 - UK Government overview of DP Bill

	14 Exempt Limited Assurance Report

